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Overview

National Express at a glance

Group

Group revenue by market

Spain 25%

North Amenca 21%
UK Bus 12%

UK Coach 12%

UK Rail 30%

Group operating profit by market

Spain 36%

North Amenca 19%
UK Bus 13%

UK Coach 14%

UK Rail 18%

National Express

The Group operates in the UK, Span,
and North Amenca and dunng 2011
employed 40,000 people and operated
over 22,000 vehicles

Passengers made more than 650 million
journeys on our services dunng the year

Spain

Revenue

£551.1m

Operating profit

£90.1m

Revenue Operating profit
{£m) (£m)

+4.9%

b

A

Our Spanish business, ALSA, operates
long distance, regional and urban bus
and coach services across Span and
In Morocco

ALSA was acquired by National Express
In 2005, and our posihion N Span was
strengthened with the acquisition of
Continental Auto n 2007 Apart from its
bus and coach services, the business
also operates service areas and other
transport-related businesses, such as
fuel distribution

For more details go to page 12

North America

Revenue

£481.0m

Operating profit

£47.9m

Revenue Operating profit
{Em) (Em)

+4.6%
+29.8%

Durham School Services

Stock Transportation

QOur business in North Amencais
focused solely on student transportation
and operates n 30 US states and four
Canadian provinces

The business operates through medium-
term contracts awarded by local school
boards to provde safe and relable
transport for students, and s the second
largest private operator n North Amenca

For more detals go to page 16



UK Bus

Revenue

£263.5m

Operating profit

£32.7m

Operating profit
(€m)

+15.5%

National Express West Midlands
National Express Coventry
National Express Dundee
Midland Metro

Natonal Express 18 the market leader
in the UK's largest urban bus market
outside of London We also run bus
services in Coventry and Dundee We
operate more than 1,600 vehicles and
cover over 70 milion miles per year

We operate the Midland Metro light
rail service between Birmingham
and Wolverhampton

For more detals go to page 20

All profit and margin nurmbers unless otherwisa stated
refer to normalised results, which can be found on
the tace of the Group Income Staternent in the first
column The defintion of normakised profit is as follows

Statutory result excluding profit or foss on the sale
of busmess, exceptional profit or loss on sale of non-
current assets and charges for goodwill impawmert,

UK Coach

Revenue

£259.1m

Operating profit

£34.9m

Revenue Operating profit
(Em) (Em)
Q =
o~ 3
L e

National Express

Eurolines

The Kings Ferry

National Express i1s the largest operator
of scheduled coach services in the UK
The businass operates high frequency
services Inking around 1,000 destinations
across the country

We are the UK partner n the Eurolines
network which serves over 500
destinations across Eurcpe and

North Afnca

For mere detalls go to page 24

ntangible asset amortisation, exceptional tems and
tax rehef thereon, for continung operatons The Board
believes that the normalised result gves a batter
inchcation of the underiying performance of the Group

Qperating margin the ratio of normalised operating
profit to revenue for continuing businesses

UK Rail

Revenue

£688.3m

Operating profit

£43.4m

Operating profit
(Em)

+28.4%

c2c

National Express operates the industry-
lsading c2¢ franchise which serves London
and South Essex It 1s an important
commuter route serving 25 stations on

the Iine out of Fenchurch Street station,
London We ran Naticnal Express East
Angha until February 2012

For more details go to page 28
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Group

Revenue Operating margin

%
£2,238.0m 10.1%
Operating profit Earnings per share
£225.2m 27.0p
Profit before tax Dividend
£180.2m 9.5p
Revenue Operating profit Profit before tax
(Em) (Em)

+10.3%
3% ?

-4

Record statutory profit before tax and
amortisation of £180.2 million (2010: £97.3m)

Revenue growth of 5.3% to £2,238.0 million
{2010: £2,125.9m)

Operating profit increased by 10.3%
to £225.2 miillion (2010; £204.2m)

Revenue and profit growth in every division.
Record profits in our UK Coach business
of £34.9 million

Industry leading operating margins in Spain,
North America, UK Coach and Rail - North
America achieved 10% margin; Group margin
has almost doubled since 2009

Operating margin  Earnings per Dividend
(%) share (p}

N o

Q o

+58.3% °

Passenger journeys rose by 5.4 million
journeys to 656.6 million

Strong balance sheet with long-term funding
maturity. Gearing ratio further improved to
1.9x (2010: 2.1x)

Returmn on capital (before tax) increased
to 14.1% (2010: 13.2%)

Basic EPS increased 14.4% to 27.0 pence
(2010: 23.6p); 20.3 pence delivered from
non-rail eamings (2010: 17.9p)

Final dividend increased 8.3% to 6.5 pence

sy6IyBy dnosn




Overview

Dear shareholder,

2 Chairman’s letter

| am delighted to report that, in 2011, National Express
has delivered another successful year of business

turnaround and improvement.

| am delighted to report that in 2011
National Express has delvered another
successful year of business turnaround
and improvement We have now
completed the process of recreating a
high quality business, bulding on the
foundations that we put in place n 2010
and delivenng both improved profitability
and strong revenue growth National
Express 18 now the best performing private
provider of mass transportation iIn many
of the markets in which it operates

2071 has been a record year for Group
statutory profit before tax and amortisation
Back in 2009, when | joined as Chairman,
the Group was struggling for its business
survival However, we reduced our debt,
resolved the losses in our East Coast rall
franchise, maintained our independence
and, with strong shareholder support, put
in place an appropnate capital structure

Since his arrval In February 2010, Dean
Finch has created a new leadership team
which has turned the business around,
delivering effective operational control,
dnving out excess cost and helping to
refinance the Group's debt 2011 has
seen further margin improvement, organic
growth supported by acquistion, and the
identification of future growth opportunities
2012 1 iikely to present difficult economic
challenges but we have created a platform
from which to grow, both organically and
through acquisition, highlighted by our
decision to acquire Petermann Partners
Inc, which 1s due to complete dunng the
first half of the year

With our tumaround complete, we are
now implementing the next stage of our
strategy to continue to improve marginn
our existing businesses, to take advantage

of the growth opportunities N our current
markets, and to identify and develop
exciting new market potential It will be
delvered by a management tearn that
has proven credentials n every area of
our operations and we will strengthen the
team further to ensure that we have the
skils to deliver each aspect of our strategy
QOur vision for the Group 1s to put our
customers first, to a level that will dlearly
differentiate National Express n the mass
transport market

Dunng the first half of 2011, the Board
took steps to further enhance ts skills
and expenence, particularly recognising
the Group's future growth plans for North
America and Continental Europe | was
very pleased to welcome Chns Muntwyler,
Joaguin Ayuso and Lee Sander to the
Board, each with credentials in our target
markets Since ther appontment,

they have given valuable insight into
these growth areas, as well as helping

to manage the risks and opportunities

N our existing markets

In recognihon of the Group’s sound
financial footing and iImpreved eamings,
we restored the dvdend last year with

a final payment for 2010 of 6 pence

per share We set out a policy that the
Board considers both sustainable and
progressive In this prolonged penod of
aconomic unceramnty — we will am for our
dmdend to be at least two times covered
by non-ral earnings and fully funded by our
free cash flow, across the medum term
At the same time, we reiterated our debt
policy, to target a geanng ratio of between
two and two and a half tmes eamings
before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA}

John Devaney

We remamn committed to these core
policies, which provide shareholders with
a sutable balance of long-term growing
returns whilst retaining sufficient resource
n the Group to explore opportunities to
grow sharsholder value Following
payment of our ntenm 2011 dwvidend

of 3 pence per share n September, | am
pleased to announce a recommended final
ddend for 2011 of 6 5 pence per share,
an increase of 8 3%, taking the full year
payment to 9 5 pence per share This wil
be pad from the 20 3 pence of non-rail
earnings per share (EPS) delivered in 2011
and the £84 4 milllon of free cash flow we
generated In the year, both of which we
expect to grow in future years

During 2C11, our employess have
contnued to play a major part in the
implementation of our strategy, adoptng
our vision and values, with particular
focus on improvements to customer
service and In the promotion of a culture
of safety across the Group On behalf of
the Board, | would like to thank them for
the commitment and enthustasm that they
have shown, as we move into the next
phase of our development

John Devaney
Charrman
29 February 2012

For more information on Comporate
Govemance and our Board of Directors,
please go to nationalexpressgroup.
com/ar2011



Business review

Group Chief Executive

In just two years National Express has moved from
reporting losses to the record profits we have announced

for 2011 We camed more passengers than in 2010 and are

now the best performing operator in many of our markets

Overview of 2011
In 2011 we completed our Business
Recovery programme We delivered

* record statutory Group profit before
tax and amortisation of £180 2 million
(2010 £97 3m),

+ three-fold increase in statutory profit
before tax, up £89 2 millon year-on-year
to £129 4 milion,

» revenue and profit growth in
every division,

* record profits in our UK Ceach business,

* ndustry leading operating margns in
Spam, North Amenca, UK Coach and
Raill — North America achieved 10%
margin, Group margn has aimost
doubled since 2009, and

* end of year contract order book revenue
of £3 7 billon N exstng concessions
and tendered contracts

Strong increase tn profit

Group revenue mncreased by over 5%

to £2 2 billon, despite the backdrop of
difficult econormic condittons and austenty
measures Normalised operating profit
Increased by 10 3% to £225 2 milion
(2010 £204 2m) and we achieved a record
statutory Group profit before tax and
amortisation, delvenng no exceptional
charges in 2011 Statutory profit before tax
rose more than three-fold to £129 4 milion
(2010 £40 2m)

Secure financial platform

Qur basic eamings per share EPS)
increased 14 4% to 270 pence (2010

23 6p) and we have increased our full year
proposed dvidend to 9 5 pence (2010

6 Op), this 1s an 8 3% increase in the final
dividend We generated over £80 millon
in free cash flow in 2011, supporting

the rentroduction of the dwvidend and
investment in organic growth to dnve
future profitability We maintained a strong

financial platform, with over £500 mullion of
undrawn committed facilives and cash at
the end of 2011, a secure funding structure
of pnmarly non-bank debt matunng
between 2014 and 2020, and a debt
gearing rato below two tmes EBITDA

Successfully managing austenty
During 2011 we dealt effectively with

the challenges of economic austerty In
Span we saw Iittle mpact on our public
concessions We saw some extension

of recevable balances dunng the year
and have managed them closely In
North Amenca we met the challenge

of reduced state funding by delvering
more outsourced conversion contracts
to school board customers We are less
exposed to UK Government funding than
many of cur peers Our UK and Spanish
coach businesses benefited by delvenng
excellent value for money services to
cash-strapped customers Economic
austerty continues to dnve as many
opportunibes for public passenger
transport as it does challenges

Core strengths in place to drive
shareholder value

National Express 1s now well positioned

o capitalise on new value enhancing
opportunities The executive management
teamn 1s well established and the Group
has been restored to its postion as a
leading international operator of public
transportation

We are now focused on the following core
intiabves to dnve our progress

* delivering operational excellence,
with consistent service performance and
ongoeing cost efficiency iImprovements,

* secunng organic growth from our
existing portfolo of businesses, and

» developing new contract
opportunities n targeted businesses
and geographies

Dean Finch

Bulding on our operattonal success over
the last two years, with four of our divisions
delverng ndustry leading margins, there
are still many opportunities to further
reduce costs and improve efficiencies

QOur existing diversified portfolio of bus and
coach businesses has excellent growth
potential and we are well on the way to
replacing eamings from the East Anglia

ral franchise Organically we will grow
through new products, better marketing
and mproved service delivery At the same
trme we are investing In new business
opportunities — such as the acquistion

of the Petermann school bus business in
North Amenca The Group is also investing
"N commercial development teams to
target excitng US and Buropean markets

Delivering our strategy in 2011

Last February | set out the first phase

of our strategy, which was to complete
the rebulding of National Express and to
establish a foundation for profitable and
sustainable long-term growth In 2011,

| belleve we have achieved this — not only
have al five Group businesses reported

| believe our portfolio of
businesses and track
record of success mean
we are also well placed
to target emerging
growth opportunities.

annaax3 Janyo dnosn




Business review

4 Group Chief Executive continued

Carlos Chiesa,
panter and coachbulder
ALSA

Carlos Chiesa works as a painter
and coachbuilder in ALSA’s
central depot in Madnd. Both
Jobs can pose health hazards
Ever since he joined ALSA In 1991,
Carlos has been aware of the
importance of safety in his daily
routine, and has always made
sure that he uses the proper
safety equipment As aresult

he has never had an accident.

For more information on
our vision and values go to
nationalexpressgroup.com/ourway

increased profits, with four at industry
leading margins, but all have achieved
profitable revenue growth

Achieving margin improvement

Over the last two years we have delvered
significant improvement in every business
UK Bus and North America have both
nearly doubled profit since 2009 and have
Increased operating margins over the

two years — UK Bus achieved a margn

of 12 4% in 2011 and North Amenca
100% In 2011 UK Coach delivered

a record profit and a 13 5% margin UK
Rait margin rose from & 3% to 6 3% ~

a very strong performance in this high
revenus, low capital business Span's
margin has remaned stable, at an industry
leading 16 4%

This has been achieved through a clear
focus on operatonal performance

and delivenng an efficient cost base
With new management teams in North
America, UK Bus and UK Coach, as well
as new leadership n UK Rail, we have
delivered cost efficiency savings, remaoved
unprofitable mileage, secured global
procurement savings and ensured that
capacity has adapted to meet demand
In North Amernca alone, as promised,
we have delivered US$40 million of cost
savings over two years

Delivening organic growth

We have complemented margin
Improverment by INcreasing organic
growth Every division has grown revenue
in 2011, erther in line with or outperforrming
ndustry peers With overall Group
revenue up 5% year-on-year, UK Bus saw
passenger revenue up 3%, UK Coach
grew passenger revenue on the core
National Express network by 5%, Span
grew passenger revenue by 6% and
North Amenca revenue was 8% higher

Fares have been rebalanced ~ in UK

Bus, the average passenger yield has
been improved, yet our West Midlands
fares remain amongst the lowest for
comparable conurbations, offenng
exceltent value-for-money UK Coach
elminated heawly discounted promctional
fares in favour of everyday value pncing

In ts regulated business, ALSA adapted
fares and services to market conditions
Overall, we continue to deliver great value
to cur customers and are focused on
dnving greater volume growth with some
customers switching from other high cost
modes of transport, such as rall

We have seen passenger volume growth in
response to service iImprovements N both
the UK Bus and Coach operations More
effectve marketing strategies have targeted
student travel in bus, coach and rall,
together with commuter travel In coach

We are investing heawvily iIn new fleet, having
spent £132 millon across the Group In
2011 In UK Bus we will have mtroduced
over 250 new buses onto the network

over a 12-month period, along with 160
new vehicles introduced to our third-party
operated UK Coach fleet in 2011, and 300
new vehicles in Span In North Amerca
we added over 600 new school buses

in 2011 and cascaded over 900 existing
buses across the fleet, drving better
capital efficiency

Secunng targeted expansion

Durng 2011 we have begun to secure
targeted expansion, adding revenue
across the Group through contract wins
and bolt-on acqusitions  This leverages
the Group's strong market positions
and proven expertise IN winning new
contracts, to deliver sustanable revenue
and profit growth

The Group has an exsting ‘order bool’

of £3 7 billon n its contract businesses,
across North Arnencan school bus, Spain,
and UK Rail This represents over three
years of contracted and concession-based
revenues for the Group six years i Span,
two years in North America and cne year in
ral franchising Delivenng a 98% retention
rate n existing school bus contracts,
North Amenca also secured 1,000

new routes N 2011 The conversion of
contracts to outsourcing 18 an ncreasingly
important part of North Amenca’s growth,
reflecting lower capital requirements and
cpportunittes to talor a specific service
package to the new customer In 2011

we secured ten conversion contracts

and integrated the Voge! business in

New Jersey, a bolt-on acquisition that
consolidated our postion and efficiencies
in the local market

In Span, ALSA won the tender to operate
the Madnd City Tour service and added
afurther concession in Agadr Two

small acquisitions were made, creating

a foothold In a new terntory, Navarre, and
adding a further concession in the south
of Span Contracts and opportunties
such as these provide profitable revenue
growth to complement and enhance the
core transport operations at ALSA




Growth through larger scale acquisition is
also considered aganst specific critena —
n the same or similar modes of transport,
n overlapping geographies, where scale
gves mmediate synergies and only
where clear financial cntena will be met.
In September 2011 we announced the
acquistion of Peterrann, a school bus
business In the United States that met
these critena With a strong reputation
for customer service, a very expenenced
management team, annual revenue

of around US$150 million and annual
operating profit of US$13 5 million,
Petermann 1s a high quality business
Strong synergies will complement the
geographic coverage it adds to our
Durham bus operation, whilst adding

a contract in our targeted para-transit
market The acquisition Is expected to
complete dunng the first half of the year

Looking forward —

key investment areas

Qur vision, set out at the start of 2011, 1s

to eamn the ifetime loyalty of our customers
by consistently delivering frequent, high
performing public transport services
which offer excellent value Dunng the last
12 months, we have strengthened our core
values to deliver this vision {n addition

to improving the social, environmental

and economic conditions of the
communities in which we operate, these
values will deliver three differentiating
areas for National Express — safsty
leadership, customer service and people
development, particularly in commercial
develcpment expertise

Safety

More than anything else, we value the
safety of our customers and employees
Last year we launched our Drving Out
Harm programme across the Group, a
comprehensive five year plan to upgrade
our enfire safety management approach
We have adopted 12 global safety
standards, ncluding seting enhanced
requrements for vehicle safety, all senior
managers have completed formal safety
traning, and comprehensive dnver
safety management has retraned poorty
performing drivers and implemented
detensive drving techniques With
sigaificant improvement in our Marrakesh
operation, and UK Bus and Coach leading
the industry in low accident rates, we are
targeting a 70% reduction in lost tme
njunes and a 50% reduction in vehicle
accidents over five years

Customers

We place customers at the heart of

our business and our goal Is to be the
customer service leader in the mass
transport sector With a new Group
Customer Service Director in place, we
are investing in our front ine station staff,
our contact centres and our dnvers In
2012 we have launched ‘Master Drivers',
a programme embedding advanced
driving skills These factors will help
differentiate National Express in delivering
our customer expenence

People

Qur employees are core to enabling
National Express to consistently deliver
high performing services of which we
can be proud With a highly expenenced
Executive tearm established n 2010, this
year saw the ntroduction of global HR
standards, talent development and a new
performance management scheme with
clearer accountabiities, responsibilities and
pay for performance We are signficantly
strengthening employes engagement,
education and capability development,
and innovation We are investing to dnve
our commercial busness development
capabibty — n rall, where we have
assembled a small team of experienced
industry experts to secure new profitable
franchises, in North Amenca, where we
will drive new transit opportunities, and in
Continental Europe, in selected bus and
coach markets

Developing mass transport markets
We believe public transport has a positive
future Social, environmental and economic
trends will mean Its core strengths

will Increasingly become competiive
advantages We believe public transport

18 distinguished by four crucial Cs

* cost: at a tme when household
budgets are increasingly pressured,
the value offered by public transport
1S ncreasingly attractive,

convenience: In addition to its
traditional strengths, the ability to
work on the move — ncreasingly using
smartphone and smilar technology

— builds on the convenience public
transport offers,

¢ congestion* congestion will continue
to pose a challenge to policymakers
and the public for years to come,
strengthening the case for investment
N public transport, and

Our vision

To earn the lifetime
loyalty of our customers
by consistently
delivering frequent,

high performing public
transport services which
offer excellent value

Our values
Safety

More than anything else,

we value the safety of our
customers, employees and the
public generally.

Customers

We will place customers at
the heart of our business.
Nohody will try harder for our
customers than we do.

People

Enabling all our people to
reach their full potential and to
give their best as individuals
and in teams.

Community

We will advance the social,
environmental and economic
conditions in the communities
where we operate.

aalnoax3 Jeiy dnoun




Business review
6 Group Chief Executive continued

Renate Carnington, dnver
Durham School Services

When Renate Camington started
driving a school bus, Jimmy
Carter was challenging Gerald
Ford for the US presidency and
Apple was a start-up. That was
1976. At the time she was dnving
for the school board, in Lewisville
near Dallas, Texas When Durham
won the contract in 1988, she
came to us — and she’s stayed
ever since. That’s 35 years of
serving her community.

For more inforrmation on our portfolic go to
nationalexpressgroup com/aboutus

carbon- public ransport already has a
significant carbon advantage over private
and ar transport, with the adoption of
new technologes further reducing its
carbon footpnnt

Strength of the National

Express portfolio

National Express 1s now well positioned for
the future, as a distinctive mass transport
contractor Its combination of geographic
presence and passenger transportation
expertise will delver long-term, sustanable
growth in markets with good potential

QOur portfolio of perpetuity owned
busnesses — UK Bus and Coach —

and strong contract operations — North
Amenca, Span and UK Ral - provides

an excellent platform for future value
generation This platform reflects

* the strength of our core existing bus
and coach busnesses — a unigue,
geographically diversified group with
a balanced requirement for capital,

demonstrable resilience in business
performance despite the economic
challenges - significantly less
uncertainty n Spain proven by results
in both businesses, growth in North
America and plans in place to mitigate
UK austertty,

flexsbility to adjust to stretched public
and consumer budgets, whilst providing
a core public service,

rall opportunities, with Iimited downside
In existing profits and cash flows

compared with peers,
* a stable financial structure - substantal,

long-term, committed debt funding,
pnmanly sourced from non-bank markets,

substantial 'seli-help’ opportunities
to drive further margin improvement,
including in UK Bus and North Amenca,

market leading positions offering good
organic growth potential, and

» sigrificant market opportunities
- mandated Continental Eurcpe
deregulation, US develcpment into
transit and para-transit, leveragng
existing strong capabilities and
management expenence

Next steps in delivering the strategy
The next phase of the Group's strategy will
see implementation of the following steps

* delivering operational excetlence in our
existng businesses, to drive continued

margin progress,

* securing organic growth opportunities
in existing businesses, and

¢ developing new contract opportunities
In targeted markets

Delivening operational excellence

n our existing businesses

We will continue to focus on opportunities
to enhance margins and profitability in

the four core bus and coach dwisions
Leveraging our international portfolio

and scale, procurement savings, worth
over £12 rmillon year-on-year in 2011,

will continue to bring benefits In UK

Bus we are targeting to further increase
margin, through improved costs, depot
mprovernents and growth In North
American schoo! bus, already the industry
leader in margin, further improvements

will be delivered through improved
maintenance schemes and the use of
technology, GPS 1s atready delivering
better control of wage and fue! costs
Span and UK Coach are focused on
minmising the impact on 2012 margins of
concession renewal and subsidy reduction
respectively Each business will continue to
delver cost savings and productivity gains,
while keeping networks optimised

Secuning organic growth opportunities
Organic growth 1s a key target for each
business Austenty will continue to drive
value services such as bus and coach

In Neorth Amernca, the school bus business
presents significant opportunities to
mantan our recent rate of winring market
share, converting outsource tenders and
selective market consolidation The school
bus market of 530,000 vehicles remains
Iittle over one third outsourced and there
are 4,000 participants in the market,

few of whom have the resources to
compete nationally

ALSA will continue to explore domestic
market opportunittes in concession and
contract bids, together with selected
consclidation opportunties Morocco
remans an exciting market as other major
cities look to mademise ther urban bus
operations, following ALSA's success in
Marrakesh and Agadir UK Coach will
continue to exploit the growth potential




from modat shift away from higher rail
ticket pricing

We are also nvesting in technology that will
make It easter for cur customers to access
our services and so increase travel The
UK Coach business now has real-time
fleet locaton data which 1s being used to
improve customer information and vehicle
routing UK Bus is tnaling smart card
technology across its fleet to iImprove

gase of customer use

Developing new contract opportunities
mn targeted markets

The Group 18 bulding strong commercial
development teams to develop a small
number of target markets The Group has
dentfied selected markets in Europe and
Nerth Amenca representing £60 bifion of
annual addressable revenue The majonty
of those opportunities are i the contract
transport market, where the Group can
utiise and further develop its contract
bidding and concession management
capabilites We will focus on new markets
in North Amenca and deregulaling markets
in Continental Europe

« n North America we now have
access 1o profitable additional markets,
including transit and para-transit This 1s
a US$5 billion market, with low capital
requirements complementary to the
confract expertise we have In school
bus The senior citizen population in the
US 1s expected to double by 2040, with
disabled ndership also increasing With
the Petermann acquisiion, our plans
are well developed to target a greater
presence in this market,

in Continental Europe we are well
placed to mest the needs of a market
deregulating under EU rules As Europe’s
leading scheduled coach operator,

we will seek to leverage our proven

skills and capability, along with the
National Express, ALSA and Eurclines
brands We will also explore bus and

rail opportunities that meet our ngorous
investment cntena, and

* n Rail we retan our expertise and
knowlsdge alongside our industry-
leading c2c franchise, winner of
*‘Suburban and Metro Operator’ for the
last two years Franchises have attractive
characteristics, providing a stable cash
flow and strong capital return, as long
as the nsk 1s acceptable We have
assembled a team of experienced rail
professionals to lead our work We have

already secured four star accreditation
under the European Foundation

for Qualty Management (EFQM})
assessment for c2c We are seeking to
pre-gualfy in the current round of UK rail
franchise tenders, with around £6 billon
of revenue to be tendered over the next
four years

Outlook for 2012

We operate in markets that combine

to offer long-term growth, strong cash
generation and scope to generate good
retums for shareholders through dividends,
caprtal return and renvestment for growth
Our core business of mternational bus

and coach senvices I1s robust, sustanable
and defensible

A discounted travel scheme alongside the
introduction of new services n UK Coach,
nvestment to stmulate passenger growth
in UK Bus, and the integration of targeted
acouistion opportunities are all expected
to dnve profitabilty This wall help to mitgate
the reduction N concessIon INCOMe IN

UK Coach and a lower ral profit, following
the handover of the East Anglia franchise
ALSA has an excellent track recerd of
contract retention and 15 well poshioned

to renew upcoming Intercity concessions
over the next 18 months, and to develop
new opportunities in both Spam and
Morocco In North Amenca we expect
economic constrants to continue to lead
school boards towards outsourcing, whilst
the integration of the Petermann acquisiion
will dnve profit growth and synergies
Finally, future participation in UK Rail

may offer addtional upside opportunity
for the Group

Following a strong end to 2011, we expect
passenger revenue to continue to grow

in each of our bus and coach dwvisions

In 2012, as austenty measures, fuel and
fare increases make passenger travel by
other modes relatively more expensive,
National Exprass provides attractive, value
for money altematives We believe that
our portfolio of businesses will provice
sustanable eamings growth, continued
cash generation and exciting opportunities
for growth in selected markets in the
medium term

Dean Finch
Group Chief Executive
29 February 2012

Sue Gibbs, station announcer
c2c

Fenchurch Street station links

south Essex to the City of London.

Around 30,000 customers use 1t
every day “But over the years you
get to know them and they know
you,” says station announcer Sue
Gibbs. Sue, who was recently
awarded an MBE for her work, is
known as the ‘voice of Fenchurch
Street’ and is proud of the fact
that “we have no recorded
announcements here”
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Strategy
8 Generating shareholder value

National Express has achieved its strategic objectives of deliverng margin
and organic revenue growth and established a platform for profitable and
sustainable long-term growth

|
Margin improvement

Over the last two years we have substantially improved
our underperforming businesses and maintaned our
best-in-class margins in other divisions.

|
Organic growth

We are drnving our businesses to grow organically
Every division has grown revenue in 2011.

Delivering operational
excellence in our existing
H businesses, to drive

Opportunities ahead continued margin progress:

¢ UK Bus — further margin improvement

¢ North Amenca school bus - further
margin iImprovernent

¢ Spain — minmise impact of
concession renewal

¢ UK Coach — minimise impact
of subsidy removal

Our goal is to deliver growth based on
our core competence of consistently
delivering frequent, high performing
mass public transport services which
offer excellent value




Key focus divisions Best-in-class
divisions
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Underlying revenue growth %

Spain
Underlying revenue growth %

Undertying revenue growth %
UK Rail

Underlying revenue growth %
UK Coach

Underlying revenue growth %
UK Bus

North Amenca

Securing organic growth Developing new contract

opportunities in existing opportunities in targeted

businesses: markets:

¢ North Amenca — winning market share and * North Amenca — accessing the US$5 billion
converting outsource tenders transit and paratransit markets

» Span — domestic concession and contract * Continental Europe — deregulating
wINg, new cities and expanding services European markets with coach and rail
In Morocco opportunties

¢ UK Coach - modal shift away from » Ral - UK rail refranchising market worth
INncreasingly expensive rall tickets £6 billon of annual revenues In next

» UK Bus — investment in smartcard technology four years

to iImprove customer ease of use




Business model
10 A strategic roadmap

Our portfolio of businesses provides an excellent platform for future value generation

Mode

Operating model

Market regulation

Market share

Return on capital

Current opportunities

Business model

Risks to manage in 2012

Spain

Urban bus, intercity coach
Concession, long-term

Lightly regulated

20%

of the nteraity, regional and outscurced
urban contract market

Strong

Continued growth in both
businesses

ALSA s the lamgest private operator of buses
and coaches In Spain where public transport
15 seen as an essental publc service tts
markets are regulated and supported by
long-term concession agreements provided
In exchange for public service oblgations
Concessions are operated exclusvely, with
compethion at point of tender Concessions
typically run for 1010 15 years ALSAs
portfolo provides a balance between

* Jong distance coach operations, which
receve no subsidy and take revenue nsk
in retumn for flexibility over the number
of services operated and a regulated
maximum fare,

* regional coach operations which may
be subsidised by the autonomous
governments, and

s urban bus operations operated under
programme contracts with city councils
and transport consorta

Day-to-day competition 1s pnmarly
nterrmodal, e rad, low cost ardines
and the car

Concession re-bidding

North America

School bus
Contract, medium-term

Largely unreguiated

10%

of the outsourced school bus market

Acceptable, mproving

Revenue, margin and return
on capital growth

The Group's operations are carned out by
our subsidianies, Durham Schocl Services
(US) and Stock Transportation (Canada)
We are the second largest private operator
The outsourced (private operator) market
1S only around one third of the total, with
the remainder being insourced, that 15,
owned and run by the school boards
themsetves Contracts typically run for

five years and contract retention 1s high
Once secured, contracts have very low
revenue nisk over the contract Ife Scale is
beneficial - economies can be achieved
through procurement, centralisation of
admiristration and business development
Access to capital Is key, most new
contracts require investment N new buses
and asset utisation is low, due to the part
time usage of these specialised vehicles

School board funding




UK Bus

Urban bus
Perpeturty, owned business

Unregulated

80%

of the West Midlands bus market

Strong

Passenger volume and further
margin growth

National Express West Mdlands is the
market leader In the largest single urban
network in the UK deregulated market The
deregulated modet allows for total flexibility
in both fares and service The business
has a high regional market share, with
strong competition from mulbple operators
on specific routes Modal competttion

is principally from private cars Revenue
and profitability are dnven by the scale

of operations delvenng frequent, reliable
and affordable services across a broad
network, utilsing a high quality fleet

UK Government funding (BSOG)

UK Coach

Intercity coach
Perpeturty, owned business

Unregulated

60%

of the UK scheduled coach market

Strong (caprtal light)

Organic revenue growth

‘National Express’ 1s the national coach
network operator n the UK, offering
great value and accessible travel to all It
operates the only scheduled national UK
coach network and the largest in Europe,
running 500 coaches a day serving over
1,000 domestic destinations Bult ona

flexible, outsourced business model, where

third party providers supply 80% of the
coaches and responstility for sales es
with the company With 70% unprompted
brand recognitton, the business benefits
from its ntegrated network and scale,
offenng breadth and nterconnectmty,
where competitors offer only pont-to-point
services with imited infrastructure

UK Government funding (CSOG)

For more information on our
performance, please go to
nationalexpressgroup.com/investors

UK Rall

Commuter rail
Franchise, long-term

Highly regulated

10%

of the UK rall franchise market

Strong (capital hght)

Manage franchises.
Participate in franchise bids

National Express has a strong operational
skilis base in UK rail, one of the only
privatised systems in Europe The UK ral
industry compnses franchises awarded
on an exclusive operation basis to private
operators Pnces are predominantly
regulated and costs are substantally fixed
around track access, roling stock and
franchise payments The Group ran two
franchises in 2011, operating as National
Express East Anglia and c2c¢, running until
February 2012 and May 2013 respectively

Franchise terms and bidding
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Business review
12 Spain

Revenue

2O Im
£90.1m

Jawvier Carbajo
CEO ALSA

My key objective over the next two yearsis

to renew the intercity concessions due for
retendenng. Given market trends, in our existing
intercity and urban businesses we can deliver
robust growth, whilst developing exciting growth
opportunities in Morocco and new terntones.

Divisional KPIs
We measure cur progress against our strategy and goals
using the following KPls

Financial KPis Non-financial KPis**
Revenue growth*  Margin Passengers Mileage Revenue per km
{%} (%) numbers {m) €

(m)

+9.8%
+3.4%
+2.0%

* Local currency
Regular passenger services




Revenue for ALSA, Spain was £551.1 milion

(2010: £525.6m) and normalised operating profit was
£90.1 million 2010 £86.2m). In local currency, revenue
was €635.4 milion (2010- €612 7m) and normalised
operating profit was €103.9 milion 2010: €100.5m).

2011 was another successful year for
ALSA, delivenng both revenue and profit
growth The excelient value offered by our
urban bus and intercity coach services
continues to meet the growing needs

of customers, providing a high quality
transport service with fares that suit the
domestic economic conditons Long-
term concessions, ALSA's market-leading
posiion and a flexible cost base provide
both a resilient platform and opportunites
for expansion Reflecting our confidence
in the future, we continue to INvest N

fleet renewal and growth in both Spain
and Morocco

Qverall revenue growth for the dvision in
logal currency was 3 7%, (4 9% in Sterling
tenms), delivenng €635 4 milhon (2010
€612 7m) in total revenue 3 5% more

Market overview

Market size

€3.5bn

regulated bus and intercity
coach market

Concessions

185

ALSA has 162 intercity coach
concessions, 22 urban bus contracts
and one other concession

kilometres were operated than in 2010 as

ALSA increased supply to meet passenger

demand Growth remaned consistent
throughout the year, supported by the
new Agadir contract n Morocco

Operating profit Increased by 3 4% to
€103 9 milion (2010 €100 5m) Operating
margn was mantained at 18 4% Growth
and efficiency in the transport business,
including a strong performance in

Morocco, event services and intemational,
offset reduced profitability in the penpheral

non-transport businesses (prmarly the
fuel distnbution and motorway service
busnesses, which represent only 8%
of ALSA's total revenue)

Market composition
ALSA has the leading position in a hughly
fragmented market

Market trends

Modest passenger growth in coach,
reversing recent trends in public
transport Resiient urban bus demand

Market features

Regulated and highly segmented
market, with three levels of government
regulaton central (long distance coach),
regional regronal coach) and city {urban
bus) Each concession 1S exclusve to
the operator, based on compliance with
the publc service obligation Fexibility
required to meet changing demand

Customers
Urban all ages, work and study, muttiple
tnps per week

Intercity mostly young people, few trnps
per vear, for leisure, visiting family; on
regional services also work and study

Competition

Intercity competiton from state-backed
ral {now operating under reduced
subsidy) and low cost arines Bus and
coach concessions are awarded through
competitive public tender, typically every
ten years

Labour
Tradiorially less flexable labour market
reflecting domestic practice
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Business review
Spain continued

Cash management continued to be
strong A planned increase in working
capital reflected repayment of deferred
social secunty In addition, in hight of public
funding 1ssues, ALSA has also managed
outstanding receivables balances carefully
to ensure timely collection A key part of
our business 1s the provision of contracts
with vanous public bodies, pnmanly urban
bus operations where we do not take
demand risk in the operation of routes

At the end of 2011, ALSA's recevable
batance from public bodies was €575
millen (2010 €44 6m) This Increase
primarly refated to a single customer, with
which a new legally enforceable payment
plan was agreed n December 2011 In
addmon, the national goverming party has
confirmed that all public debts will be paid,
with the state now providing credit funding
to public bodies

Delivering organic growth

The ALSA business provides a stable
platform of long-term contracts and
concessions, together with opportunites
for growth within both Spain and
Morocco Both ntercity coach and urban
bus operations delivered revenue and
passenger growth in 2011 Revenue
growth of 6% n intercity services
reflected gans in both scheduled and
tourist services, drniven by an increase n
passenger numbers of 1% and increased
regulated prices A strong summer period,
reflecting increased domestic vacationing,
was followed by continued robust growth
through the remainder of the year Growth
was strong across all gecgraphic areas,
with particularly strong trends on Madnd
routes and in Northern Spain

The intercity coach business is becoming
the preferred option for passengers in the
current economic climate, where public
subsidies to state-owned rail operators
have decreased and where arine actty
on competing routes has reduced
Consequently, ALSA has continued its
nvestrment N new coaches ahead of
concession renewal later in 2012 and 2013,
with an average coach fleet age of three
years cn the core network The business
13 also adding more high quality "Supra’
services, with better yields, and 1 nvesting
n web-based and mobile technology to
attract new customers to the network

The urban bus business grew strongly In
2011, driven by expansion in Morocco,
with a full year benefit from the Agadir
contract, which started in September
2010 Moroccan annual revenue now
exceeds €25 millon and further growth

Is planned Urban kilometres operated in
Span remained steady n 2011 Bus travel
remains fundamental to mobility in Spanish
cities and ALSA 1s well positioned in its
concassional contracts

For more information on our Spanish
busness, please go to alsa.es

Ivan Gozalo, dnver
ALSA

Since 2007, Ivan Gozalo has
worked as a bus driver in the
Madrid suburb of Torrején

de Ardoz. He is good with
passengers and he knows that
the addrtion of new hybnd buses
to the fleet will improve Torrejon’s
environment. He thinks this is
good for the community, good for
the crty and it’s good for lvan too,
because that is where he lives.



Adela Lupascu, stewardess
ALSA

No two customers are the same,
especially on the Madrid City Tour
bus where Adela Lupascu s a

stewardess. “Every day | get to meet

people from all over the world who
are visiting Spain.” They all have
different needs, Adela says, but
making sure they are comfortable
- and satisfied - is what her job 1s
about. “And that 1s what | enjoy.”

ALSA continues to adjust costs and
improve operational efficiencies to offset
nfiaton The coach operation is highly
flexible and increases in dermand were
met in 2011 by increasing contracting

with partner operators, alowng resources
to be optimised

Secunng targeted expansion

New confracts and boft on acquisitions
also contnbuted towards divisional growth
In September, ALSA started operating the
Madnd City Tour sightseeing bus contract,
replacing the Madnd Barajas arrport
contract Other boft-on additions ncluded
an extension of the Agadir concession,

an investiment that allows the business

to reinforce its position in Navarre and

the Basque country, and an addibonal
concession In Southemn Spain

Qutlook for the future

Future prospects for the ALSA coach and
bus operattons remain robust as the value
and guality in the nature of the services

we provide are well positioned for tmes of
economic uncertanty We are focused on
revenue growth, contract retention and new
opportunities, Ncluding in Morecco

We are targeting growth in the intercity
busness, on exsting routes and through
new tounist services Coach performance
1s expected to benefit from increased
occupancy at current fares, ansing from
reduced capacity in low cost arlines on
overlapping routes and ongoing reduction
of public funding In ral We will continue
to work closely with our urban customers
to adapt to changing bus needs whilst
retaning the economic value of our
contracts ALSA has the proven capability
to manage change and new cpportunies

ALSA 1s focused on securing its concession
renewals With a forward revenue order
book of €31 billon, dunng 2012 currently
operated intercity cCOncessions representing
9% of annual revenue are due for tender,
alongside other operators’ concessions
The framework for national tenders was
agreed by the Ministry of Transport n 2011,
favounng operators who have delvered an
excellent performance and compliance with
concession conditions

Addtional opportunities for growth, utiising
ALSA's expertise, scale and reputation,
wil be developed Morocco will remain

a focus, with potential for addibonal crty
contracts, and ALSA will seek to contnue
to buld on recent success in tounst

and new intercity services In February
2012, ALSA and Ibena launched an
integrated ‘Bus & Fly’ programme 1o
create Intermodal transport from five cities
connecting through Madnd, a first for the
international travel ndustry Leveraging the
Group’s intemational expenence, ALSA
will also support the UK in expanding
coach operatons as markets open across
Continental Europe, ncluding bulding on
the existing successful Eurolines operation
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Business review
16 North America

Revenue

£481.0m

Normalised operating profit

£47.9m

Dawvid Duke
CEQ National Express Corporation

The North American school bus contract market
represents an attractive opportunity. Further margin
improvement remains a continued focus, but the
exciting challenge is delivering value-enhancing
growth. [ base our approach on the ABC of the industry
- Acquisttions, Bidding and Conversion - whilst
ensuring that we remain proactive and responsive

to our customers and employees.

Divisional KPIs
We measure our progress against our strategy and goals
by usng the following KPIs

Financial KPis Non-financial KPls
Revenue growth* Margin Returmn on net Routes operated Retention rate Spares ratio
(%) (%) tangible assets (%) (%)

(%)

+6.4%

* Local currency




Revenue for North America was £481.0 million

(2010. £459.8m) and normalised operating profit was
£47.9 milion (2010. £36.9m) In local currency, revenue
was US$772.2 milion (2010 US$712 1m) and normalised
operating profit was US$76.9 million (2010: US$57.1m).

In 2011, the North Amencan operabons
delvered strong revenue growth and
achieved a 10% operating margn The
Business Recovery programme was
completed, with annualsed savings of
US$40 million delivered over the last two
years The dwvision is now the industry
leader in delvenng profitabiity and growth
n school bus, and 1s well placed to securs
further revenue and margn growth It

s established as a platform for further
conselidation in the school bus market —
with its lower nsk, highly contracted
nature - and expansion into adjacent
caprtal-ight markets

Revenue In local currency grew by 8%

to US$772 2 millon (2010 US$7121my)
This was dnven by annualisation of bid
wins in the successful 2010/11 season,
supplemented by further success In the
2011/12 season, mproved charter income
and the bolt-on acquisition of Voge! In New

Market overview

ﬁ§§24bn

Total school bus market in North

Amenca, represented by 531,000 routes

32% 15 outsourced, 68% in-house

Jersey, which was acquired at the end
of 2010 The North American business
secured both new conversion contracts,
from school board customers cutsourcing
for the first tme, and share shift wins

of contracts in the already-outsourced
market, which added over 700 buses
for the 2010/11 school year Growth from
new conversion contracts won in 2011
was approximately twice that of our
biggest competitor

Operating profit ncreased signficantly, by
35%, to US$76 9 milion (2010 USE57 1m}
Operating margin has improved to 10 0%,
an ncreass from 8 0% n 2010 and 57% in
2009 This rapid turnaround was executed
by a new management team through
growth, cost reduction and investment

in customer-facing personnel to ensure
that local delivery and relationships have
been enhanced This margn makes the
operation best-in-class in the industry

Market share
10% of outsourced school bus market

National Express operates 15,292
regular routes

Market composrhon
Top five players operate approxmately
90,000 routes

40 companies operate 200+ buses,
rest of outsourced market spiit between
4,000 operators

Market trends

Growth is tradiionally inflabion and
population driven The recent increase In
outsourced conversion Is due to public
funding pressures

Market features
Local relahonship and service delivery
important

Customers
Local school boards, funded largely
by local property taxaton

Transport 1s a significant part of local
education spending

Competition

Bigger players have access to capital,
geographical reach and some scale
advantages

Potential for some market consolidation

Labour
Tradtionally part-time workforce

30% of Natonal Express staff unionised
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North America continued

Achieving margin improvement

The margin improverment has resulted from
decisive action to reduce overhead and
back office costs In 2011, an annuahsed
saving of US$15 million was delivered,
completing the target of US$40 mullion over
two years Key savings m 2011 included
streamiining of administration through
greater efficiency in use of our Oracle
systems investment, reduced mantenance
costs through better planning and warranty
work, and faciity/procurement savings
Operator wage costs were mantained

in line with the prior year improvement
Towards the end of the year, the nihal
benefits of equipping every bus in the

fleet with GP'S began to be realised,

lower fuel consumption, optimised route
scheduling and improved mvoicing benefits
are all targeted This will help drive further
Improvements in margin

Alongside the improved operating margin,
we glsc made significant progress in
improving the division’s operating profit
retun on net tangible assets to 16 0%
(2010 131%) n what 1s a traditionally
capital Intensive business This
improvement was achieved by working
with customers to cascade exsting buses
both to new contracts and to replace
end-of-life vehicles, whilst evaluating
possible fieet Ife extension Dunng 2011,
over 900 buses were cascaded within
the fleet. Additionally, the spare bus

ratio contnued to Improve, 10 12 2%
{2010 18 4%) Overall, this programme

1s estmated to have reduced capital
nvestment in 2011 by US$E6 millon

Delivenng organic growth
Excellent revenue growth n 2011 was
achieved through our ‘ABC’ plan

* acquisttion included a 200 bus ‘bolt-
on' in New Jersey, leveraging existing
depot scale and synergy (completed
31 December 2010),

* bids secured over 400 new routes
from competitors through better service
and pricing, and

* conversions saw over 600 new routes
outsourced to us by 10 school boards
for the first ime New conversion
opportunities are a key target for us as
we grow our s¢hodl bus business

Cur expanded business development
team has developed a compelling case
based upon a supenor service offenng
and successful meobiisation model which
offers customers significant cost savings,
often ncluding the removal of the need
for upfront capital nvestment

Overall we added over 600 new buses

to our routes for the 2011/12 school year,
whilst protecting margins and achieving
an industry-leading 98% retention rate on
aexisting contracts In addon, our inhiatve
to drive higher margin charter revenues
was successful, delivering a 30% increase
in this revenue N 2011, with scope for
further increases in the future

Mark Perry, driver
Durham School Services

Staff at Durham School Services
in Dallas have lost the equivalent
of an entire person since they
started a fitness challenge last
September One driver alone,
Mark Perry, has shed 45ibs
(20kg) and aims to run the New
York Marathon. The 30 people
who have been taking part in
the challenge have lost a total

of 149ibs - or 67kg/10.5 stones -
between them




Secunng targeted expansion

The North Amenca mass transport market
offers considerable scope for expansion

In September 2011 we announced the
acquisition of Petermann Partners Inc ,

for US$200 million, consolidating our
number two position In the school bus
market In its fiscal year ending 30 June
2011, Petermann generated revenue of
US$149 9 mithion, EBITDA of US$29 3
milion and operating profit of US$13 5
miion We are in advanced discussions
with regulators regarding compettion
approval and we expect to be in a postion
to close this transaction in the first half

of 2012 Petermann has an excellent
portfolio of customers and an experenced
management team, adding new
geographic reach to Natonal Express

to delwver further growth from a quality
eamings base The acquisition 1s expected
to be eamings enhancing in its first full year,
with annual synergies of US$7 million by
the second year

The Petermann acquistion provides
entry into the para-transit and transit
markets n North America through an
existing contract presence This market
provides free and subsidised transport 1o
senior citizens and disabled people and
IS estimated to be worth US$5 billion per
annum Rapid growth in these eligible

populations, coupled with low capital
investment requirerments and extensive
previous expenence of the market by our
management, makes this an attractive
oppoertunity to leverage our existing
capabilities n North America

Outtlook for the future

With a forward revenue order book of
US$1 3 bilton and improved capital
disciplnes ewident in the school bus
market, we will continue selectively to
target market share addtion and a strong
pipeline of conversion opportunities,
whilst achreving high contract retention
We expect funding pressures on school
boards o continue to dnve the conversion
market, reflected in the growing number
of conversion contracts we have won in
the last three years one in 2009, three I
2010 and tenin 2011 The business will
focus on improving contract managerment
and operatonal efficiency, dnving further
improvements In margin and capital return
We also expect to expand our presence
in the para-transit market over the coming
years, bulding a second leg to our
successful North American operation

Kathy Hagerman, dniver
Durham School Services

Kathy appreciates the benefits of
the Zonar system. The pre-trip and
tracking information it provides
not only helps reduce costs to

the customer, but also helps our
supervisors to know where our
buses are and how fast they are
going. This means they can tell
parents when their bus is due If

a bus breaks down in service, our
technician can log into it and check
the diagnostics on the bus before
gong to the scene. The system
also identifies trends in defects,
improving our rehiability.

Growth from new
conversion contracts
won in 2011 was
approximately twice
that of our biggest
competitor.

For more information on our North
Amencan business, please go to
nationalexpresscorp.com
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20 UK Bus

Revenue

£263.5

Normalised operating profit

£32.7m

Peter Coates
Managing Director, UK Bus:

Our turnaround has been achieved, with improved

financial progress and a strong safety culture, There w
1s still work to be done; | want to grow revenue and

maximise network efficiency, whilst modemising

aspects of our service and cost base. We are attracting

customers by investing in new vehicles, improving

marketing, using technology and raising customer

service levels.

Dwisional KPIs
We measure our progress aganst our strategy and goals
using the following KPls

Financial KPls Non-financial KPls
Revenue growth  Margin Passenger yield Passenger Mileage
(%) (%) (£) numbers (m)

{m)

+11.0%
-7.0%
-2.4%



Revenue for UK Bus was £263.5 millon (2010' £2578m)
and normalised operating profit was £32.7 milion

(010. £28 3m)

UK Bus delivered its second successful
year of margin recovery, moving ahead

of ndustry average margin performance
Revenue growth was robust, with a refurn
to passenger growth In the final weeks

of 2011 With its focus on operational
control, mproved marketing, new services
and investment for customers, UK Bus
delivered a 15% increase in profit yaar-on-
year and 1s well placed to continue

to grow retums as an efficient, effective
bus operator

Total revenue for the UK Bus business
grew by 2 2% to £263 § milion from £257 8
milion in 2010 Like-for-lke passenger
revenue at constant mileage grew 6%,
driven by a strong increase In passenger
revenue of 4 3%, above the industry
average This was achieved despite the
West Midlands economy remaning weak
Concession ncome for senior citizen travel
was slightly lower year-on-year, as austenty
measures Impacted public funding

Market overview

Market size

£4.8bn

{UK excluding London)
97% 1 privatised

Improvement

Commercial revenue 4%
Mileage reduction 2%
Like-for-like revenue 6%

Operating profit increased to £327

millon (2010 £28 3m) Operating margin
increased by 140 basis ponts to 12 4% for
the division, with the core West Midlands
bus operations achieving over 13%
cperating margn Our Dundee operation
also increased its margin and there was

further good progress at the Midland Metro

tram service, which was profitable in the
year, having broken even for the first tme
n 2010

Market share
1,650 buses operated n the flest

Focused on the West Midlands and
Dundee markets

Market composition
Largest five operators represent around
70% of the UK market

Remander made up of a large number
of pnvate operators

Market trends
Short-term economic pressures from
austerity and local unemployment

Longer term economic regeneration and
environmentally-driven public transport
growth opportunities over the car

Market features
Primarly deregulated market, vehicle/
regulatory oversight

Low bamers to entry — flexbility and
scale of operations 1s key

Customers

Over 80% of West Midlands network

1Is commercial, remander mostly public
service tenders

Around 75% of revenue from
passengers, balance concessionary

Competition
Actve competition from national
and local operators

Labour
Primanly unionised with strong
ndustnal relations
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Business review

UK Bus continued

Delivenng organic growth

Growth of over 4% i commercial revenue
was dnven by an 11% nse in passenger
yield as fares were restructured National
Express continues to offer some of the
most competitive fares of the major

UK conurbations Passenger volumes
decreased by 7%, partly reflecting an
overall mieage reduction of 2% We

have targeted reductions in some off-
peak services, but mcreased services to
meet additional demand elsewhers, for
example, re-timetabling on the inner crrcle
in Brmingham has driven 15% passenger
growth year on year, along with a 50%
reducton N wating tmes Revenue
protection teams have successfully
supparted revenue uplift and we will be
doubling the size of that team in 2012
Encouragingly, the last few weeks of 2011
showed overall passenger journey growth

For more infermation on our UK Bus
business, please go to nxbus.co.uk

We increased our investment in promoting
the benefits of bus travel in the West
Midiands and Dundee We are roling

out 250 new vehicles across a 12 month
penod, which is expected to boost
ndership 18 green hybrid buses were
Introcfuced onto core city centre routes

In Binmingham in December, with early
favourable customer feedback Anti-social
behaviour 1s being targeted through new
cleaning, ant-window etching and revenue
protection measures An increase n
targeted marketing campaigns included a
‘Love Your Bus’ promation, partnerships
with local schools and colleges to
promote student travelcards, ‘grandkids
for a quid’ and new short hop £1 fares n
Birmingharm and Coventry city centres
Smarter marketing s raising awareness
and increased demand 1s being generated
through online and telesales teams,
ncluding providing free tickets to home
movers and discounted family tickets

We are embedding operational excellence
across the UK Bus business The focus

15 to debver an efficient, on-tme bus
operation at lowest cost to passengers
We have infroduced mprovements to

our cngoing dniver traning programme,
with industry-leading accreditation and
partnerships based at our In-house
college n Walsall This 1s improving driving
standards and customer service Our
engineering operations have adopted ‘lean’
prnciples, which have reduced off-road
tme and increased fleet rehability

Jayne Blower,
Travel Shop Manager
National Express West Midlands

Travel Shops are “the human
face of the business,” says Jayne
Blower, manager of the busy
Dudiey shop. As well as selling
bus and coach tickets, they give
change and information, plan
routes and sort out problems
The Dudley team has built up

a strong relationship with many
local residents and one regular
customer recently wrote of

the staff that “nothing’s too
much trouble.”



Achieving margin improvement
Supporting revenue growth inihatives, 2011
saw completion of our two-year turnaround
programme, driving margin recovery 1o
above current industry average levels

Cost efficiencies were delivered across
engineering, procurement and the
overhead cost base We are leveraging
the Group’s procurement scale, with

£1 5 millon of savngs delvered in

UK Bus n 2011 On-board telemetry
monitors dmang style and 1s improving
fuet consumption In addition, in 2011

our Driving Out Harm safety programme
combined with telemetry and CCTV video
to reduce insurance clams by £19 milion

Following publication of the Competiion
Commission’s final report into the bus
industry in December 2011, we do not
anticipate any significant iImpacts on our
business but will look at Hus contract
opportunities to access further growth

Outlook for the future

Whilst the turmaround of the UK Bus
business 1s complete, improving
operational excellence 1s an ongoing
programme In 2012 we will continue to
focus on dnving revenue growth and cost
efficiency This will partialy mitigate the
withdrawal by the UK Government of £5
millon of annuat fuel duty rebate from Apnl
Thereafter, we will seek to improve the
rmargin towards industry leading levels

Alongside new vehicles, we are also
Investing in on-bus technology Smartcard
readers have been installed across our
entrre fleet which will be used to make bus
travel easier for all passengers and grow
revenue through more targeted marketing
We am to have 100% of cur buses
equipped with real-hme service information
In 2012 We are investing n advanced
dnver accreditation alongside customer
service development, to make National
Express the preferred operator for

Our passengers

Carl Gauntlett,

Schools Liaison Officer and
Special Constable

National Express West Midlands

Last year, Schools Liaison Officer
Carl Gauntlett talked to more than
9,000 children in spreading the Safer
Travel message to 150 schools.
“Talking to Year 6 (10-11 year-olds)
is particularly important - giving
them reassurance before they start
travelling to secondary school by
bus. We explain what they need to
do to keep safe and that they should
trust the dnver to help them.”

With its focus on
operational control,
improved marketing, new
services and investment
for customers, UK Bus
delivered a 15% increase
in profit year-on-year.
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Business review
24 UK Coach

Revenue

£2591m

Normalised operating profit

£34.9m

Andrew Cleaves
Managing Director, UK Coach:

My vision 1s to be the number one in passenger
transport for quality and value for our customers.

We will differentiate through excellence of customer
service and safety We are investing in technology to
enhance the customer offer and improve operational
efficlency. We can grow passenger numbers through
competitive pricing, leveraging the brand, the network
and our muttiple routes to market.

Divisional KPIs
We measure progress aganst our strategy and goals using
the following KPls

Financial KPIs Non-financial KPis

Revenue growth  Margin Passenger Mileage Customer

(%) (%) numbers* {my} satisfaction
(m) (%)

+0.6%
+1.0%

* Core network



Revenue for UK Coach was £2591 million
(2010: £250.3m) and normalised operating
profit was £34.9 milhion (2010: £32.0m).

In 2011 the UK Coach business reported
arecord profit, with its new management
tearmn re-establishing the National Express
coach service as the pre-eminent value
leader in long distance travel These

strong resuits were delivered through an
overhaul of the core network and with a
focus on delivering great customer service,
implementing network investments in

160 new coaches, a 24/7 contact centre
and the new Coachway station at Milton
Keynes The brand continues to see further
opportunity In austenty, meeting the needs
of cash-strapped consumers against a
background of mcreasing rail fares

Market overview

Market size

£300m

of contested revenues in
the scheduled coach market
{a'most all privatised)

Underlying revenue in the core National
Express network grew by over 5% Overall
UK Coach revenue iIncreased 3 5% to
£2591 milion (2010 £250 3m) Core
network yield rose 4% as pncing shifted
away from heavly discounted promotional
fares to offerng simple, consistent,
everyday value Revenue in each of the four
National Express coach segments (Long
haul, Short haul, Regional and Airports)
grew dunng the year

Operating profit ncreased to £34 9 million,
anincrease of 91% (2010 £32 0m}
Operating margin was 13 5%, a 70 basis
pontincrease 2010 12 8%) This reflected
hoth revenue growth and the flexibility of
the business model, where 80% of coach
service operation 1s outsourced, providing
the cpportunity to adjust to changes

n demand We continue to see strong
interest from private cperators to partner
N our serace delivery

Market share
Over 1,000 destinations served

National Express 1s the UK
scheduled coach market lsader

Market composition
National Exprass has the only
nationwide network of services

Other competitors tend to focus
on specific regions or comdors

Market trends

Revenue growth through the
recession, refiecting value and
convenience of coach

Selected pnce compettion from
ral through advance purchase
discounted fares

Market features
Highty deregulated markst

Customer safety and disabilty
access supported by regulation

Operators able to compete flexibly
on selected routes

Customers
Customer satisfaction mportant
n driving longer term loyalty

Ongoing ral fare increases make
coach increasingly attractve

Competition
Selective competition from large bus
operators and localised services

Labour

Qutsourced model, 80% operated
by thrd-party partners on long-term
contract

Consistent service and behaviour
standards across all operators
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26 UK Coach continued

Achieving margin improvement

The business mantaned a rigorous focus
on cost efficiency Mileage operated
increased by 1% in 2011, flexing supply to
meet demand Group-wide procurement
intrabves added further savings, including
leveraging our scale In fleet sourcing for
pariner operators which saw 160 new
coaches introduced 1o the network Use of
technology continues to drive down cost,
our fleet s equpped with both Traffilog’
monitonng and real-time positioning
systems This is already being used to
monitor dnving style, route timings and
scheduling lke-for-like fuel consumption
was reduced by 3% n the year, passenger
comfort was mproved and tnals are
underway to delver up-to-the-minute
schedule updates to customers via station
information and mobile applications

For more inforrmation on cur
UK Coach business, please go to
nationalexpress.com

Delivering organic growth

Qur growth strategy 1s focused on
improving custormer service and smplfying
fares, this has already delvered growth

i each of the core coach segments The
move away from heawvily discounted fare
promotions has improved overall yield and
aftracted passengers who value a stable,
competitive fare avalable even on the day
of travel Qverall passenger journeys in the
ceore business increased by 1% in 2011
with aiports and regional routes showing
the highest rates of growth

We have also expanded our network,
adding services and frequencies to reflect
improved passenger demand data by
segment and route New routes from
Lendon and the South Coast direct to
Gatwick Airport, and also Ipswich to
Heathrow Airport, proved popular Added
frequencies from Norwich, Glasgow

and Cardiff to London have seen market
growth Recent addihons have ncluded
new Liverpool/Manchester/lLeeds services
and we continue to see a growth in dally
commuter traffic diverting from high-pnced
rall services

Building on our investment, customer
satisfaction rose to 84% (2010 76%) 90%
of our passengers would recommend the
brand Cur contact centre 1 now open 24
hours a day, selling tickets and supporting
customers whenever they are travelling

An extensive programme of traming and
management tools will continue to Improve
the customer experence

Both Eurclines and The Kings Ferry grew
n 2011 Eurolnes added nearly 60,000
passengers, with growth on the London/
Panis and Amsterdlam routes, and the
introduction of a Brussels service Contract
business fell year-on-year, following one-off
work in 2010 for Arlinks and reduced rail
replacement activity

Mark Hollis, Accessibility
and Inclusion Manager
National Express

Our new Accessibility and
Inclusion Manager, Mark Hollis,
15 looking at all aspects of our
service for disabled travellers -
from our booking process to the
attitude of dnvers By the end

of 2012 almost all of our coaches
will be wheelchair accessible,
and all staff will have been on

a disabilty awareness course

- for which Mark was recently
recognised with an invitation

to No 10 Downing Street,



Securing targeted expansion

We see the progressive liberalisabon of
Continental Europe as exciting for coach
travel, which1s generally under-penetrated
Eurolines highlights the gpportunties
offered by the value of nterational coach
services in difficult economic times for
consumers Leveraging our position

as Europe’s largest scheduled coach
operator, we will seek to develop new
opportunities in Europe and are investing
In business development to deliver

future growth

Marjone Wild,
Senior Customer Adwvisor
National Express

As a Senior Customer Adwisor

at our busy Manchester coach
station, Marjone Wild uses the
counselling skills she’s gained
outside of the business to support
her work colleagues “listening to
their problems and being there
for them”. As well as doing her full
time job, Marjone I1s completing a
counselling diploma, and also works
as a volunteer for ChildLine and
Age Concem.

Outlock for the future

We will contnue to make underlying
progress in the UK Coach business
dunng 2012 but we face a significant
headwind from the withdrawal from
November 2011 of the £15 million annual

Our strategy is focused

senior citizen concession This will be
partly mitigated through our new Senior
Citzens Coach card Continued network

on improving customer
service and simplifying
fares. This has already

improvement, flexible pncing, leveraging

of technology and improvements N our
third-party operator partnerships to drive
better customer service will help grow
revenue and dnve cost efficiency The
London Olympics will also present specific
opportunities, for exampie, The Kings
Ferry has secured the contract to provide
transportation for the Metropolitan Police
during the Games

delivered growth.

The outlook for longer term growth remains
encouraging We expect the coach
business to benefit from above-inflaton
Increases In rail fares and higher costs

of pnvate motoring The dvision’s strong
market position, 1conic brand and value
proposition make the business uniquely
placed to grow n the medwm term, N

the UK and elsewhere
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28 UK Rail

Revenue

Normalised operating profit

£43.4m

Financial KPls
Revenue growth Margin
(%) (%)

Year to 7 January 2012

Non-financial KPis
Passenger
numbers

(m)

+5.4%

£688.3m

Andrew Chivers
Managing Director, UK Rail:

We are focused on continuing the success

of ¢2c as the best run franchise in the UK,
together with secunng additional rail franchises,
provided the terms are nght.

Divisional KPIs
We measure our progress agamnst our strategy and goals
using the following KPls

Signals passed at Public performance measure
danger (per million Moving annual average
miles) (%)



Revenue for UK Ral was £688.3 million
2010. £637.5m) and normalised operating
profit was £43.4 milion (2010 £33.8m).

In 2011 the UK Rail dwsion reported
strong revenue growth and a significant
increase In profitabiity As the leading

rait operator in the sector, the dvisional
profit margn was 6 3% and operational
performance exceptional — c2c 15 the UK’s
top performing rail franchise with a record-
breaking annual punctualtty figure of

96 9%, In the year to 4 February 2012 With
the handover of the East Anglia franchise
successfully completed in February 2012,
we are focused on delivering further
improvemnents at c2c and establishing the
future potential value that ral may offer n
the next franchising round

Market overview

Market size

£6bn

of UK franchise revenues
over next five years (based
on likely pipeline)

Revenue n UK Rail rose to £688 3 million
in 2011, an increase of 8 0% over the prior
year (2010 £637 5m) Natonal Express
East Angla (NXEA) successfully extended
its franchise from the Department for
Transport (DfT) from October 2011 to
February 2012, whilst c2c secured a two
year extension to May 2013 cn a profit
share basis Strong revenue growth saw
operating profit Increase by 28% to £434
milbon 2010 £33 8m) Operating margin
increased by 100 basis points to 6 3%
(2010 53%)

Market share
Two franchises freducing to 1 n
February 2012) — NXEA and c2¢

These represent 10% of the UK
franchise market

Market composition
Top four players have around 70%
of the market

19 UK franchises in total

Market trends
Growth over the past decade dnven by
passenger volumes and fare increases

Dependent on employment and GDP

Fares will increase by 1 to 3% in real
terms over the next three years

Market features

Regulatory environment — expected
to change to longer franchises and
ncreased operator autonomy

Highty regulated qualification and
operational processes

Customers
Steady growth in passenger volume
over time

Competition
Increased international competition
in UK franchise bidding

Labour
Relatonships are managed within each
franchise, with bigh union representation
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Business review

Marion Bndge,
Customer Service Assistant
c2¢

Thousands of ship passengers
amving at the London Cruise
Terminal n Tilbury often have just
afew hours to see London So
c¢2¢’s Manon Bndge, who works
at Tilbury station, has made it part
of her job “to give them a good
expenence”, and for the past
seven years has given out goody-
bags filled with timetables, maps
and discount vouchers which help
boost tourism.

30 UK Rail continued

Achieving margin improvement and
delivering organic growth

With therr exposure to the relatively robust
economies of London and the South East,
both franchises saw good passenger
growth throughout the year of 5%
Extension of the London-based Oystercard
system drove strong passenger growth,
through ease-of-use, albert at lower yield
Elsewhere, growth in suburban travel more
than offset weak volumes on the Stansted
Express service, which reflected reduced
volume in low-cost arr travel

NXEA, successfully completed
mptementation of its £185 mulion DfT-
funded capacity upgrade programme
Adding 11,000 peak-time seats into
Liverpool Strest and delivening 30

new 379 Electrostar trans to the network
on time and on budget, the business
received all its project milestone
payments, whilst significantty improving
the customer experence

¢2¢ successiully mplemented a new
timetable, providing addtional stops at
West Ham to provide greater transport
connectivity c2c has won or been
shortlisted for eight awards in 2011,
underlining its INndustry-leading position




Paul Thomas,
Customer Service Assistant
c2¢

For the past 16 years Paul Thomas
has sold tickets at London's
Fenchurch Street station. He
dispatches the c2c trains too. And
he makes station announcements,
as well helping to train and mentor
new colleagues.

Not all at the same time of course.
But Paul's versatility and enthusiasm
have earned the respect of his
colleagues. “Vanety's the spice

of Iife,” he says.

Outlook for the future

Operation of the NXEA franchise came

to anend on 5 February 2012, with the
franchise successfully handed over to the
new operator As s usual for commuter-
onentated franchises, a cash outflow of
approximately £80 milllon will cccur in
2012, pnmanly related to prepad customer
season ticket monies that are transferred
to the new operator

The business I1s focused on the continued
successful operation of the c2c franchise
and on secunng future rai franchises f the
terms of the new bidding process prove
attractive for the Group over the long-term

c2c has recently announced an innovative
allance with Network Rail, which bulds
on its existing Joint signalling and operating
control partnership The alliance will
deliver cost savings to govermment and
ulbmately passengers through better
planning and implementation of projects,
better managed stations and further
improvements in tran punctualty

The Group has also invested in addionai
resource to evaluate, bid and cperate
future UK rall franchises Retaning a core

teamn of experienced rall experts, National .
Express has submitted pre-qualification c2c is the UK’s top

bids for the future Essex Thameside {c2c), rformina rail nchi
Great Western and Thamesliink services perifo g a fra chise

This has been supported by ¢2c recently Wlth a l'ecord'breaking

being awarded four stars n the British annual punctuality figure
Qualty Foundation's Recognised for of 96.9%

Excellence (R4E) programme assessed
against the Eurcpean Foundation
for Qualty Management model

Whilst National Express has a successful
platform for future value creation built

on its four nterational bus and coach
busnesses, we believe that the potential
eamings and cash generation from future
rail franchises could be a valuable addition
to our portfolio, whilst supporting access to
other global ral opportunities Participation
will, however, depend on the potential
returns and nsks of the future franchises
being acceptable

For more information on our
UK Rail business, please go fo
c2c-online.co.uk
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Financial review

Continued improvement

The Group has delivered a strong performance
in 2011, recording a record statutory profit before tax
and amortisation of £180 2 milion.

Four of our five divisions
are now at industry-
leading margins, with
scope for further progress
through a relentless focus
on operational efficiency,
combined with delivering
high margin organic
growth.

Revenue

Group revenue In 2011 was £2,238 0
milien, an increase of 5 3% from £2,1259
million in 2010 Revenue growth in every
division was primarly dnven by yeld
Improvement, on a contractual/regulated
basis as in North Amenca, ALSA and UK
Rail, and through fare pricing in UK Bus
and UK Coach

Operating profit

Group normalised operating profit
increased by over 10% to £225 2 million,
from £204 2 milhon in 2010 2011 saw
completion of the Group's two-year
turnaround programme  Over this period,
cost reduction programmes have reduced
overhead and back office costs, mproved
dnver and engineenng efficiencies, and
delivered substantal savings by leveraging
the Group's global procurement scale

Group normalised operating margin
increased i 2011 by 50 basis ponts

to 1019% (2010 9 6%%) Four of our five
dvisions are now at industry-leading
margns, with scope for further progress

Improvement in normalised operating profit 2011

Jez Maiden

through a relentless focus on operatonal
efficiency, combined with delvenng high
margin organic growth

The principal areas that contnbuted to this
ncrease N profitability were

» profitable organic growth adding £39
rmillion, drven by yeld and passenger
Journey growth and the addition of new
contracts in North Amenca and Span,
and

+ cost reducton programmes focusing on

- procurement savings of £12 milhion
across the Group, Including vehicle
parts, telecoms and [T,

~ insurance savings of £3 million,
reflecting safety improvernent led by
the Driving Qut Harm programme,
and

- targeted cost efficiencies savings of
£21 milion, mainly n overhead costs




These benefits were partally offset by

s yrvestment in business development
resource to expand into new businesses
and markets, together with mvestment in
talent and people development, together
adding £3 million,

= project costs of £9 milion (pnmanty
settlernent of a workang tme ¢lam in the
USA, professional and legal fees relating
to the strategic and Board debate
ahead of the 2011 AGM, Competition
Commission project costs and
pre-acquistion Costs),

e fuel costs nsing by £1 mitlion, with higher
hedged pnces,

e depreciaton ncreasing by £6 million,
reflecting iIncreased investment in vehicles
in North Amenca and Span, and

* general cost base inflation of 3% adding
£43 miion

Normalised result

Net finance costs were £46 4 millon

(2010 £44 0m), the Increase from the
previous year reflecting a full year of higher
fixed interest rates on the 2010 bonds
Profit before tax increased by 12% to
£180 2 milhon 2010 £160 Sm}

The tax charge was £41 5 millon (2010
£39 2m), an effective tax rate (ETR) of
23 0% (2010 24 4%) Profit for the year
was £138 7 miflon (2010 £121 3m),
gving a basic EPS increase of 14 4%
to 270 pence {2010 23 6p)

For more information on our Group, please
go to nationalexpressgroup.com

Dividends

EPS estmated on non-rail eamings only
(that is, excluding the aftertax UK Rad profit
and benefit to interest of ral season ticket
monies) was 20 3 pence 2010 17 9p)
With a pad ntenm dividend of 3 pence
per share and a proposed final dvidend
of 6 5 pence, the tota! dividend for 2011 of
95 pence (2010 6p) s covered 21 tmes
(2010 3 0x) by non-ral eamings and 2 8
tmes (2010 3 9x) by total eamings The
proposed dividend recerd and payment
dates are 27 Apn! and 18 May respectvely

Statutory profit

Group statutory profit before tax increased
threefold to £129 4 millon 2010 £40 2m)
The Group incurred no exceptional costs,
maximising the benefit to shareholders

of profit growth Thus reflects significant
progress delvered in 2010 to reduce

or eliminate legacy nsks, ncluding resolution
of outstanding UK tax issues with HMRC,
termination of the Group's onerous contract
for Eurostar operatons and reduced future
exposure to UK pension schemes

Intangible asset amortisation (relating
principally to the value of the Group’s
concessions and contracts in Span and
North Amenca}) recluced to £50 8 milion
(2010 £571m) Exceptional charges were
£l 2010 £63 2m) Statutory profit for the
year was £102 6 milion (2010 £62 3m)
Diluted EPS was 19 8 pence 2010 12 0p)

Cash management

National Express continues to focus

on cash generation as a key driver of
long-term shareholder value With the
Group turmaround now complete, cash
apphcation has been aligned to our
strategic objectives — investment in organic
growth, acquisitions and a sustanable
dvidend payout

Normalised operating profit £m
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Financial review
continued

Operating cash flow

Group operating cash flow in 2011 was
£159 8 millon {2010 £221 7m), reflecting
remnvestiment of higher profits In fleet
renewal Operating cash conversion

In 2011 was 71% {2010 109%)

An increase in working capual of £52 5
mulion 2010 inflow £14 3m) was pnimanly
driven by a £35 milion increase in Span
Of this, £18 million refated to settlement of
deferred social secunty, together with an
increase in the recevables balance, due
to revenue growth and slower payment,
the latter principally from one public body,
with whom a repayment schedule has
been agreed Alirecevables are closely
managed and legally documented

The Spanish govermning party recently
confirmed that public body debts woutd
be fully repard Ongoing pension defict
payments in the UK totalled £9 7 milion

Maintenance capital expenditure increased
by £22 5 miflion to £110 2 milhon (2010
£877m), 104% of depreciation (2010 88%),
with spend primanly in the North Amernca,
ALSA and UK Bus dvisions in fleet and
real-tme information technology This level
of expenditure 1 planned to be sustained
over the next few years as a key dnver of
passenger growth The average age of the
Group's fleet reduced In 2011 to 5 8 years
(2010 61 years)

Operating cash flow

Normalised operating profit
Depreciahon

Grant amortisation, profit on disposal
and share-based payment

EBITDA

Net mantenance capital expenditure
Working capital movement

Pension contnbutions above
normal charge

Operating cash flow

Free cash flow

Free cash flow n 2011 increased to £84 4
milion (2010 £83 7m} Exceptional cash
paymenits reduced significantly in 2011 with
no IN-year expense charge, cash payments
of £22 0 millon 2010 £86 7rm) relate to final
payments for exit from the East Coast rail
franchise in 2009, redundancy and project
costs provided in 2010, and the terrmination
of an onarous contract between the Group
and the Eurostar operator, LCR

Net interest payments were £44 6 milion
(2010 £42 7m) and cash tax remaned
broadly unchanged at £8 4 milion (2010
£8 6m), well below the Group's ETR due
to tax amortisation of acguisition goodwill
N Spamn and tax losses in North Amenca

Free cash flow

For more information on our results, please
go to nationalexpressgroup com/
investors

2011 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m £m
2252 204 2 Operating cash flow 159.8 2217
1065 908 Discontinued operations - {35)
UK rail franchise entry and exit 58 (220)
24 02 Exceptonal cash flow 82 (52 6)
3331 304.2 Payments to associates 80 86)
(1102 877) Subtotal - exceptional

(525) 143 cash payments (22.0) (86 7)
Net intarest (44 6) @27

(106 ©1  Dmdends paid to minorities ©4 -
159.8 2217 Taxation 84 Be
Free cash flow 84.4 83.7




Net funds flow

A strong focus on cash generation allows
the Group to allocate capital to growth,
acquisition and dividends, whilst kesping
debt levels within our geanng policy A
progressive dvidend ts well covered by
non-rall earmings whilst future surplus
capital will be invested in value-generating
growth and acguistion projects, or
retumed to shareholders

In 2011, £35 6 milhlon was invested N
organic growth capital (2010 £33 9m)
- £23 mulion in North Amenca, to fund
fleet investment in new share gain and
conversion contracts, and £9 million in
ALSA to fund growth in Morocco and
the new Madnd Tour service

The Group invested £76 millon (2010
£2 6m) in acquisitions in North American
school bus and in Spain It resumed
dividend payments in 2011 Group net
funds flow in 2011 was an outflow of
£23 3milion (2010 nflow £47 5m}

Group net debt at 31 December 2011
was £633 7 million (2010 £610 4m}

Capital allocation and retumns

National Express has a portfolio of
busmnesses that provide a blend of
opporturities for sustanable growth,
profitability and cash generaton The
Group's strategy 1s designed to use the
funds at its disposal to make investment
decisions that will result in long-term
generation of shareholder value The
Group uses pre-tax retum on capital
employed (ROCE) as a core KPI to decide
upen and measure the delvery of strategic
new investment Internal capital allocation
decisions are made with a 12% pre-tax
retum on capital hurdle rate, based on an
estimated post-tax weighted average cost
of capital of 8% In 2011 Group ROCE
increased to 14 1% (2010 13 2%), with
strong meremental returns in Spain and
North Amenca, the latter supported by
nhatves to improve fleet utlisaton The

Net funds flow

Free cash flow

Net growth caprtal expenditure
Financial nvestments and shares
Rights issue

Acquisitions and disposals

Cash flow on the matunty of foreign
exchange contracts

Dividends

Foreign exchange and other
non-cash moverments

Net funds flow

Group Is targeting a 15% pre-tax retum on
capital n the medum term (subject to the
proportion of ral business)

Treasury management

The Group has a strong funding platform
A combination of long-term maturity

on bond and undrawn bank financing,
strong Iiquichty and headroom capacity,
together with a broad banking group,
allow the Group to pursue Its strategic
goals effectively

Funding sources

Long-term funding for the Group 15
provided from non-bank, long matunty,
term financing Two Sterling-denominated
public bonds — compnsing a 6 25%

£350 milkion bond matunng in 2017 and

a 6 625% £225 millon bond maturing in
2020 - and long-term amortising finance
leases of £129 millon provide this capacity
in addition, the Group has a £500 millon
committed unsecured revolving bank
faciity, matunng n August 2014, which was
undrawn at 31 December 2011 The Group
15 Investment grade rated (Moody's Baa3,
neutral outlook, Fitch BBB-, stable cutlook)

Covenant compliance

The Group mantains adequate headroom
over its banking covenants, which continued
to improve dunng the year, as follows

« debt geanng ratio (net debt to EBITDA)
18 times (2010 2 1x, covenant not to
exceed 3 5x), and

* \nterest cover ratio (EBTDA to net
interest) 72 times (2010 6 9x, covenant
not to be less than 3 5x)

Interest rate and currency hedging

The acquisition of Petenmann, when
completed, will ntially be funded by

cash drawn down from the bank facility
Following this acquisition and the handover
of the East Angla rall franchise, the Board
expects the Group to operate at the upper
end of its target geanng ratio of 200 2 5
times EBITDA over the next 18 months

2011 2010
£m £m
844 83.7
{356) (339
27 a7
- 39
76 26)
(128 20
(45 8) -
32 79

(23.3) 475

National Express
continues to focus on
cash generation as a
key driver of long-term
shareholder value.
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Financial review
continued

The Group hedges its exposure to interest
rate movements to maintain a balance
between fixed and flcating interest rates on
borrowings To achieve the desired fixed/
floatmg ratio, the Group has entered into

a senes of Interest rate swaps that have
the effect of converting fixed rate debt to
floabing rate debit The net effect of these
transactions was that, as at 31 December
2011, the proportion of Group net debt at
floating rates was 16% (2010 19%)

As its debtis prmanly denominated in
Sterling, the Group uses foreign currency
contracts to create synthetic debt postions
to partially hedge the exposure of our
Spanish and US EBITDA and assets

At 31 December 2011 the principal
resultant forergn currency debt exposures
were €250 million and US$195 millon
Further details of the Group's treasury
management policies are set out in

the Accounts

Fuel nsk management

The Group consumes approximately 250
rmillion Iitres of fuel each year, mostly of
Ultra Low Sulphur Diesel and gasoline,
which represented a total cost (including
delvery and taxes) to the Group in 2011
of £181 millon 8% of Group revenue),

at an average fuel cost of 40 pence per
Iitre The Group has adopted a forward
fuel buying policy In order to secure a
degree of certanty In ts planning Based
on expected hedgable consumption, a
proportion of this i1s fixed for the future
Currently, the Group 1s 100% fixed for
2012 at an average pnce of 44 pence/litre
{excluding delivery and tax) and 50% fixed
for 2013 at an average price of 47 pence

The Group seeks to hedge a minmum of
15 months demand across all exposed
businesses Where businesses have
freedom to price services, this hedge
prowvides sufficient protection to recover
fuel pnce ncreases through the fare
basket In contract businesses, where
price escalation may be restncted by

a formula independent of fuel costs,
extended cover, up to the life of the
contract, may be taken, subject to
avalabifity and hqu:dity in the hedgng
market The latter 1s rarely avalable beyond
three years from the trading date

Pensions

The Group's prncipal defined benefit
pension schemes are all in the UK

At 31 December 2011 these schemes
had a combined deficit under IAS 19 of
£1 8 mdlion, an mprovement from a deficit
position of £10 4 millon at 31 December
2010 The National Express Group

Staff Pension Plan (UK Coach plan)

15 now closed to all future accrual

A funding plan amed at bringing the plan
to self sufficiency over a six year penod
was agreed in 2010, National Express
contnibutes €4 2 milhon per annum to
this scheme In 2011 UK Bus agreed a
£5 5 millon annual defict repayment plan
with the trustees of the West Midlands
Passenger Transport Authonty Pension
Fund (WM plan) to fund a £71 millon
scheme funding deficit The plan remains
open to accrual for existing actve
members only

The IAS 19 valuations by division at
31 December 2011 were as follows

¢ UK Bus (under the WM plan and the
Tayside Transport Superannuation
Fund) £16 8 milion deficit (2010
£5 3m defici),

¢ UK Coach plan £18 6 miflon surplus
(2010 £rul), and

¢ UK Ral £2 2 millon deficit 2010
£3 7m deficil) The Group's ral business
partcipates in the Railways Pension
Scheme This exposure transfers to
an ncoming operator N the event of a
franchise termination, as has happened
on the East Angla franchise

Jez Maiden
Group Finance Director
29 February 2012

National Express has a
portfolio of businesses
that provide a blend

of opportunities for
sustainable growth,
profitability and cash
generation.




Risks

Risks and risk management

The Group has a well established
governance structure that has
responsibility for the internal control
systems and reviewing ther effectveness
The nsk management process

+ provides a framework to dentify, assess
and manage nsks, both positive and
negatve, to the Group's overall strategy
and the contnbution of its ndividual
component dwvisions,

* gives business unit management formal
tools to identify and manage nsks in ther
day-to-day operations,

¢ allows Group Executive management
to dentify and manage the nsks that are
Iikely to have a more significant impact
on the financal results and strategy and
share common issues and solutions
across the Group, and

allows the Board to fulfil ts govemance
responsbiites by making a balanced
and understandable assessment of
the operation of the nsk management
process and its outputs

Responsibilities and actions

The Board.

¢ has overall responsibilty for the Group’s
systern of nternal control and for
reviewng its effectiveness,

¢ maintans full control and direchion
over appropnate sirategic, financial,
operational and compliance ssues, and

* has put In place an organisational
structure with formally defined ines
of responsibiity, delegated authonties
and clear operating processes

The Audit Committee

* has specific responsibility for reviewing
the effectivenass of the Group s intemal
control and nsk management systems,

* 5 responsible for the identfication,
assessment and management of nsk,
including actions taken and processes
adopted to do so,

* reviews and approves all financial
information published by the Group, and

* reviews the internal audit programme,
considers major findings of the intermnal
audit nvestgations and reviews
management's financial reporting
and nsk management

Risk review process

Each dwvision, plus the Group function, is
required to make a formal review of nsks to
therr business objectives, assess the impact
and lkelihood of the nsk cccurnng and put
in place mitigating actions, processes and
systems to manage the nsk

Risks

identify nsks to busmness objectives on

a bottorn up basis nsks are descnbed
and categonsed into Operational, Strategic
and Financial nsks in order to help define
ther precise nature and potental mpact
on the business

Assessment

Assess and quantify the potential impact
on business objectives and determine

the likelhood of the nsk occurnng This is
done on a 'before’ and ‘after’ basis, where
the mpact of management controls 1s
assessed In relation to the probability

and severty of a nsk

Management

Take mitgating actions and implement
systems to manage the likelihood and
mmpact of the nsk Identify an ndmdual
with responsibiity for each nsk

Monrtoning and control

Risks are considered on a monthly basis
at dmisional level and formally upcated
twice a year Management is encouraged
to review the nsk registers from other
dmsions to identfy common issues and
potential solutions

Each divisional register, mcluding the
Group function register, 1s consolidated
nto a Group nsk register

The Group Executive Comimittee reviews
the Group Risk Register twice a year,
followed by the Group Audit Committee
The Audit Committee reports in tum to the
rman Board

The internal audit function has
responsibilty for the monitonng of the nisk
management and intemal control systems
Internal Audit report to managemsnt

and the Audit Commuittee on the extent

to which intemal controls are adequately
designed and implemented

Risk assessment and review

The Group has a well established
governance structure that has
responsibility for the nternal controt
systems and reviewing therr effectvenass
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Risks

38 Principal risks and uncertainties

Outlined below are nsks that have the potential to affect the Group's performance
in a matenal way, which are monitored through the nsk management processes

Principal risks of 2011

During 2011, the Group focused on the following key areas of nsk:

Risk

Economic conditions
and austerity

Dnfficult economic conditions currently
exist in Europe and North Amenca
Whilst some of the Group's businesses
have naturally defensive charactenstics,
some of the more discretionary parts of
the business may be adversely affected
by reduced economic actmty

Pohtical and regulatory

The Group’s businesses are subject
to numercus laws in the junsdictions
in which they operate, regulating the
operation of concessions, safety
procedures, equipment specifications,
employment requirements,
emaronmental procedures and

other operating 1ssues

Ongoing risks

Assessment

Revenues in the Bus, Coach and

Rall businesses in the UK and Span
may be affected by lower passenger
demand, there 1S also some positive
nsk that the Group would benefit from
the prospect of modal shift towards ds
forms of transport In North Amenca for
example, school boards may reduce
ther transpertation budgets, or look
to shift provision to contractors like
National Express In Span, the Group
has conbnued to grow revenue and
profit in conditions of sustaired tigh
unemployment and low GDP growth

Changes in poltical and regulatory
environments can have a significant
impact on regulated public transport
operators, from adding significant cost
to changing the fundamental nature of
amarket For example, changes in UK
government policy will resutt iIn matenal
decreases in subsides paid In 2012
for fuel and senior citizen discounts
Changes to the UK Ral franchising
regime are also expected

Management

The Group seeks to mitigate these nsks
through proactive cost control, revenue
management systems, the careful
economic modelling of new and existing
contracts, ncluding sensitivities around
expecied growth rates, and through
shanng nsk with contracting parties

The nsk is reduced by maintaining close
relationships with key stakeholders and
ensunng that the econormic advantages
of our busness models are fully
understood and considered

The following nsks are key ongoing nsks within the business.

Risk

Fuel cost

All of the Group's businesses are
exposed to fuel costs ~ pnmanly Ultra
Low Sulphur Diesel for buses and
coaches Fuel pnces are subject to
signficant volatikty due to economig,
political and clirate crcumstances

Insurance and claims

The Group's polcy 1s to seff-nsure
anumber of potental clams within
s business

Assessment

Fuel costs constitute approximately 9%
of the Group's costs and, consequently,
to the extent that pnce increases cannot
be passed on to customers, increases
in fuel costs will affect profitability

There 1s a nsk that a successful clam or
senes of successful clams may result in
substantal higher charges to profit and
cash cutflow than expected

Management

The Group seeks to mitigate nsks of
increases in fuel costs by entenng

into fuel swaps and forward purchase
contracts in ine with the Group’s
hedging strategy discussed on page 36

Throughout the business a strong
safety culture prevails, led by the Board
Safety & Enmvironmental Committee
Where claims anse, they are managed
by expenenced clams handlers and
professional adwvice 1s obtaned in

order to evaluate and minimise costs

to the Group It has alse reduced self-
Insurance values and increased external
market coverage

Year on year
change

Year on year
change




Risk

Credrt nsk

As contractual operations, the North
Amencan and Sparush businesses are
exposed {0 the nsk that customers are
ether late or unable to pay sums owed
to the Group

Currency

The Group's exposure to overseas
eamings through s Sparush and North
Amencan operations creates a nsk
that movement in exchange rates

may adversely impact translation of
profit and cash flows togeather with
Group geanng

Risk

Contractual

Much of the Group's business is
secured through winning contracts and
concessions, particularly in its North
Amencan school bus business, In Span
and in UK Rall

Assessment

Payment terms and cash collectons

in North Amenca are extremely good
In Spain, during 2011 one prnncipal
urban council became slower to pay
outstanding debts, prompted by 1ssues
related to local and federal elections,
as well as financial constrants The
total days outstanding balance 1s not
signficantly ligher than normal levels

The potential impact 1s inited to the
translation of cash flows and balance
sheet assets and habiltes. The Group
currently pays interest on manly Sterling
denomnated debt Dunng 2011 currency
fluctuaticns were relatively small

Assessment

An inherent nsk in contract bidding ts
that bid assumptions might prove to be
incorrect i the Group's significant bid
assumptions prove to be incomrect, this
could have an adverse effect on results
of the operatrons and the Group’s
financial condrbon

Management Year on year

change

Recenables in each busness are
closety monitored, based on robust and
thorough documentation, prowisions
are then made where appropnate on

a prudent basis for a certan level of
non-collection This prowvision mcreased
dunrg the vear to reflect the overal
balance Increase Addiional contractual
terms for interest accrual and repayment
of outstanding balances were agreed
with the major debtors We also
anticipate the new federal government
will provide credit funding to assist some
degree of clearance of long term debt

The Group uses limited overseas debt
and currency swaps to reduce the
mpact and mitigate the nsk In addion,
Management has flexibility to adjust

its Group capital allocation decisions

to focus on its highly cash generative
UK businesses The Beoard has also
considered options for the Group in
the event of a break up of the Eurozone
and policies are In place to minimise
exposure to this possibility

Year on year
change

Management

The Group seeks to miigate the nsk
through careful economic modelling of
new contracts, and by shanng revenue
nsk with the awarding body, for example
with the DT n UK Rall

3
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Living our values
40 Corporate responsibility
at National Express Group

National Express is fortunate as thereis a
coincidence of benefit in what we do. What is
good for our customers is good for our business
and good for society. We are a private sector
company that provides public services. The
better the services we provide, the more people
use them, benefiting the environment and our
economies as well as our shareholders.




Our Vision and Values are fundamental

to who we are as abusiness and as an
active corporate ciizen We know that a
safe business I1s a better business, as it
will be run more effectively than an unsafe
one Reducing greenhouse gas emissions
makes sense — commercially as well as
environmentally Investing i people bulds
stability and loyalty Customer service
excellence s both nght and helps grow
our business

We have defined our values to focus on
four areas ensuring the safety of our
custorners, our employees and the pubhc
generally, irying harder than anyone else
for our customers, enabling our people to
reach therr full potential and give therr best,
and advancing the social, environmentat
and economic conditions of the
communities in which we operate

Corporate responsibility for National
Express 1s ving these values

Safety

Nothing matters more than safety It is
our number one prionty, and our ambition
18 to have the best safety record in the
transport sector

In 2010 we developed a five-year, Group-
wide safety mprovement programme
called Orving Out Harm The approach we
arg taking 15 rigorous and the standards
we are setting are high — for example, the
introduction of Alcolocks on our coaches
These breathalyser devices prevent the
vehicle from starting until the driver has
successfully passed a breath test The
it we are using I1s exceptionally low —
more than four tmes lower than the legal
drnk-drving limit — and, dunng 2011,

we completed more than 50,000 tests
amoenth in UK Ceach alone

Safety KPIs
2011

Spain

North Amenca
UK Bus

UK Coach

UK Rail

NXEA

c2¢c

Signals passed at danger
per million train miles

Drving Out Harm 1s a major culture change
programme, and for any such nibative

to suceeed requires visible commistrment
from the top Drving Out Harm 1s being

ted by our Chief Executive, and dunng
2011 the frequency of site safety visds

by senior managers tnpled from four a
year to one a month Furthermore, all ine
managers throughout the Group have
now completed formal traning designed to
equip them to manage the mproverments
N our safety performance

At the end of the year our new safety
management arrangerments were
independently reviewed by the leading
safety consultancy company, Arthur D
Little They found that the progranrnme had
‘achieved all that was expected so far’ and
that ‘commitment to and streng leadership
of safety 1s evident, and awareness of
Drving Out Harm among the workforce

18 high’

Overall performance aganst most of our
key ndicators was better in 2011 than in
2010 across all divisions and geographies
Partcularly marked improverments were
seen in the second half as the mpact of
the safety programme — still n its first year —
began to be felt

The programme 1 intended to deliver a
50% improvement in safety performance
in the five years to 2016 Each of our
businesses has annual targets and safety
plans which provide both short-term focus
and a strategic mecharism for achieving
our longer term goal

Lost time employee injunes per
1,000 full-time equivalent employees

Edward Dacey, driver
National Express

At the start of every shift, and
after every break, coach driver
Edward Dacey blows into his
Alcolock system to enable him
to start hus coach. “The system
gives me and my customers
the assurance that | am safe to
drive,” said Edward. The Alcolock
system, which 1s centrally
monitored, is now fitted to all
National Express coaches and
performs thousands of breath
checks each day.

Preventable vehicle
accidents per million miles
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Living our values

Corporate responsibility
at National Express Group continued

Customers

Service 1s at the core of our business The
better the service we provide the more
Ikely people are to switch to us ether from
our competitors or from ther cars Our
vision i$ 1o create real customer loyalty We
want people to travel with us as often as
possble Increasing customer satisfaction
will Increase our revenue

So, by the end of 2014 we am to be the
customer service leader In the transport
sector, as part of a longerterm planto be a
provider of world-class service by the end
of 2017

While this 1s an ambitious target we are
starting from a farly high base Recent
research from the Institute of Customer
Services Indicates that National Express
in the UK 18 already considered to be a
top quartle service provider across all
industnes, with UK Coach second only
to Virgin Atlantic In the transport sector

Even world-class service 1S not rocket
science |t I1s about deliverng the basics well
- but doing ¢ every single tme |t 1s about
polteness as well as punctualty, making
sure that tollets are clean, that our staff are
knowledgeable and helpful, that they smile
—and mean it We aim to provide service

of great consistency so that customers feel
they are getting excepbonal value for money
when weighing the price that they pay with
the expenence that they have

During 2011 we put in place the tools to
help deliver excellence Group-wide service
standards have been launched and action
plans developed for staff at all levels of
each of our businesses We have begun
aroling audit programme at our coach
stations, assessing behaviour as well as
infrastructure Progress against our KPis
witl be reported to the Group Executive
every month

People
2011 saw the launch of the Group's vision

for its people UK greenhouse gas

emissions tCO.e
* gnabling them to reach ther full potential

and to give therr best as Indviduals and In
teams, and

* behave towards each other with the
same respect and dignity that we expect
for ourselves

We launched five standards and supporting
programmes relating to recrutment,
induction, performance and talent
management and to workplace nghts
These are designed to modernise the
management culture of the Group and
ensure that at every level of the organisation
we get the nght people in the nght jobs
doing the night things in the nght ways

We conduct regular surveys of employee
opinion to keep In touch with the views

and feelings of our people

tCO,e Tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent

As part of the talent management
programme, each of our top 100 managers
has been given an individual development
plan, with over half of this cadre also receving

highly tanlored one-to-one coachng
Site energy usage UK Bus

95%

reduction in gas consumption

19%

reduction in electneity consumption

Emergency and scheduled succession
plans have been established for all of

our senior posttions  In addition we now
have around 100 people — generally
frontine managers - on our high potential
programme as a means of growing our
own senior managers of the future

Durnng 2011, we also developed a ngorous
performance management process and a
management bluepnnt which defined what
we want managers to do —and not to do
The intention 1s to encourage a specific set
of behawiours that, in turn, will Improve levels
of workforce engagement

Recyclhng: c2c

87%

On-train waste

96%

In 2012 we will be extending our talent
Station waste

management traning to include al managers,
from frontline supervisors upwards




Raj Bhutta,
driving training instructor
National Express

Raj Bhutta is a driving training
instructor for National Express in
Walsall. Last April he swapped the
West Midlands for Tanzania to work
with the charity Transad, training
local bus drivers to be driving
instructors. “Some Tanzanian bus
dnvers don’t even have a hcence!”
Raj says. “But the qualty of our
trainees was high and they really
embraced our efforts i was

a fantastic experience.”

Community
QCur 2011 environmental performance 1s
something we are proud of

Our new Birmingham coach station, for
example, 1s the only one in the country to
be accredited to the BREEAM Excellent
standard BREEAM is the world's leading
design and assessment method for
sustainable bulding We are aming

to achieve the same rating for all new
developments, which will include two new
bus garages and a coach garage in the
next two years Qur intention is that these
new developments will have zerc net CO,
emissions and will therefore be carbon
neutral This will be achieved by investment
in energy efficlency measures including
smart meters, bulding insulation, and
on-site renewable energy regeneration

We are also working with the Chartered
Instrtution of Bulding Services Engineers and
Liverpool John Moores University to create

a system for the ral industry to benchmark

property efficency and sustanabiity No
such systern currently exists

Investment in cur c2c¢ rall business has
aready seen us become the industry
leader in energy efficlency and in waste
recyching — and coaches are the greenest
form of transport We have medium-term
targets for reducing our carbon emissions
- and delberately so We beleve medium-
term targets are more meanngful than
targets set many years hence, and make
us more accountable Dunng 2011 we
installed voltage cptimisation equipment at
all of our bus garages, which has resulted
in a saving of 1 milion kWh or 19% of the
electrcity used at these sites, and almost
550 tonnes of CO, a year

Gas consumption has fallen even more
steeply Instaling autornated gas control
systems at our bus garages saved almost
2,200 tonnes of CO, and cut gas usage
by 55% We are now looking to rolf this
out to our coach and rail operations

As well as emiting significantly ‘ess carbon
than other modes of transport, our buses,
coaches and trains significantly reduce
congestion - and i1ts economic cost

For example, a third of all commuters in
Birmingham travel on National Express
operated buses i they were to drive
instead, that would add a traffic jam
equivalent to the distance between
Birmmngham and Moscow

National Express is an intemational
business, and takes its community
responsibiites senously wherever it
operates Across the Group, more than
100 community organisations and charties
were supported, either through a denation
or support In kind A total of £228,000

was donated to chanties during the year

In Morocco, for example, we are
supporting a UNICEF project which
focuses on improving the care offered
to mothers and newborn children with
the am of reducing neonatal mortalty

In the USA, 14 of our school bus fleets
have achieved Green School Bus Flest
Certficatron from the National Schoal
Transportation Association This is the only
programme of its kind to recognise school
transportaticn companies for providing
environmentally responsible transportation
through the use of new technologies

Throughout our North Amencan
operations we launched an Adopt-a-
School programme in 2011 This has seen
our employees volunteering to help schools
in therr communities from New York to
New Mexico, California to South Carolina,
and Oklahoma to Ontario

The range of activities vanes greatly, from
collecting food, clothing and toys for
needy families to taking part in reading
programimes But they are all based on
finding ways to builld strong relationships
with our communities and our customers

In the UK, our Employee Chanty Panel
continues to encourage staff to get
involved in the community, with a total
of £20,000 donated during the year

Overal, we made real progress across
our community agenda during 2011,
and have the structures in place to do
even better n 2012

Across the Group, more
than 100 community
organisations and
charities were
supported, either
through a donation

or support in kind.
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Governance
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44 Chairman’s overview

Dear shareholder

John Devaney

2011 was another successful year for National Express
and another year during which we saw an ever increasing
focus on standards of comporate governance. The Board
as a whole recognises that good governance results in

a good business and goes further than simply following

a series of rules. At National Express we seek to

make good governance an integral part of our

business philosophy

In the followang section of this report we
have sought to give a clear descnption

of cur Board and committee structure
and the processes that support it which
are at the heart of good govemance

| have asked my colleagues who charr
our varous Board committess to highlight
for you some of the work that has been
undertaken by the Committees dunng the
year Ther reviews follow later in this report
In this letter | would like to deal with some
1ssues that | mentioned in my letter to you
last year

Other committee letters

My colleagues channg other Board committees
prowvide an overview of ther activities this year as wed
These can be found as follows

Audrt Committee phH4

Nommation Gommittee p56

Safety & Environment Committee  pS57
Remuneration Committee p58

Refreshment of the Board

Dunng 2011 we have continued and
accelerated the process of Board
refreshment After carefulty reviewing the
appropnate balance of skills, expertise,
expenence and knowledge required by
the Company we conducted a search,
using two firms of independent search
consultants, for two new Non-Executive
Directors with international expenence
Such was the quality of the candidates
whom we encountered, we decided finally
to appoint three new, iIndependent Non-
Executives to the Board, Chns Muntwyler,
Joaguin Ayuso and Lee Sander These
appointments have increased the diversity
of the Board and enhanced both its
continental European and North Amencan
expenence In June 2011 Roger Devin
decded to step down as a Non-Executive
Director and 1 would like to thank Roger
for his tremendous contnbutions dunng
his trme on the Board The amval of three
new Non-Executives has been a significant
change which it 1Is my duty to manage
The new Board has developed well and
wa will continue to monitor the balance

of skills and expenence on the Board to
ensure that it meets the changing needs
of the busness

For more information on Comorate
Governance and our Board of Directors,
please go to nationalexpressgroup.
com/aboutus/corporategovernance




Board gender sphit 2011

Male 90%
Fernale 10%
Diversity

On the more general 1ssue of gender
dwersity, the Nomination Committee

of the Board has reviewed the report

of Lord Davies published n February
2011 on Board Room Diversity National
Express 1s determined to ensure that

all people —regardiess of background
or gender ~ are well represented at all
levels of our business Not only 1s that the
rght thing to do, it 1s also good business
practice Therefore, while mantaning
our existing policy of selecting the best
avallable candidates for any position,
National Express 1s content to set the
aspirational target that by 2015, 30% of
its Board will be women, in ine with the
recommendations of the Davies Report

At National Express
we seek to make good
governance an integral
part of our business
philosophy.

Board gender split - target 2015

Male 70%
Female 30%

Review of Board performance

Dunng 2011 the Board has conducted

an externally faciitated review of its
effectveness which I1s reported on in more
detail in the following sections of this report
For us, the uss of an external facilitator has
been a positive one  An externally facitated
evaluation 1s not an opportunity for the
Company to be told by a third party what
it should or should not be doing Rather,
Is more about providing a process through
which Directors can speak candidly at
length to our fachtator and in doing so
analyse our performance over the past
year The facitator presents his findings

to the Board and 1t 1s then the Board's
collective responsibility to discuss this

and agree any actions required to Improve
our effectveness

UK Corporate Governance Code
For the first time this year we will be
reportng aganst the UK Corporate
Govemance Cede that was brought
into effect N May 2010

John Devaney
Chaimman
29 February 2012

Chns Muntwyler — on the road

Chns Muntwyler, Chairnan of the
Safety Committee for National
Express, visted UK operations for
three days as part of his inducton
programme The programme

1s aimed at developing newly
appointed Directors’ understanding
of the business and markets,

while simultaneously bullding
relationships with Group employees
and customers Being on-site
offered Chns an insight into the UK
Bus business's potential Atthough
identifying prospective areas for
growth are welcome outcomes

of the iInduction programme,

Chns stresses “surrounding all

of this activity 1s our dnve to
improve safety”

=
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46 Overview of Board of Directors

The Board 1s regularly reviewed to ensure that the mix of skills and expenence I1s
appropriate 1o meet the current needs of the Group An overview of the Directors’
experience 1S summarnsed below.

John Devaney Dean Finch Jez Maiden
Chairman Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director
Joaquin Ayuso Miranda Curtis Sir Andrew Foster
Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director
Position/Committee Length of service Public Board Operational
1 Name membership Age (as at 31 December 2011) Independent expanence exparience
John Devaney Charman 65 2 years 8 months N/A v v
Nomination {Chair)
Safety & Environment
Joaquin Ayuso Safety & Ervironment 56 6 months v v v
Miranda Curhs Remuneration (Chair} 56 3 years 6 months v 4 v
Safety & Emaronment
Jorge Cosmen Deputy Charman 43 6 years 1 month N/A v v
Nomination
Safety & Environment
Sir Andrew Foster Audit 67 7 years 4 months v v v
Safety & Ervironment
Nomination
Chns Muntwyler Audit 59 7 months v v v
Safety & Emvironment
{Char)
Lee Sander Remuneration 55 6 months v v
Safety & Ervronment
Tim Score Senior Independent 51 6 years 10 months v v v
Drrector
Audit (Charr)
Remuneration
Safety & Environment
Dean Finch Group Chief Executve 45 1 year 10 months N/A v v
Jez Maiden Group Finance 50 3 years 1 marth N/A v v

Dwector
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For detated biographies of our Board of
Directors and Company Secretary, please
go to nationalexpressgroup.com/
aboutus/ourmanagement

Or refer to your 2012 Notice of AGM

Tim Score Jorge Cosmen
Senior Independent Director Deputy Chaiman
Chns Muntwyler Lee Sander Michael Hampson
Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director Company Secretary
Government/
Intermnational Legal/M&A Finance regulatory
expernence expenence experience experience Commentary
v v v ' * Senior management and operational expernience
» Extensive Board expenence at a range of major organisations
* Industnal and infrastructure expenence
v v v v » Significant Board expenence at senior level
* Extensive knowledge of the transportation industry n both continental
Europe and internationalty
v v v + Sigrificant Board expenence eg Liberty Global, Telewest and Flextech
v v v v * Expertise in transportation industry
* Key shareholder represemative
v v v * Sgnificant public sector and infrastructure expenence
v v v * Extensive senior management expernence In transport and logistics industnes
both in the UK and intemational
* Senor Board expenence both UK and international
v v * Senior management and operatronal expenence in the US transportation industry
* Significant expenence at US government advsory level on transportation polcy
and management
v v v * Financial expertise from CFO positions
* Has acted as Interm Chairman
v v v v » Significant transportation expenence
* Chartered Accountant
v v v v * Significant financial expertise

» Chartered Management Accountant
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Governance

Corporate governance

The systems that the Board has established are designed
to safeguard both the shareholders’ investment and the

assets of the Group

2 The role of the Board

The Board leads and controls the Group
within a sound governance framework
The Board 1s responsible for setting the
Group’s strategic ams, 1ts values and
standards and ensuring the necessary
fimancial and human resources are In place
to achieve its goals To help discharge its
key responsibiiities the Board has a defined
Iist of key govemance and business
matters for which it 1s responsible, as
summansed opposite

In addition to the matters above, which
form the core of the Board's agenda the
timeline on pages 52 to 53 shows the man
tems of business addressed by the Board
during the year

3 The structure of the Board

The Board consists of a balance of
Executive and Non-Executve Directors
who collectively bring a strong and In-
depth mix of business skills and expernence
and considerable knowledge to assist

with Board dectsions A summary of the
members of the Board including the mix of
skills and expenence each Director brnngs
to the Board 1s given on pages 46 to 47
and full biographical details are included

in the Notice of AGM

The full terms of reference of

the prncipal Committees are avallable
on the Company’s website at
nationalexpressgroup.com

4 Key govemnance and business matters

Group Strategy and Risk Management

* Formulation and approval of long-term objectves

*  Approval of changes to capital structure

* Approval of major changes to management and control structure

*  Approval of extension of actvibies mto new busnesses or geographical areas
Financial and Internal Controls

» Oversight of nsk management and mternal control framework

* Approval of maor accounting policies

* Approval of financral statements and results announcements

* Approval of shareholder communications, circulars and notices of meetngs

¢ Approval of the auditor’'s remuneraton and recommendations
for therr appointment/removal

» Recommendation and declaration of dvidends

s Monitoring Group's businesses against plan and budget

* Approval of major captal expenditure projects

* Approval of matenal contracts

Board Membership, Remuneration and Committees

* Approval of the Company’s remuneration policy and principles
s Appointments of Directors

» Approval of remuneration of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors
and senior management

s Approval of the Charman’s fees

* Setting of committee terms of reference
* Approval of new share mcentive plans
Corporate Governance

s Undertaking of formal performance reviews of Board, committee
and individual directors

¢ Determining the independence of directors
* Recewving reports from the Company’s major sharsholders
Policies
* Review and approval of Group policies, for example
—health and safety
~nsk management strategy
—environment
-chartable and political donations




s Independence
The Board considers all of the
Non-Executives to be independent other
than Jorge Cosmen and considered John
Devaney 10 be independent prior to his
appomiment as Charman Jorge Cosmen
Is not considered to be iIndependent by
the Board due to his close links with the
ALLSA business and significant interests in
the shares of the Company which are held
through Eurcpean Express Enterpnses
bimited Despite his non-independence,
the Board feels that it benefits greatly
from Jorge Cosmen's extensive local
market knowledge and experience
Non-Executive Directors do not participate
in any of the Compary’s share option
or bonus schemes and therr service 1S
non-pensionable

s Principal committees of the Board
The principal committees established by
the Board are the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Commuttee, the Nomination
Committee and the Safety & Envircnment

Board meetings

Total mestings in 2011

Executive Directors

Dean Finch, Group Chief Executve
Jez Maiden, Group Finance Director
Non-Executive Directors

John Devaney

Joaquin Ayuso?

Jorge Cosmen

Miranda Curtis

Roger Devin?

Sir Andrew Foster

Chris Muntwylter®

Lee Sander?

Tim Score*

Committee Each Committee has defined
terms of reference and reports on its
proceedings to the Board In addition there
15 an Executive Cormmittee with authonty
to approve routine matters cf business
and a Tax and Treasury Committee which
reviews the Group's tax planning, banking
faciities and treasury reports All of the
Committees are authonsed to obtan legal
or other professional advice as necessary,
to secure the attendance of external
advisors at ther meetings and to seek
information required from any employee
of the Company in order to perform

therr duties The full terms of reference

of the prncipal Committees are avalable
on the Company’s website at
nationalexpressgroup com

The UK, Span and North America
Executves meet on a monthly basis
and matters dealt with at these
meetings are reported to the Group

Management structure

The main committees of the Board are the
Audit, Safety & Environment, Remuneration
and Nomination Committees

The UK, Spain and North Amernca
Executives report to the Group
Executve Committee

Board Committee
Executve Committee

The members of each pnncipal Committes
and man dutes are shown in each
Committee report on pages 54 to 58

The table below sets out the number of
meetings of the Board and its Committees
during the year and ndmdual attendance
by the Board and Committee members

at these meetings Dunng the year the
Charman met on several occasions with
the Non-Executives without the Executive
Directors present to allow nformal
discussions on a variety of 1Issues

Compaosition of the Board

Executve Committes
Executve Directors 2
Non-Executive Drectors 2
Independent Non-Executive Directors 6
Safety &
The Board Audrt Nomination Remunerasbon Erwironment
of Directors Committee Computtee Committee Committee
" 4 5 3 4
1 - - - -
1 - - - -
1 - 5 - 4
3 - - - 10
1 - 5 - 4
1 - - 3 4
6(7) 1(2) - 1(1) 2@
" 4 5 - 4
5 1(1 - - 33
3B - - 10) 1@
10(19) 4 - 3 4

Company Secretary Michasl Hampson also acts as Secretary to the Board Committees

P

Resigned from the Board on 28 June 2011 Maximum possible meetings shown in brackets
Appainted {0 the Board on 1 June 2011 Maximum possible megtings shown in brackets
Apponted o the Board on 11 May 2011 Maximum possible meetings shown in brackets
Tim Score was unable to attend an unscheduled Board meeting on 8 September 2011 due 1 a prior engagement

£
o
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50 Corporate governance continued

9 Executive Directors
The Executve Directors are responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group’s

7 The Chairman and the Group
Chief Executive
The roles of Charman and Group Chief

Seeng the front line
by Sir Andrew Foster

Non-Executve Directors spend
masses of time reading Board

papers and helping to develop
strategy and challenge performance

All valuable stuff, but it can be much
helped by seaing the sharp end of
service delivery 1 wisited our schocl
yellow bus service centre in Chicago
meeting dnvers, mechanics,
dispatchers, safety traners and
managers Nothing beats chatting
with the stafi, understanding
operatonal issues, safety concems
and how to Ink well with students
and schocls There was tremendous
spint and motvation behind ther
work to renew ther contract

After this, | spent a day with ten
CEOGs of School Boards, talking
about how our student transport
services could be mproved School
Boards are squeezed financially
and are seeking sustaned service
levels at lower cost It was satisfying
to explore jont ways we can work
through tough economic times
protecting safe service delvery

The chance to meet front ine staff,
students and CEQs, adds to report
understanding and demonstrates
support both ways A number of
staff commented “It 1s good to
know that there is real Interest and
understandmng at board level”

Chairman’s responsibilities

Executive are held separately The
Chairman 1s responsible for leading the
Board and ensunng its effectveness The
Group Chief Executive Is responsible for the

leadership of the Group and implementation

of the strategy and policies adopted by
the Board The division of responsibibes
between the Charman and Group Chief
Executive 1s shown in the fable below

Senior Independent Director

The Board appoints one of the
Non-Executive Directors to act as Senior
Independent Director and this role has
been held by Tim Score since April

2009 The role of the Semor Independent
Director 1s to provide a sounding board
for the Charman and to serve as an
intermediary for the other Directors where
necessary The Senior Independent
Director is also avallable to address
shareholders’ concems 1f they have been
unable to resolve these through normal
channels or when such channels would be
nappropnate Dunng the year the Senior
Independent Director has discussed

the performance of the Chaiman with
the Non-Executive Directors and has
partcipated in meetmgs with significant
institutional Investors

-
[-]

businesses, implementation of its strategy,
policies and budgets and 1its financal
performance Executive management
meetings, nvotving the Executive Drrectors
and senior management from the dvisions
are held regularly to discuss current issues

Information and professional
development

Reports from the Executve Directors,
which include in-depth financial
nformation, are circulated to Board
members pnor to every Board meeting
Senior management and advisers give
presentations to the Board on significant
matters dunng the year

Under the direction of the Chairman, the
Company Secretary Is responsible for
ensunng Board procedures are followed
and apphcable rules and regulations are
complied with and adwvises the Board on
governance matters All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and the appontment
or removal of the Company Secretary s a
matter for the Board as a whole Thereisa
procedure in place for any Director to take
ndependent professional advice where
considered necessary

On appointment, Directors are offered
traning as appropnate and are thereafter
encouraged to keap abreast of matters
affecting therr duties as a Director and to
attend training courses relevant to ther
role An induction process s in place for
new Directors, the aims of which are to

Group Chief Executive’s responsibilities

» chainng and managing the business of the Board

s together with the Group Chief Executive, leading the
Beard in developing the strategy of the business and
ensunng its effective implementation by the executive
management team

« ensuring effective dialogue with investors conceming
mutual understanding of objectives

* In comunction with the Nomination Committee, taking
respansibility for the composition and replerishment
of the Board

* penodically reviewing with the Board its working practices
and performance

= ensunng there i1s an effective contribution from the
Non-Executive Directors and a constructive relationship
between the Executive and Non-Executive Directors

* communicating a shared purpose and the culture, vision
and values of the Group

s the development and implermentation of management
strategy

* the day-to-day management of the Group

* managing the executive management team
 fostenng relationships with key stakeholders
* leading the Group Executive Committee

» in conjunction with the Group Finance Director,
communicating the Group’s financial performance to
investors and analysts

* liaising with the Chairman to ensure effective diatogue
with investors and stakeholders




* build an understanding of the nature
of the Company, rts business and the
markets in which it operates,

+ gstablish a Ink with the Group’s
employees, and

e buld an understanding of the Group's
main relatonships ncluding
stakeholders and customers

For example, as part of Chns Muntwyler's
introduction to the Group, he spent three
days visiting UK operations

Performance evaluation

Formal evaluaton of the Board's
performance 1s perodically camed out An
intemal evaluation was commenced in late
2010 and completed in the first quarter of
2011 The Board review concluded that
generally the Board was considered to be
working very well The Board felt that t was
receiving high quality information to aid

its decision-making both in terms of the
Board papers and specialist information
provided Board Committess were also
felt to be generally well-managed The
findings of the evaluation report resulted

n a number of recommendations for
improvement in the way the Board
operates, examples of which are shown

in the table below

In late 2071 the Board commenced an
axternally faciitated Board review process
Structured meetings were held with each
Non-Executive Director and the Company
Secretary and during the meetings the
following areas were considered

Areas for improvement

¢ The 2012 schedule of Board mestings should be reviewed
o ensure a more regular pattem and a cleser nk to the
Company's reporting and events calendar

* Additional Non-Executve Directors should be apponted to the
Board to add North Amencan and European expenence and
expertise and strengthen the breadth of skills and experience

around the Board table

+ Board papers should be circulated at least four days prnor
to the meeting (two of which must be working days)

¢ Board members should not schedule cther meetings on
Board days to remove some pressure from the schedule and

1z

* balance of skills and experence,

+ ndependence and knowledge
of the Company,

+ dwversity ncludmg gender,

+ how the Board works together as
aunt, and

+ other factors relevant to its effectiveness

Following this, ndmvdual draft meetng
reports were circulated for ndividual
Directors to sign A draft omnibus report
was than prepared for discussion by

the Charman and Company Secretary
prior to submission of a final report

for debate at the Board Achon plans
are being developed based on the
outcome of the evaluation process and
the recommendations and outcomes
ansing from the evaluabon process will be
reported on in next year's Annual Report

Relations with shareholders

The Board recognises the impertance of
mamntaning good communications with the 1.
Company's sharehoiders to ensure mutual
understanding of the Group’s strategy,
chjectives, govemance and performance

During the year shareholders are kept
informed of the progress of the Group
through regular corporate communications,
the Prelminary announcement, the Notice
of AGM, intenm management statements
and press releases regarding any other
significant developments, as well as the
dissemination of regulated nformation
Such communications are made avalable
to the London Stock Exchange and
smuttaneously available on the Company’s
website nationalexpressgroup com

Actions taken

(4)]
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The Company's website houses wide-
ranging information about the Group,
including the Annual Report and Accounts,
press releases, share price data and links
to subsidiary company websites

2ouewianob ajelodion

From time to time the Company nvites
research analysts and institutional investors
to presentations and site visits that are
designed to provide more understanding
of the strengths and capabilites of its
business operations and strategy In 2011
the Company held an Analyst and Investor
event n Madnd as well as hosting a visit to
school bus operations in the USA

The Company has introduced an electronic
communications facility to enable
shareholders to receive documentation
such as the Annual Report and Accounts
electronically and also to cast ther votes

by proxy electronically The Company

has also ntroduced an electronic proxy
appontment service for CREST members

Institutional shareholders

The Charman, Group Ctyef Executive
and Group Finance Director have

held a number of meetings with

existing and prospectve instritutional
shareholders dunng the year as well

as given presentatons following the full
year and half-year results They have
also met and gven prasentations to
research analysts and stockbrokers’
sales teams The Company's appointed
brokers and investor relatons advisors
i tum have provided regular confidental
feedback to the Company on the views
of the major institutions  The Charrman,
Senior Independent Director and other

A review was undertaken and the schedule of meetings was
adusted as proposed

Search consultants were bnefed and a shortlist of candidates
was drawn up Three high-calibre candidates were identified
and appointed as Non-Executve Directors to the Board Chins

Muntwyler (apponted 11 May 2011), Joaguin Ayuso (@pponted
1 June 201) and Les Sander @@appointed 1 June 2011)

Board papers are now circulated according to the
recommendahon, electronic dissemination of Beard papers

IS currently being tnalled

enable tme to be allocated to Non-Executive Directors to meet
on ther own in advance of Board meetings

Board members are schediuling their commitments according
to the recommendation
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52 Corporate governance continued

The Board has a regular schedule of meetings and convenes additional meetings as
required. Detalls of the number of meetings held and attendance at these meetings Is
on page 49. The average attendance rate of the members of the Board in 2011 was 93%.

Board actvity throughout the year
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I Review of Strategic five-year plan | I Presentation on UK Bus business Vist to Span and meetings with local Appaintment of Chins Muntwyler

[ Rewview of Non-Executive Drrectors’ fees

management
Presentation on Spanish Business

Rewview of Board and Commitee terms
of reference

[ Review of dwidend policy

| Interna’ review of Board effeciveness ]

as a Non-Executve Director

Review and approval of Group
Ant-Bribery Act Policy

Consideration of shorthsted
Non-Executive Director candidates

Approval of appontment of new
Auditor, Deloiite LLP

Approval of full year resulls
Recommendation of final dvidend

Pre-AGM engagement with
major shareholders

Board oversight and benchmarking

¢ the Board regularly and rigorousty
reviews and benchmarks
operational and functional
performance

* at each Board meeting the Board
recewves a report from the Group
Chief Executive on operational
performance, and from the Group
Finance Director on the financial
performance of the Group as a
whole and each of the Group's
businesses indvidually

+ the Board receives a presentation
at each of its meetings from either
a business Managing Director
or a functional head

For more information on our strategy,
please go to nationalexpressgroup.
com/investors

Non-Executive Directors are alse given
the cpportunity to meet institutional
sharesholders and are available by contact
through the normal channels Dunng 2011
the Charman and Sentor Independent
Director have both met with major
shareholders to discuss the governance
and direction of the Company

The Beard i1s provided with regutar updates
on the views and i1ssues raised by the
Comparny’s nvestors During the year the
Board received external presentations
from adwisors on shareholder and market
perception of the Group’s performance
and strategy Formal written responses
are given to correspondence receved
from shareholders, as well as bilateral
engagement through the Group Chief
Executive, Group Finance Director and
the Company’s investor relations function

Analyst coverage

The Company 1s aware of 21 analysts
who have published equity research
notes covering National Express Group
PLC during 2011 and we provide names
and contact numbers of ther firms on
our website

15

Pnvate shareholders

We welcome contact from our private
shareholders and are pleased to answer
therr gueries by telephone or through our
website at natonalexpressgroup com
We encourage our shareholders to make
use of our website to access Company
reports, Notices of meeting and general
shareholder and dvidend information
The website also provides a direct Iink to
Shareview (shareview co uk} which enables
shareholders to view and manage ther
shareholder account online

Annual General Meeting

Netice of the AGM and related papers are
sent to shareholders at least 20 working
days before the meeting Last year's AGM
included a presentation by the Group Chief
Executive on the progress of the business
and an opportunity for sharehclders to ask
questions All our Directors were avallable
formally to answer questions dunng the
meeting and many crculated and taked to
sharehclders informally afterwards Voting
on the resolutions was conducted by poll
Some 85% of the shares in Issue were
voted and the resolutions were passed
The results are published on the Group's
website shortly after the meetng

We lock forward to welcoming
shareholders to our 2012 AGM and
updating them on the progress of the
business this year
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Group Strategy and Financial and Board membership, Corporate Review and approval
Risk Management internal controls Rermuneration and Comnttees Governance 0 Group policies
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I Presentation on North Amencan Busness J I Proposal for intenm dividend I Revew of proposal to acquire Review and approval
Petermann and approval to procesd 2012 budget
Rewview of potential acquisttion, pnoing and Rewview of Sparish fleet replacement
due dilgence and approval o proceed programme I Review of North Amencan Business I Review of Non-Executve
Director fees {excluding
I Rewview of Board commtee membership ] Update on Group Staff Pension Plan Review of opporiunties n Gerrman the Charman)
Treasury Polcy update Rail Market
rF;esuﬁEs of pre-close statement for half ysar Rewew of half-year financial [ A ol Gr rances/struct I Review of Executive
statements eview Oup INSUrances/siniciure Directors’ and senior
exscutves' salanes

Appontments of Joaguin Ayuso and
Lee Sander as Non-Executive Directors

® Major shareholdings

As at 29 February 2012, the Company had been notified of the following nterests m its shares which represent 3% or more of the voting

nghts inthe Company

Ovdinary

ghares

Eliott Intermational LP Liverpeol Ltd Partnership 97,269,654
European Express Enterpnses Ltd 87,095,062
Prudential Plc 61,189,177
Legal and General Group Ple 18,564,889
Norges Bank 15,309,775

Percentage of Nature of
share caprtal* hokding
1907 Direct

1708 Direct

1199 Direct

364 Direct

300 Direct

The heldings for European Express Enterprises Lid are included in Jorge Cosmen's holdings which are shown in the Directors’

Remuneration Report on page 66

7 Parcentage of
Analysis of ordinary shareholdings Number of total number
at 29 February 2012 accounts of accounts
By size of holding
1-500 6,712 48 47
501-1,000 1,782 12 87
1,001-5,000 3.669 2650
5,001-50,000 1,452 1049
50,001-1,000,000 169 122
Over 1,000,000 62 045

13,846 100.00
By investor type
Individuals 13,004 9392
Institutional investors 734 530
Other corporate investors 108 078

13,846 100.00

Number of
shares

989,929
1,400,537
8,498,369
16,962,385
40,870,053
442,904,753
511,726,026

25,208,485
460,126,475
17,306,066
511,726,026

Percentage
of ordinary
capital

019
027
166
332
801
8655
100.00

492
91 68
340
100 00

9]
)
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Tim Score

The Audit Committee 1s confident
that the Group has a well-established
govemance structure with full control
and direction over appropnate
strategic, financial, operatonal

and complance 1ssues

Main activibies dunng the year
Dunng the year the Committee
considered the following

= oversight of the tender and
selection process for the role
of external audritor

* review of compliance with the
UK Corporate Governance Code

s review and update of the
Committee's terms of reference

» approval of the Group’s
Ant-Bnbery Policy

= review of the Group Risk Register

= review of UK Data Protection
Act Compliance

= review and update of Policy
on Proviston of Audit and
Non-Audit Services

» consideration of the results of
internal audit compliance testing
of financial controls (Annual Fitness
Checks} within the subsidianes

= review of the external audrtor's fees

« review of financial accounts and
accounting policies

54 Audit Committee overview

Dear shareholder

2011 has seen the Company continue to bulld upon the progress made
in 2010 as reflected in the results presented to you in this document.

Given the length of ime since the role of external auditor had been put out to
tender, t was agreed that the time was opportune to tender the position earty
n 2011 An invitation to tender was 1ssued to four major accounting firms and
following this process Deloitte LLP was appointed as the Company's auditor on
14 June 2011 following the resignation of Emst and Young LLP on 10 June 2011

The Audit Committee, supported by sentor management, conducted a ngorous
tender process focussing on quality, resources, independence and value The
tendenng firms were invited to put forward a proposal to the Audit Commuttee,
following bnefing meetings with key management and the Audit Committee
Chairman Following the review of these proposals by management and the
Audit Committee Chairman and after careful consideration, the Audit Committee
concluded that the proposal from Deloitte LLLP was the best overall in terms of
qualty, resources, independence and value and would better meet the Group's
requirements for external audit services going forward

The Audit Committee therefore recommended to the Board that Delortte LLP
be appointed as the Group's external auditor

The Committee has no set palicy on the tendenng frequency of their external
auditor or of the tenure of their external audrtor but will ensure that good corporate
govermnance 1s maintained and that the Committee Is regularly considenng

the marketplace, benchmarking the current level of service the Company

receves along with the fees they pay and the value being delivered There were
no contractual oblgations that acted to restnct the Committee’s choice of
external auditor

| would like to take this opportunity to thank Ermst & Young for their many
years of excellent service to the Company and to welcome Deloitte as the
Company's audritor

In 2011 the Committee dealt with its usual programme of business as wellas a
range of new Issues such as the Company’s new Anti-Bnbery Policy, envisaged
in my letter to you last year, to ensure compliance with the Bnbery Act 2010
Thus pohicy, together with new whistle blowing arrangements, 1S now In place
and compliance with the policy will be monitored going forward

For the first time in a number of years there has been a change to the membership
of the Committee following Roger Deviin's retirement from the Board Chns
Muntwyler has joined the Committee bringing it back to full strength and keeping
it in comphance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

Tim Score
Audt Committee Chaimman
29 February 2012




Audit Committee

Name of Director Postion

Tim Score Charman, Sanior
Independent Director

Roger Devin Non-Executive
Drector {resgned
28 June 2011)

Sir Andrew Foster Non-Executve
Dwector

Chns Muntwyler Non-Executive
Director (appointed

21 Novermnber 2011}

The Role of the Audit Committee

The duties of the Committee are those
delegated to it by its terms of reference,
detalls of which are summansed below

* oversees the process for selecting
the external auditor, assesses the
continuing INndependence of the extemal
auditor and recommends approval of
the audit fee to the Board,

¢ responsible for ensunng that provision
of non-audit services does not impair
the extemal auditor's ndependence
or objectmty,

¢ discusses with the external auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and any
ISSUES or concerns ansing from the
audit process,

* reviews effectiveness of the
Company's intemal control and nsk
management systems, including the
internal audit programme and major
findings 1dentified from internal auct
nwvestigations and reviews, and

* reviews the half-year and annual
financial statements including
accounting Judgements and policies

The Committee met four tmes in 2011

The Committee’s agenda reflects the
duties delegated to it by tts terms of
reference There are a number of standing
tems considered during the year such as
consideration of the Intemal and external
audit reports, review of the Annual Report
and Accounts, review of the preliminary
and half-year announcements, and review
of the Corporate Govemance Report

At the invitation of the Commuittee, and

as appropriate to the matters under
discussion, meetngs may be attendad by
the Executive Directors and nternal and
external auditors Full minutes are kept by
the Secretary of the malters considered
and decisions taken by the Committee
Outside of the meeting process the
Committes Chairman has regular contact
with the Executive Directors, other
Committes members and the audtors
on a vanety of topics

Review of independence

of external audrtor

The Audit Cormmitiee assesses

and reviews on a regular basis the
independence of the external auditor

As part of therr determination the

Audit Committee considers a report

by the external audrtor on the firm's
independence which 1s required in order
to carry out ther professional duties and
responsibiities as auditor

Policy on auditor providing

non-audt work

The Committee has an approved policy
on the proviston of non-audit services by
its auditor for the following types of service

* services that are considered to have
‘general pre-approval’ by the Audit
Committee, by virtue of the approval
of the policy,

= services that require ‘specific pre-
approval, on a case-by-case basis,
before any work can commence, and

+ services that cannot be supplied by the
external auditor (‘prohibited services')

%]
4)]

The services that have general pre-
approval are tax, transaction mvestigation
and advisory and corporate finance
services The fees for these services are
pre-approved up to £50,000 for each non-
audit assignment undertaken and subyject
to an overall lmit of 75% of the total fees
pad to the external audtor For services
exceeding this imit specific pre-approval
1S required

spoday asjiuiwon

In deciding whether or not to grant
approval for the provision of specific
services by the external auditcr, the Audit
Committee includes In its consideration the
following factors

{ whether the external auditing firm 1s
best placed to prowide an effective and
efficient service, given its familianty with
the Company’s processes, systems
and people, and

(i) the level of non-audt fees pad to
the external auditor in the year as
a proportion of the annual external
audit fee

The majonty of non-audit work undertaken
by the external auditor dunng the year
relates to advice in respect of tax advisory
and other regulatory services These

tems the Committee believes would be
impractical and costly to provide through

another party



Governance
56 Nomination Committee overview

John Devaney Dear shareholder

2011 has been a busy year for the Nomination Committee. In the early part
All candidates for Board positions of the vear, as indicated in my letter to you last year, the Committee reviewed
participate tn a proper evaluation the existing balance of skills and expenence on the Board and concluded
process managed by the Normination that additional expertise of Continental European and North Amencan
Committee to ensure that the best markets would further strengthen the Board going forward.
candidates are appointed The Committee then undertook an externally faciltated search process to identify

suttable candidates 1 am pleased to report to you that the search was successful
in identifying three exceptional candidates in Joaquin Ayuso, Chns Muntwyler and
Lee Sander, all of whom we have now appointed as independent Non-Executive
Directors of your Company

The Committee has also undertaken further work on reviewing the succession
Main activities dunng the year plans for the seror executwe roles within the Company's management together
Dunng the year the Committee with the development plans in place for such executives to seek to ensure that,
« evaluated the balance of skills, when the need anses, good intemal candidates are available to compete for Board

expenence, independence, diversity and senior management positions

and knowledge on the Board and We have also considered the 1ssue of diversity this year The Committee has

then prepared a descnption of the recommended to the Board that it should retain its existing policy of seeking to find

role and capabilittes required for the very best candidate for any Board level position, irmespective of the gender of

the role of Non-Executive Director that candidate However, the Committee recognises that diversity at Board level I1s
+ appointed search consultants to a positive thing and so the Board has set an aspirattonal target that by 2015, 30%

identify a shorthst of candidates of its members will be women, in ine with the recommendations of the Davies

for the role of Non-Executive Report published n early 201

Director and interviewed In 2012 the Committee will continue to assess the balance of skills, expenence,

candidates, following which three
candidates were recommended
for appointment, Joaquin Ayuso,
Chns Muntwyler and Lee Sander

» considered Lord Davies’ report on
Diversity, published in February 2011
and recommended the Board adopt

knowledge and expertise of the Board to ensura it continues to meet the needs
of the Company going forward

the aspirational target that by 2015 John Devaney
30% of the Board should be women Nomination Committee Chaiman
«the Chairman, as Chairman of the 29 February 2012
Nomination Committee appointed
search consultants to draw up a The Role of the Nomination Committee
shorthist of candidates for the role The key responsibilities of the Nomination ~ *  prepares a description of the role
of Group Gompany Secretary and Committee are summansed below and requirerments for any particular
interviewed candidates, following appoaintment based on its evaluation
which Michael Hampson was * ;e(f%r;st::ga ;g: Eeenan:)yp])l:gvg]ngf of the Board as a whole
appointed on 30 January 2012 the Board, candidates to fil Board The terms and conditions of appomtment
* raviewed succession planning vacancies as and when they anse, of the Non-Executive Directors are available
across the Group for nspection at the Company’s registered

* gwes full consideration {o succession
planning, and keeps under review the
Nomnation Committee leadership needs of the organisation,
both Executive and Non-Executive,

office dunng normal business hours and at
the AGM of the Company and are avalable
on the Company’s website The Non-

Name of Director Position Executive Directors disclose to the Board
John Devaney Charman * reviews the time required from a ther other significant commitments The
S Ancrews Foster Non-Executive Drector Non-Executive Director and uses procedures adopted by the Company n
Jorg Gasmen Non-Executie Drector performance evaluation to assess relation to Directors’ confiicts of interest
whether the Non-Executive Director are detatled on page 72
! NCEN [1I{
; :Ez u?. esg enocugh time on fuffiling Extemal advisors are appointed when
recruiting Board members, they use as
* leads the process for Board abasis for therr search a descrption of
appointments and makes the role and capabilties required for a
recommendations to the Board, and particular appointment proposed by the

Nomination Commutiee
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Safety & Environment Committee overview

Chns Muntwyler

Safety 1s important in any business
but it 1s particularly so in this
Company Seeking to ensure the
safety of our employees and
customers 1s both morally and
financially correct,

Main actmvities dunng the year
Dunng the year the Committee

» approved the launch of the Group's
Global Safety Standards

* reviewed progress on
implementation of the Group’s
Cnving out Harm Inttiative

» commissioned an independent
review of safety in Morocco and
monitored its recommendations

» visited Group locations to review
safety practices and procedures

« reviewed the Group's Environment
Strategy Plan

= considered the Group’s safety KPls

Safety & Environment Committee

Name of Director Position

Chns Muntwyler Charman (apponted
25 Juty 2011}

Miranda Curtis Non-Executive
Director

Jorge Cosmen Non-Executive
Director

Roger Deviin Non-Executive
Director [resigned
28 June 2011)

John Devaney Non-Executve
Director

Sir Andrew Foster Non-Executve
Director

Tim Score Senior Independent

Director

Dear shareholder

| have recently taken over the chair of the Safety & Envircnment Committee
and would like to thank Miranda Curtis for overseeing the many inibatives
that were commenced dunng her time as Chair of this Committee.

Safety 1s important in any business but it 1s particulary so in this Company
Seelung to ensure the safety of our employees and customers s both morally

and financially correct It is for this reason that the Board has a special committee
dedicated to this 1ssue In my view It 1s Imperative that leadership from the top I1s
shown in this area if a concem for safety is to be taken sencusly within a business,
and | would like to commend Dean Finch for the leadership he and his executive
team have shown In keeping this issue at the very top of the Cormpany’s agenda

Dunng 2011 the Commuttee has been menitonng the progress of the ‘Dnving Out
Harm' programme referred to by Miranda in her letter to you last year Excellent
progress has been made in many areas and the Committee 1Is committed to ensunng
that thus progress 1s consolidated and built upon

The Committee has once again this year been paying particular attention to

the Company’s operations in Morocco which, in some regards, present the
most challenges from a safety perspective | am pleased to report that the
recommendations of the onginal Arthur D Little {ADL} review referred tc last year
have now been fully mplernented and a further review and audit undertaken by
ADL, showed significant progress made by the management team in improving
dnver competence

Dunng the year the Committee also approved a new environmental policy for the
Group and reviewed plans for a new corporate environmental framework

Chns Muntwyler
Safety & Environment Committee Chairman
29 February 2012

The Role of the Safety & Environment Committee

The key responsibiities of the Committee * reports penodically to the Board its

are summarnsed below observations on the safety management
arangements in place and reviews and
makes recommendations to the Board
on any specific safety management
issues relating to the Group or any
substdiary company, and

* responsible for reviewing and
challenging constructively the structure,
content and operation of the safety
management arrangements put
in place by members of the
executive management of the ¢ reviews and monitors the Company’s
Group's operating companies, environmental performance and targets

57

Suoday SapuwLIo)




Governance
58 Remuneration Committee overview

Miranda Curtis

We are very aware of the continuing
need to ensure the Company’s
remuneration policies and prachces
are in ine with best practice whilst
at the same time ensuring that our
hughly regarded management team
are retamed and rewarded

appropnately

Main activities dunng the year
During the year the Committee
considered the following tems
of business

«Executive Directors’ and senior
executives’ salary levels

* annual bonus scheme terms for 2011
» review of the Non-Executive fees

= performance targets to apply to the
2011 Long Term Incentive Plan awards
{including the total shareholder retum
comparator group used and the range

Dear shareholder

This 1s my first letter to you as Chairman of the Remuneraton Committee, arole
| tock over when Roger Devim left the Board dunng 2011. I would like to thank
Roger for his contnbution during his time as Chair of the Committee.

As In previous years the Committee has been very conscious of the continuing focus
of both ndvidual and institutional investors on the 1ssue of executive remunerabion,

I and my fellow Non-Executive Directors on the Remuneraton Committee are very
aware of the continuing need to ensure the Company’s remuneration policies and
prachces are In line with best practce whilst at the same time ensunng that our highty
regarded management team are retained and rewarded appropnately for the delivery
ofthe Company’s strategic objectives

This year the Committee did undertake its usual review of remuneration {including
considenng the results of an independent benchmarking of executive salanes

and the Non-Executive Chairman’s fees) However, in view of the current macro-
economic environment in which we are operating and the Company's determination
to control costs, all Board members, both executive and non-executive, have
decided to freeze their current salary and fee levels for 2012 notwithstanding the
potental for increases noted as a result of the Committee’s review process

The Committee considers that the bonuses awarded to the Executive Directors

for 2011 to be justified given the Company’s financial performance in 2011

Bonuses were paid at 100% of the maxamum for the Chuef Executive and 100%

of the maximum for the Finance Director with these bonuses ansing as a result of

a growth in nomalised profit of 10%, continuing Improvement in the Group’s margin
and the substantial progress achieved aganst specific key strategic objectives

With regard to future remuneration policy, the Committee believes that the long term

of eamings per share targets set)
incentive and bonus structures agreed for 2012 to be appropnate and as such will
* 2011 award levels under the properly Incentivise the Executive Directors to achieve the Company’s mid- and
Company's share plans short-term objectives
* recrutment packages for new
senior executives
: * testing of performance condtions Miranda Curtis
and vesting of Long Term Incentive Remuneration Committee Chaiman
Plan awards granted \n 2008 29 February 2012

¢ Long Term Incentive Plan
enttlements upon redundancy

+ outline of 2012 bonus scheme

Remuneraton Committee

Role of the Remuneration Committee
The key responsibiities of the Committee

The full termns of reference of the Committee
are avallable on the Company’s website at

Name of Director Posrtion
areto nationalexpressgroup com

Miranda Curtis Charrman
; Roger Devin Non-E ~e Drsctor + determine the fees of the Charman, me membe:js of thc;zh Committea
‘ fesgred 28June 201)  ,  etermine the remuneration and do served [t)mng e year were all
‘ Lee Sander ng{;&.’;@g’fpﬁgm o conditions of employment (including independent Directors
| to the Commitiee any termnation arrangements) of the
! 22 November 2011) Executive Directors,

Tim Scor Senior Independent
‘ mseore gwgg'a s approve the remunerabon and conddions
|
| Management attendees of ernploymenct’ ocfghe Dmisional Chief

Executves an mpany Secretary;

1 Dean Finch Group Chief Execurtive ©
: Stephen Gonnock MBE  Group HR Director * review the remuneration and conditions
! of employment of the senior
|

General Counsel and
Compary Secretary

Michael Hampson

management teamn, and

select and appoint any remuneration
consultants who adwvise the Committee
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Directors’ remuneration report

The Committee members and
management attendees did not participate
In any discussions directly relating to

therr own remuneration or performance
during the year This report sets cut the
polcy for the financial year just ended,

for the forthcorming year and, subject to
ongong review, for subsequent years The
report has been approved by the Board
and the Remuneration Committee {the
‘Committee’) Shareholders will be invited
to approve the report at the 2012 AGM

Adwvisors to the Committee

The Committee has appomnted
independent remuneration consultants,
New Bndge Street (NBS) to advise on all
aspects of senior executive remuneration
NBS has no other connection with the
Group cther than in the provision of
advice on executive and employee
remuneration and nor dees its ulhmate
parent, Aon Corporation

Remuneration of Non-Executive
Directors

The fees of the Non-Executive Directors
are set by the Board as a whole and

those of the Chaiman are set by the
Remuneration Committee in both

cases following an annual review The
review takes account of fees paid for
similar positions in the market, the time
commitment required from the Director
estmated to be 100 days per year for the
Chairman and 20 days per year for the
other Nan-Executve Directors) and any
additional responsibilities undertaken, such
as acting as Charman to one of the Board
Committees or fulfiling the role of Senior
Independent Director Non-Executive
Directors are not eligible to receve pension
entiierments or bonuses and may not
participate in share option schemes

In late 2011 the Committee undertook s
usual review of remuneration (including
considenng the results of an independent
benchmarkng of executve salanes and the
Non-Executive Chairman's fees) However,
N view of the current macro-economic
emvironment and the Company’s clear focus
on cost control, all Board members, both
Executive and Non-Executive, agreed to
freeze ther curent salary and fee levels for
2012 This freeze takes place notwithstanding
the potentiat for increases noted as a result
of the Committee’s normal review process
In taking this decision, the Board noted the
Group-wide salary iIncrease budgst which
was set at 2% for 2012

Remuneration policy for
Executive Directors
Remunerabon policy 1s based on
the following broad principles set
by the Committee

* {0 provide a competitve remuneration
package to attract and retan qualty
individuals,

* o algn remuneration to dnve the overall
objectives of the business,

¢ 0 align the interests of managernent
with the interests of shareholders, and

* {0 provide the foundation for overall
reward and remuneration beyond the
specific roles falling within the direct
remit of the Remuneration Committee

The objective of this polcy 1s aligned

with the recommendation of the UK
Corporate Governance Code on Directors'
remuneration That Is to provide a level

of remuneraton 'to attract, retain and
motivate Directors of the quality required
to run the Company successfully, but
avald paying more than 1s necassary for
this purpose A significant proportion of
Executive Directors’ remuneration should
be structured so as to Ink rewards to
corporate and individual performance’

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

Charmman’s fee
Non-Executive Director basic fee

Senior Independent Director additional fee

Commrtee Charman additional fee

Inmplernenting its policy, the Committee
grves full consideration to the pnnciples set
out n the UK Corporate Governance Code
with regard to Directors' remuneration

and due regard 1s given to the guidance
1ssued by investor protection bodies and
institutional investors more generally

Remuneration policy 1s reviewed on an
ongoing basis against the Committee’s
broad principles and in ight of emerging
best practice in corporate governance
The Committee believes that t continues
to take Into account the pnnciples of
sound nsk management when setting
pay A substanhal proportion of the current
remunerahon packages of the executive
directors 1s weighted towards long-term
performance with annual borus also the
subject of part deferral Into the Company's
shares Clawback provisions also apply
In the event of a mis-statement of the
Company's resuiits and a broad range

of financial and non-financial targets are
Included in our Ncentive programmes
Appropriate laison takes place between
the Remuneration and Audit Committees
as part of an effectve remuneration nsk
assessment process In line with the
Assocation of Briish Insurers’ (ABI's)
Guidelines on Responsible Investment
Disclosure, the Committee ensures that
the incentive structure for Executive
Directors and senior management will not
rase environmental, social or governance
(ESG) nsks by inadvertently motivating
irresponsible behaviour More generally,
with regard to the overall remuneration
structure, there 1s no restinchion on the
Committee which prevents it from taking
nto account corporate govemnance on
ESG matters and it takes due account of
issues of general operational nsk when
structuring incentves The Committee
takes due account of remuneration
structures slsewhere in the Group when
setting pay for the Executve Drrectors

201 2010

£ £
225,000 225,000
45,500 44,000
5,000 5,000
10,000 7,000

1
(o)
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

(for example, consideration is gvento the a1 Elements of remuneration

overall salary increase budget and the
incentive structures that operate across
the Group)

The Group operates a leadership and
development programme which includes
an appraisal system for Drectors

and senior management In 2011

the appraisal system used balanced
scorecards to assess performance
aganst safety, customer, people and
community objectives The results

of the annual appraisal system are
taken mio consideration when setting
remuneration levels

Fixed versus vanable remuneration
A substantial proportion of the Executive
Directors’ pay 1s performance related
The charts below show the balance
hetween fixed and performance related
pay at target and maximum performance
levels based on the elements of National
Express’s remuneration packags set out
overleaf Maximum performance assumes
achievernent of maximum bonus and full
vesting of shares under the LTIP

The components of the Executive Directors’
remuneration are summansed overleaf

{i) Basic salary

The salary of ndividual Executive Directors
15 reviewed at 1 January each year
Account is taken of the performance of the
indmidual concemed, together with any
change in responsibilives that may have
cccurred and the rates for smilar roles in
two comparator groups of companies
The comparator groups for the 2011
financial year were () a group of transport/
leisure sector companies and (i) a group of
companies from the FTSE Mid 250 drawn
from across all sectors The constituents
of each group were selected to be broadly
reflective of the size {market capitalisation
and tumover) and complexity of National
Express at the time of completing

the review For 2012 the comparator
groups will be based on similar groups

of transport/leisure and general sector
companies drawn from the FTSE 250
when considenng pay increases for 2013

In setting the Executive Directors’
remuneration, due account 1s taken of the
salary budget for the Group as a whole
and the polcy that 1s applied across all
employees when setting individual

salary levels In line with this policy, the
performance of each Executive Director is
taken into account along with the results
of comparative benchmarking In light of
these factors, and after talang into account
broader economic conditions, salary levels
are then set by the Committee As noted
earler, the Board agreed that no increases
In salary or fees levels would take place

for 2012 given current macro-economic
conditions and the Comparny's clear focus
on cost control

(i) Performance related bonus

The maximum potential bonus payable to
Executive Directors in 2011 was 125% of
salary for Dean Finch and 112 5% of salary
for Jez Marden A maximum of 60% of
salary was payable based on achieverment
aganst a slding scale of challenging
nomalised profit targets {the defintion of
nomalised profit 1s set out in the Glossary
on page 153} and a maximum of 40% of
salary was payable based on non-financial
targets that encompassed customer,
operational excellence and people
obyectives (To achieve standardisation

of bonus structure across the Group

the split between financial and non-
financial objectives was adjusted to 60%
financial objectives and 40% non-financial
objectives for the Executive Directors )



The addtional maximum of 25% of salary
avatlable to the Group Chief Executive

and 12 5% of salary available to the Group
Finance Director was payable based on
achievement aganst a challenging siding
scale of margin improvement targets

{the defintion of margin 1s set out In the
Glossary on page 153) which, along with
normalised profit, reflect the key short-term
financial obyectives of the Group

In relation to the proportion of the bonus
determined by performance against
financial targets, Executive Directors
recenve 25% of the bonus upon achieving
95% of budget, 50% of the bonus upon
achieving budget and 100% upeon
achieving a stretch target whuch, for 2011,
was 110% of budget

The targets set inrelation to non-

financial performance are key strategic
Group objectives that are tattored to the
responshbiltes of each ndvidual Executve

Director and, in aggregate, are considered
to be simiarly challenging to the range of
financial targets set In addrion, no bonus
N respect of non-financial performance

is payable unless 95% of the Group's
normalsed profit budget 1s achieved ft

15 a pre-condition to the award of any
bonus that the Remuneration Committee
has determined that there has been a
matenal improvement in safety processes,
procedures and outcomes during the year
In the relevant business unit before any
bonus 1s paid

Bonuses are subject to a 25% deferral
requirement into the Company’s shares

for a penod of one year Deferred shares
are awarded under the Executive Deferred
Bonus Plan (EDBP) Receipt of the deferred
shares 1s subject to continued service and
the same 'good leaver' provisions and
other terms as noted for the Long Term
Incentve Plan below The 2011 bonus also
included clawback provisions that require

2 Summary of Executive Director’s remuneration

Element Ob)jective Performance penod

Basic salary To position at a competitive Annually
level for similar roles within
comparable markets

Performance To incentivise delivery 1 year
related bonus of performance cbjectives

Pension To provide competitive benefits Ongoing
in Iine with market practice and to
act as a retention mechanism and
reward long service

Long Term Incentive To drnve performance, ad retention 3 years
Plan and align the interests of Executive
Directors with shareholders

QOther benefits To prowide competitive benefits In ine Ongoing
with market practice

Share ownership To ahgn Executve Directors N/A
guidelines with shareholders

the deferred shares to be forfetted or repaid
should it be necessary for the Company

to restate matenally ts 2011 results within

a two year pencd following the deferred
bonus being awarded The proportion of
the bonus that would be the subjectto a
clawback would depend on the extent to
which the onginal bonus payment turned
out to be false following the publication of
corrected results

In terms of an overview of the 2011 bonus
plan and the extent to which targets were
met, this s set out in the table overleaf

Policy

Indwvidual pay levels (using comparable
mid-market data for gudance) as
appropnate are determined by reference
to the iIndmidual's perforrmance,
expenence N post and potential

Bonus payments are based on the
achievement of specrfied corporate
{60% financial and 40% non-financial)
objectives 25% subject to mandatory
deferral nto shares for one year

from award

Both Executve Directors are

excluded from the pension

scheme and are provided with a

cash alternative with which they

make therr own arrangements

Only basic salary 1s pensionable

Half of any award 1s subject to EPS
growth The remaining hatf 1s subject to
the relabive total shareholder return (TSR)
of the Company compared aganst a
bespoke peer group

Executive Directors receve prvate heatth
and long-term sickness Insurance and a
cash alternative to a fully expensed car

A sharehoiding of 100% of current salary
should be achieved within five years

o)
'
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

As descnbed In the table below bonuses
were payable at 125% of salary for the
Group Chief Executive and 112 5%

of salary for the Finance Director In
calculating these bonuses, the Committee
considered the safety performance of the
Company and concluded that a continued
mprovement in safety processes,
procedures and outcomes during the year
had been achieved

Deferred bonuses awarded n 2011 (based
on performance to 31 December 2010)
vested, subject to the terms of the award
on 25 February 2012 as set out n the table
on page 68

For 2012 bonus payments will be based on
a similar structure as detaled above Any
matenal changes to the Company's annual
bonus policy for 2012 from the policy
described above would, as a mirvmum,

be disclosed and explained n next year’s
Directors’ Remuneration Report

2 Summary of Bonus Scheme 2011
% of Salary

Group Chief Executive 125%
Group Finance Director 112 5%

Maximum Bonus Potential

(i} Pensions

Under the terms of their service
agreements, Execulive Directors are not
entitled to become members of one of
the Group pension schemes nstead they
receine payment of a fixed percentage

of salary Dean Finch recerves a 35%
salary supplement and Jez Maiden
receves a 25% salary supplement in

lleu of pension contributions

(v} Incentive scheme and share options
(a) Long-term incentive arrangements
The National Express Group Long Term
Incentive Plan (‘'LTIP") was approved

by shareholders at the 2005 AGM and
operates as the Company’s sole type of
executive long-term incentive arrangement
The LTIP consists of annual awards of
Performance and Matching shares

Details of the plan are pronded below

The Committee approved minor changes
to the LTIP during the year to allow a
proportion of future awards {o be made as
approved share options under a HMRC
approved option plan structure

Detalls

25% of bonus subject to
mandatory deferral into Company
shares for one year from award™

This change does not increase the gross
benefit to the participant or the costs to
the Company or shargholders

Performance shares

Executve Directors are eligible to receive
a condittonal award of shares up to an
equivalent of 100% of basic salary

The vesting of the award 1s cocnditional
on meeting the performance conditions
sel out below

Matching shares

Executive Directors are also ehgible to
receve awards of matching shares that are
based on a personal nvestment in National
Express Group PLC shares funded ether
through using an annual bonus award

to purchase shares or through pledging

of shares held nct already allocated to

the LTIP Matching awards are made on
the basis of up to two Matching shares
being awarded (based on the pre-tax
value of the nvestment) for each National
Express share pledged or purchased

The maximum value of nvestment In any
year 15 30% of basic salary Matching

Achievement

Group Chief Executive
125% and Group Finance
Director 1125%

Bonus Potential at 95% of 15%
budgeted normalised profit
before tax (PBT) Proportion of nomnalised
On targst bonus potential 30% Awarded on achieving budget profit budget achieved
at 100% of budgeted 110%
nomalised PBT Bonuses payable at 60%
Stretch bonus for 110% of 60% Awarded on achieving a stretich ~ Of salary
budgeted normalised PBT target of 110% of budgeted,
normalised PBT
Margin improvament 0% to 25% of salary Awarded by reference to Margin targets achieved**
bonus potential Group Chief Executive challenging margin targets Bonuses payable at 25%
0% to 12 5% of salary of salary for Group Chief
Group Finance Director Executive and 12 5%
of salary for Group
Finance Director
Non-financial targets 40% Awarded on meeting key Targets achieved 100%
{underpinned by achievernent strategic Group objectves Bonuses payable at 40
of 95% of budgeted tallored to each Executive P %
normalised PBT) Director's responsbiibes
Notes

It 15 a pre-condition 1o the award of any bonus that the Remuneration Comimittee has determined that there has been a matenal improvernent in safety processes,

procedures and outcomes dunng the year in the relevant business unit before any bonus 1s paid

- Defarred shares would be required to be forfeitad or repaid should it be necessary 1o restate materially the Company’s 2011 resuits within a two year peniod following
the award of the bonus The proportion of the bonus subject 1o clawback would depend on the extent to which the onginal bonus tumed out 1o be falsg foliowing the
publication of corrected results

"= Marginmprovements in four out of five divsions and margins mamtained in Spain against a challenging macro-economic backdrop




share awards are also conditional on the
performance conditions set out below

if a participant ceases employment before
vesting for a ‘compassionate’ reason {eg
redundancy, retirernent, death in service,
sale of business cut of the Company’s
group) his/her awards will ordinarily vest
The extent of vesting will be determined
by apphng the relevant performance
conditions to the date of cessation and
scaling back the number of shares
awarded on a pro rata basis (rounded up
to the next complete six month penod from
the date of grant) unless the Commitiee
determines that it would be mappropnate
to apply a pro rata reducton Awards
lapse on cessation of employment for
any other reason

2 LTIP performance conditions
There are normally two distinct
performance conditions applying to
awards of both Performance Shares
and Matching Shares made

First, the performance condiion attached
to one-hatf of an award (Part ‘A) 1s

based on the Company's normalised
diuted eamings per share ([EPS) growth
performance in excess of nflaton over
afixed three-year penod {three financial
years commencing with the financial year
in which the award 1s made)

The performance condition attached to the
other half of an award (Part ‘B’) 1s based
on the Company’s Total Shareholder
Return (TSR} performance over the same
fixed three-year pencd relative to the TSR
performance of a bespoke comparator
group of transport companies taken
predominantty from the FTSE Industnal
Transportation and FTSE Travel & Leisure
sectors The companies compnsing the
comparator group have been chosen on
the basis of ther comparability to National
Express Group PLLC (based on ther

size and scope of business operations)
The Cormmittee has retained the power

w respect of this element of an award to
apply an eamings underpin

There 15 no ability to retest erther
performance conditon EPS and TSR have
generally been chosen for the LTIP as the
most appropnate measures of the Group's
fong term performance, since EPS 1s an
important growth measure considered
within the Company and a dnver of
shareholder value and TSR improves
shareholder aignment and 1s consistent
with the Company objective of providing
superor long-term returns to shareholders

Performance conditions for LTIP awards granted in 2011

Part A of Award - EPS conditions

EPS for the financial year
ending 31 December 2013

Less than 26 1p

261p

29 3p

Between 26 1p and 29 3p

N
W

For awards granted in 2011 the EPS
performance conditions applying to Part A
of the Awards and the TSR performance
conditions applying to part B of the Awards
are set out in the table below

Hodal uonesaunwas $103931Q

To determine vesting of LTIP awards,

the Committee retains independent
consultants to test the proportion of an
award vesting under the relative TSR test
and then reviews the conclusion of this
analysis before shares formally vest With
regard to the EPS targets, vesting 1s based
on the Company's audited results with
laison, as required, between the Audit
and Remuneration Committees

The table below sets out the percentage
of each extant award that would have
vested if the performance conditions
had been tested at 31 December 2011
(without making any allowanice for pro
rata reduction for any period of less than
three years)

Part B of Award - TSR condrbions

Percentage of part A ofthe  Rank of the Company’s TSR Percentage of part8
Award that vests (as noted above) of the Award that vests

0% Below median 0%

30% Medan 30%

100% 20th percentle 100%

30%-100% prorata  Bstween median and 20th percentle 30%-100% prorata

Indicative percentage of LTIP awards vesting based on performance to 31 December 2011

Year of Award
2009

2010

2011

TSR element’
85 33%
3802%
30 86%

EPS element’ Total (max 100%}
Not applicable 85 33%
3740% 7542%
3750% 68 36%

' For 2009 TSR applies to 100% of the award For 2010 and 2011 TSR applies to 50% of the award and EPS apphes to 50% of the award
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Performance cntena

The Committee beleves that budgeted
profit and/or EPS growth as performance
measures for the discretonary bonus
scheme and long term incentives, In
maost normal circumstances, provide

a transparent and accessible method

of gauging the financial performance of
the Company The Company calculates
performance aganst these performance
measures by reference to the profit or
eamings per share figures reported i

the Company's audited accounts, which
the Company believes to be the most
transparent and objective measure of the
Company’s profit or EPS The Committes
also monitors the Group's TSR aganst
the FTSE All-Share Travel & Leisurs Index
as a broad measure of the Company's
performance TSR measured aganst a
more tailored group of comparators has

been used by the Company as apnmary =

performance measure for awards made
to Executive Directors under the LTIP as
outined on page 67

It s currently intended that the
performance targets that will apply to
awards granted in 2012 will agan be an
equal blend of EPS and TSR |f it were
considered appropriate to make any
fundarmental changes to the performance
targets n 212, it s anticpated that this
would be accompanied by a consultation
with major shareholders

Total shareholder return versus
FTSE All-Share Travel & Leisure Index

Source Thormmson Reuters

Each point plotted on the above graph represents the to1al cumulative shareholder
return on an investrment made n Natwnal Express Group on 31 December 2006
compared with an investment in the FTSE All Share Travel & Leisure Index, with

the comesponding annual retums

# Directors’ minimum shareholding

In order to align the interests of the
Directors mere closely with the
shareholders, the Remuneration
Committee has also determined that the
Executive Directors should build up a share
fund equalto at least one year’s currert
salary over a penod of five years

The graphs below show a companson

of National Express Group PLC total
cumulative shareholder retum agamnst that
achieved by the FTSE All-Share Travel &
Leisure Index and the FTSE 250 Index
These indices have been selected because
the Company 1s a constituent of each index
{with the former including many members
of the LTIP TSR peer group} and the
Committee, therefore, feels that these are
the most appropnate indices to represent
the Company’s relative performance

Directors’ service contracts, notice
penods and termination payments
Executive Directors

The contract dates and notice penods for
the Executive Directors are shown in the
table on page 65

The service contracts of both the Executive
Drrectors, which are roling contracts,
contan a provision, exercisable at the
cption of the Company, to pay an amount
on early termination of employment equal
to one year's salary or, In the case of Dean
Finch, one year’s salary, salary supplement

in eu of pension and car allowance

The Company will use the payment n
lleu of Notice provisions when the speed,
certanty and protection of restrictve
covenants afforded by such clauses

are thought to be in the best interests

of the Company and the crocumstances
surrounding the departure of the retevant
Director justiy ther use

In any event the Committee's policy I1s
that payments to Directors con termination
should reflect the circumstances that
preval at the tme, also taking account, if
appicable and approprate, the Director's
duty to mitigate

The Committee continucusly reviews

1s policies on executve remuneration
and severance in the best iInterests of
shareholders Guidance on best practice
expectations is taken into account pnor to
agreeing drrectors’ contractual provisions

Executive Directors’ external
appomintments

Under the terms of therr service
agreements, Board approval 1s required
before any extermal appointment may be
accepted by an Executive Director The
Executive Director 1s permitied to retan
any fees paid for such services Details
of fees receved by Executve Directors
in 2011 are shown below

Total shareholder return versus

FTSE 250 Index

Source Thomson Reuters

annual returns

Each pont plotted en the above graph represents the total cumulatrve shareholder
return on an investment made m National Express Group on 31 December 2006
comparad with an nvestment N the FTSE 250 index, with the comesponding




2 Non-Executive Directors’
appointments
The Non-Executive Directors do not have
service contracts with the Cormpany but
are appcinted for an initial three-year term
Non-Executve Directors are typicaly
expected to serve for two three-year
termns, although therr appointment can be
terminated ether by them or the Company
on one month’s written notice It is open to
the Company to nvite a Non-Executive to
serve for a further penod after the expiry
of two three-year terms  All Directors ars
required to stand at least once every three
years for re-appointment by shareholders
The onginal appointment dates of the
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
are shown below

Senior executive remuneration

The Remuneration Committee reviews
and notes the salanes of senior executives
within the Group The salanes of this group
of employees by band are as shown below

Conditional award of shares

to Dean Finch

As disclosed in prior years, Dean Finch
was granted a share award in refation

to his appointment as Group Chuef
Executve under a one-off arrangement in
accordance with Listng Rule 94 2 (2)

The share award compnsed two parts,

an award of 28,023 shares (the ‘First
Award’) and an award of 18,281 shares
(the ‘Second Award’) Each award 1s
structured as an award of forfertable shares
In compensation for forfetted remuneration
in relation to jomning the Company The
First Award vested on 1 April 2011 and the
Second Award will ordinarly vest on 1 April
2012, subject to the terms of the award

At the time of vesting the relevant shares
subject to the awards will ceaseto be
subject to a nsk of forferture

Conditional award of shares

to Jez Maiden

As disclosed in prior years, Jez Maiden
was granted a share award under a similar
one-off arrangement to that descrbed

Executive Directors’ service contracts and notice penods

Durector
Jez Maiden
Dean Finch

Notice penod from the

Conftract date
17 Novemnber 2008
16 December 2009

Executive Directors’ external appointments

Director
Jez Maiden

Non-Executive Directors’ appointment dates

Director

Joaquin Ayuso
Jorge Cosmen
Miranda Curtis
John Devaney

Sir Andrew Foster
Chris Muntwyler
Lee Sander

Tim Score

Senior Executive remuneration

Salary band £000
201-410
151-200
101150
75-100

above for Dean Finch in respect of his
appointment as Group Finance Director
n 2008

The award compnsed three parts, an
award over 21,074 shares (the 'First Award’),
an award over 21,075 shares (the ‘Second
Award') and an award over 28,666 shares
(the Third Award’) Each award was
structured as a conditional nght to free
shares, the tenms of which were set after
taking account of Jez Maiden's forferted
awards (which included performance

and non-performance awards) The First
and Second Awards have now vested
The Third Award, which was due to vest
on 17 November 2011, did nct vest as the
performance targets applicable, which
were dentical to those set for the 2008
LTIP awards were not met Detalls

of the performance targets (a mix of
eamings per share and sharehclder retumn
targets are set out in note 4 to the LTIP
awards table on page 67

Notice penod from the
Director

12 months
6 months

Company
12 months
12 months

Fee

£46,500

Extemnal appointment
Yule Catto & Co plc

Date of appointment
1 June 2011

1 December 2005
1 June 2008

2 Apnl 2009

1 August 2004

11 May 2011

1 June 2011

21 February 2005

Number of
executives
2011

7
13
44
51

(o)
(4]
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Information subject to audit: Directors’ remuneration
% Directors’ emoluments

Salary/fees
£000

Executive Directors
Dean Finch 550
Jez Maiden 420
Former Executive Director
Ray O'Todle (resigned 5 May 2010) -
Non-Executive Directors
John Devaney {Chairman) 225
Tim Score (Senior Independent Director) 60
Jorge Cosmen (Deputy Chaimnan) 45
Joaguin Ayuso fapponted 1 June 2011) 30
Miranda Curtis 55
Roger Devin (resigned 28 June 2011) 32
Sir Andrew Foster 45
Chns Muntwyler {appointed 11 May 2011) 374
Lee Sander {gpponted 1 June 2011) 304

Performance
related Benafits i leu
bonus? Benefits' of pension
2000 £000 2000
687 25 182
472 24 105

' Benefits in kind ndude a cash aflemative 10 a fully expensed car, life assurance and health nsurance
. 25% of the bonus awarded 1s defermed nto the Company’s shares for a penod of one year

? Jez Maden sacnficed part of s cash bonus entitternent before ds award Pension contnbutions equal to the amount given up were made into pension plans

for the benefit of his dependants The amount shownin the bonus column reflacts the full bonus samed
*  Anaddtonal fee of £4,000 s paid for attendance at Board mesetings held outside the continent in which the Non-Executive Director s resident

a3 Directors’ shareholdings
Directors’ interests and transactions

Total
201
£000

1,454
1,021

225

The beneficial and non-beneficial Interests of the Directors in office as at 31 December 2011 are shown below

Executive Directors

Dean Finch

Jez Maiden

Non-Executive Directors

Joaquin Ayuso (@ppointed 1 June 2011)
Jorge Cosmen?

Miranda Curtis

John Devaney

Roger Deviin (resigned 28 June 2011)'
Sir Andrew Foster

Chns Muntwyler eppointed 11 May 2011)
Lee Sander (appointed 1 June 2011}
Tim Score

{The above table 1s not subject to audit)
' For Roger Devin as at date of resignation

At 31
December
20m

114,579

116,347

88,860,685

76,666

22,893

At 1 January
2011 oron
appointment
i tater

68,275
116,347

88,860,685

66,666

65,916
22,893

G858

32
45
37
30

Total
2010

1,356
923

1,072

250

44

51
51
44

Change from
31 December
201 to

29 February
2012

2 Jorge Cosmen s holding nchudes shares held by European Express Enterprises Ltd wiuch are shown on page 53 in the st of major shareholdings in the Company



Awards of shares granted under one-off
arrangements to Dean Finch and Jez
Maiden in relation to ther appointments
are shown n the table below

awarded as nil cost opticns based on up
to two Matching shares being awarded for
each invested share (as descnbed earler)
to a mavamum of 100% of salary under the

(2]
~l

share matchmng element of the LTIP Further
details of the LTIP and the performance
conditions that have applied to each award
below are shown on page 63 and n the
notes to the LTIP awards table below

Long Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’)
awards

Performance shares of 1 x salary are
awarded to Executive Directors as nil cost
options under the Long Term Incentive
Plan In additon Matching shares are also

Conditional awards of shares to Executive Directors

Jan:atr:f During year Dece;tb‘::' Option Mag:eé;gc; Date of

20m Exercised Expired 2011 price exercise vesting

Dean Finch First Award! 28,023 28,0232 - - - 2336p 1411

Second Award? 18,281 - - 18,281 - - 1412

Jez Mawden Third Award?® 55,176 - 55,176 - - - 17111
Notas

' Each award is structured as an award of forfatable shares At the ime of vesting the relevant shares subject 1o the awards will cease to be subject to a nsk of forferture
? The aggregate gain on the shares which were exercised in 2011 was £65 000

3 The extent of vesting of the Thurd Award was dependent on the satsfaction of performance targets assessed over a three ysar perfonmance penod The performance targets
applying to the Third Award were identical to those set for the 2008 LTIP awards {a mix of earmings per share and shareholdar retum targets) At the and of the Performance
Period, the TSR performance and the EPS performance had both been such as to cause 0% of the relevant pant of the award to vest

LTIP Awards to Executive Directors

Ourng year
Al At31 Marketprica  Market price Date from

LTIP Share January December on date of at date of which Expuy

Awards 2011 Granted  Exercised Exprred 2011 award exercise  exetrcisable data

Dean Finch Performance 227,272 - - - 227,272 220 3p - 150313 150913
shares

Matching 227,270 - - - 227,270 220 3p - 150313 150913
shares

Performance - 222672 - - 222,672 247 Op - 250214 250B14
shares

Matching - 267,204 - - 267,204 247 0p - 250214 250814
shares

Jez Maiden Performance 176,342 - - - 176,342 210 4p* - 010912 010313
shares

Matching 132,637 - - - 132,637 210 4p* - 010912 010313
shares

Performance 174,672 - - - 174,672 2300p - 010413 011013
shares

Matchng 174,670 - - - 174,670 2300p - (10413 011013
shares

Performance - 170,040 - - 170,040 247 0p - 250214 250814
shares

Matching - 204,048 - - 204,048 247 0p - 250214 250814
shares

Notes

' Detals of the performance conditons applicable to the 2011 awards are shown on page 63

? The TSR performance conditions applicable to the 2010 awards are the same as for the 2011 awards and the relevant masamum and mnimum EPS figures are 28 pence
and 23 pence

® EPStargets were not applicable 10 2009 awards as the prevaling economic conditons made tt dificult to set a ropust range of EPS targets and the TSR performance
condition (as descnbed on page 63} was applied as the sole performance condiion to 100% of the ewerd To ensure that the relative condition was supported by mproved
underlying financial performance awards made in 2009 were also subject to an earrngs underpin that applies to the extert that the TSR performance condition 1s met

* The TSR performance conditions applicable to the 2008 awards were the same as for the 2011 awards and the refevant maxsmum and munimum EPS figures wera
6% and 3% wflatonary growth Performance and Matching shares granted under the LTIP on 10 Apell 2008 exprred on 10 Aprl 2011 At the end of the performance penod
TSR performance arxd EPS performance had been such as to rasult n 0% of the relevant part of the award to vest

* Market pnce at date of award restated to reflect the nghts issue on 15 December 2008

HodaJ uoleIaUNLIBA S103081I0
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a+ The National Express Group Executive Deferred Bonus Plan (‘Executive Deferred Bonus Plan’)
Deferred bonuses awarded in 2011 (based on performance to 31 December 2010) vested, subject to the terms of the award on
25 February 2012 as set out in the table below

As at 1 January 2011

Deferred At 31 Market pnce
% of total Shares December Option at date Date of
bonus Award Granted Exarcised Expired 201 prce of vesting vestng
Dean Finch 25% - 49427 - - 49,427 - 2221p 250212
Jez Maiden 25% - 39,541 - - 39,5641 - 2221p 250212

Notes

' Thevesting of the awards 15 subject to continued service and standard Good Leaver provisions

?  Clawback provisions apply as explaned on page 61

In respect of the operation of the Long Term Incentive Plan the Company operates the National Express Group Employee Beneft Trust
which currently holds 314,528 shares as at 29 February 2012

The Regster of Directors’ Interests maintaned by the Company contans full detaits of the Directors’ holdings of shares and options over
shares n the Company No LTiPs vested durng the year The mid-market price of the Company’s ordinary shares at 31 December 2011
was 223 pence (2010 251p) and the range dunng the year ended 31 December 2011 was 270 2 pence to 201 6 pence

By arder of the Board

Momde Lo

Miranda Curtis
Director and Chaiman of the Remuneration Committee
29 February 2012
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Directors’ report

Principal activities

National Express Group PLC i1s the holding
company of the National Express Group
of companies Its subsidiary companies
provide mass passenger transport
services In the UK and cverseas

Business review

Reviews of the business, likely future
developments and details of prncipal nsks
and uncertantes can be found in the
following pages and are incorporated by
reference Intc this report

+ Group Chief Executive’s review on
pages 3to 7

* Financial Review on pages 32 to 36

Branches outside the UK
The Company has branches in Span

Results and dividends

The profit on ordinary activities before
tax from continuing operations for the
year ended 31 December 2011 was
£129 4 millon (2010 £40 2m)and a
profit attnbutable to equity shareholders
of £101 2 milon 2010 £61 4my) was
transferred to reserves

The Directors recommend a finat dividend
for the year of 6 5 pence per ordinary
share 2010 6p) which, together with the
interm dividend of 3 pence per ordinary
share 2010 Op), paid on 23 September
2011, gives a total dividend for the year of
95 pence per share (2010 6p) Subject
to shareholder approval, the final dividend
will be paid on 18 May 2012 to ordinary
shareholders on the register of members
at the close of business on 27 Aprl 2012

Directors
The Directors of the Company who served
during the year were

John Devaney

Joaguin Ayuso (apponted 1 June 2011)
Miranda Curtis

Jorge Cosmen

Roger Devin (resigned 28 June 2011)
Dean Finch

Sir Andrew Foster

Jez Maiden

Chris Muntwyler (appointed 11 May 2011)
Lee Sander @pponted 1 June 2011)
Tim Scere

Directors are appointed by ordinary
resolution at a general meeting of ordinary
sharsholders The Directors have the
power to appont a Director dunng the
year but any person so appointed must be
put up for appointment at the next AGM

In accordance with the provisions of the
Articles of Association of the Company
and the relevant corporate govemnance
codes Directors will retire at the upcoming
AGM Details concerning ther re-election
will be set out In the Notce of AGM Details
of the remuneration of the Directors, therr
interests in shares of the Company and
service contracts are contained inthe
Directors” Remuneration Report on

pages 53 to 68

Corporate governance

A full report on comporate governance can
be found in the Govemance section of this
document and the Company’s corporate
governance statement 1s on page 72

Both are incorporated by reference into
this report

Directors’ interests in contracts
Except as stated in note 36 on

page 134, no contract existed dunng
the year in relation to the Company’s
business N which any Director was
matenally interested

N
(o)
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Directors’ Liability Insurance

The Company mamntains Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Insurance in respect of
legal action that rmight be brought aganst
its Directors Pursuant to the Company’s
Articles of Association the Company

has indemnified its Directors and Officers
N accordance with the provisions of
Section 233 of the Companies Act 2006
A copy of the Articles of Association 1s
avallable for nspection at the Company’s
registered office

Events after the balance sheet date
On 5 February 2012, the Group passed
over the running of the East Anglia rall
franchise to Abellio Greater Anglia Limited

Employment policies

The Group strives to mest its business
objectives by motivating and encouraging
its emptoyees to be responsive to the
needs of ts customers and continually
mprove operational performance The
Group 15 committed to providing equalty
of opportunity to employees and potential
employees This applies to appropnate
training, career development and
promotion for all employees, regardless of
physical abilty, gender, sexual onentation,
religion, age or ethnic ongin All businesses
in the Group report diversity data

Full and far consideration 1s gvento
applications for employment recewved
from disabled persons, according to ther
skills and capabilties The services of
any existing employee disabled dunng
thetr penod of employment are retained
wherever possible

Employee involvement

The Group encourages employee
nvolvernent in its affars Subsichary
companies produce a range of intemnal
newsletters and circulars which keep
employees abreast of developments
Senior management within the Group meet
regularly to review strategic developments
and management conferenceas are held

at Group and business levels to bring our
senior managers together to share 1deas
and develop policy Dialogue takes place
regularly with trade unions and other
employee representatives on a wide range
of issues Employees are able to share

m the Group's results through various
employee share schemes
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Employee views are also sought

through regular employee satisfaction
questionnarres, both within business units
and across the Group Following such
surveys, results are shared with employees
and action plans are put In place to deal
with issues ansing The Group's Innovation
programme gives high priorty to employee
engagement as well as seeking the
opinions of our customers

The Group places considerable emphasis
on the development of its employees
through indvidual development plans

A scheme to focus on the identification
and development of our high potential staff
was launched n 2010 Succession plans
are In place In each business and these
are monitored by the Board

Environmental policy

Information on the Group's environmental
initiatives can be found n the Corporate
Responsibility Review on page 40

and in the Corporate Responsibility
section of the Company’s website,
nationalexpressgroup com, where you
will find Corporate Responsibility reports,
policies and other Information

Charitable and polrtical contnbutions
Chantable donatons made during the
year totatled £228,000 (2010 £151,000)

It is the Group’s policy not to make political
donations and accordingly none were
made in the year However, the Company
cid attend party poltical conferences
dunng the year for which total expenditure
was £6,000 (2010 £14,000)

Creditors’ payment pohcy and
practice

It 1s the Company’s policy to agree terms
of payment pnor to commencing trade
with any suppher and to abide by those
terms based on the tmely submission

of satisfactory nvoices

Trade creditor days of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2011 were 17
days (2010 23 days) based on the ratio

of Company trade creditors at the end of
the year to the amounts nvoiced dunng
the year by trade creditors

Financial nstruments

Details of the use by the Company and ts
subsidianes of financial nstruments and
any related nsk management objectives
and policies (including hedging policy) and
exposure (including pnce, credit, hquidity

or cash flow nsk} of the Company in
connection with such financial nstrurnents
can be found in the Notes to the
Consolidated Accounts on pages 81

to 136 and are incorporated by reference
into this report

Major shareholdings

Disclosures of major shareholdngs
notified to the Company pursuant to
DTRS are showin on page 53 and these
disclosures are mcorporated by reference
into this report

Share capital and nghts attaching
to the Company’s shares

Under the Company's Artictes of
Association, any share in the Company
may be 1ssued with such nghts or
restrnctions, whether in regard to dividend,
voting, return of capital or otherwise as
the Company may from time to time by
ordinary resolution deterrmine (or, In the
absence of any such determination, as
the Directors may determing)

At 31 December 2011, the Company's
1ssued share capital consisted of a single
class of ordinary shares with a nominal
value of 5 pence At a general mesting of
the Company every member has one vote
on a show of hands and on a poll one vote
for each share held The Notice of AGM
accompanying this document, specifies
deadhnes for exercising voting nghts erther
by proxy or by being present in person in
refation to resolutions to be passed at a
general meeting Details of the authonsed
and 1ssued share capital of the Company
and details of shares 1ssued during the year
can be found in note 32 on page 124

As at 29 February 2012, the Company

held a tota! of 1,668,688 ordinary 5 pence
shares (nominal value £83,434) in treasury
equal to 0 33% of the 1ssued share capital

No shareholder is, unless the Board
decdes otherwise, enttled to attend or
vote etther personally or by proxy at a
general meeting or to exercise any other
nght conferred by being a shareholder if he
or she or any person with an interest in his
or her shares has been sent a notice under
Section 793 of the Companies Act 2006
(which confers upon public compantes the
power to require Information with respect
to interests in their voting shares) and he

or she or any interested person faled to
supply the Company with the information
reguested within 14 days after delivery of

that notice The Board may also decide
that no dmdend s payable in respect of
those default shares and that no transfer

of any default shares shall be registered
These restnctions end seven days after
receipt by the Company of a notice of an
approved transfer of the shares or all the
information required by the relevant Section
793 notice, whichever 1s earler

The Directors may refuse to register

any transfer of any share whichs not a
fully-paid share, although such discretion
may not be exercised in a way which the
Financial Services Authonty regards as
preventing dealings in shares of that class
from taking place on an open or proper
basis The Directors may kewise refuse
any transfer of a share in favour of more
than four persons jointly

The Comipany I1s not aware of any other
restrictions on the transfer of ordinary
shares in the Company other than

* certain restrictions that may from
tme to tme be mposed by laws and
regulations (for exarmple, nsider trading
laws), and

* pursuant fo the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authonty whereby
certan employees of the Company
require approval of the Company to
deal in the Company's shares

The Company Is not aware of any
agreements between shareholders that
may result In restnctions on the transfer
of secunties or voting nghts

Resolutions will be propoesed at the 2012
AGM to authonse the Directors to exercise
all powers fo aliot shares, or grant rights
for, or to convert any secunty into, shares,
and approve a Imited disapphcation of
statutory pre-emption nghts Detalls are set
out In the Notice of AGM accompanying
this document

The Company was granted authorty at the
AGM n 2011 to purchase its own shares
up to an aggregate value of 10% of the
issued nomunal capital The authonty was
not used dunng the year The authonty

15 renewed annually and approval will be
sought at the AGM In 2012 for s renewal
Further detalls are set out In the Notice of
AGM accompanyng this document




Share schemes

The IFG Trust {Jersey) Limited, as Trustes
of the National Express Group Employee
Benefit Trust, as at 29 February 2012 held
314,528 shares (0 06% of the share capital)
of the Company for employee share
schemes Further detalls of the Company's
employee share schemes can be found in
note 7 on page 85 and are incorporated

by reference into this report The Trustee
may vote the shares held by the Trust at

its discretion

Articles of Association

Any amendments to the Company's
Articles of Association may be made Iin
accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) will

be held at 2 00pm on 10 May 2012 at
Kings Place, 90 York Way, London,

N1 9AG At the meeting, special resolutions
will be proposed to authorise the Directors
to 1ssue shares without applying statutory
pre-emption nghts, to authonse the
Cormpany to make market purchases

of its own shares and to authonse the
caling of general meetings (other than
Annual General Meetings} on 14 clear
days’ notice Full details are provided in
the Notice of Meeting i you would Ike

to register any question you may have In
advance of the AGM you can do so at
agm@nationalexpress com or you can
write to the Company Secretary at National
Express Group PLC, National Express
House, Bmmingham Coach Station, Mill
Lane, Digbeth, Brmingharm BS 60D

Powers of the Directors

Subject to its Articles of Association and
relevant statutory law and to any direction
that may be given by the Company in
general meeting by special resolution,

the business of the Company shall be
managed by the Directors, who may
exergise all powers of the Company which
are not required to be exercised by the
Company In general meeting

Material contracts and change

of control agreements

The Company 1s party to a number of
banking agreements which allow for
notification of change of control within
five days of becoming aware of the event
following which repayment of outstanding
commitments is to be made within

30 days

Under the terms of the £1,000,000,000
Euro Medium Term Note Programme
under which the Company 1ssued Medium
Term Notes (MTNSs) to vanous institutions
on 13 January 2010, there1s a change

of control put option such that, upon a
change cf control event, any holder of any
MTN may require the Company to redeem
or purchase that MTN

The Group currently runs ore DT
franchise c2¢ The National Express East
Angla franchise was transferred to Abellio
Greater Angla Limited on 6 February 2012
The rail franchise agreement with DT
contains termination nghts for the benefit of
DFT which would be tnggered by a change
of control in National Express Group PLC

The Group's rail franchises, c2c, leases
s rolling stock and its leases with
Porterbrook Leasing Company Limited
contain termination nghts for the benefit
of the lessor which would be tnggered by
a change of control n National Express
Group PLC

The Group’s North Amencan business
operates school bus services under
contracts with school boards Those
contracts invanably contain a change of
control clause for the benefit of the board
which would be triggered by a change of
control in Mational Express Group PLC
While no one single school bus contract
could be considered significant in

the context of the Group turnover,

the mpact on that tumover in the

event that each school board exercised
its termiriabon nght on a change of
control would be significant

Directors’ and employees’ service
contracts

There are no agreements between the
Company and its Directors or employees
providing for compensation for loss of
office or employment (whether through
resignation, purported redundancy or
otherwise) that occurs because ofa
takeover bid

Auditor

Following a competitve tender process
during the year, Ernst & Young LLP
resigned as auditor of the Company

on 10 June 2011 and Deloitte LLP was
apponted in ther place on 14 June 2011
Resolutions to re-appoint Deloitte LLP as
auditor of the Company and to authorise
the Directors to fix ther remuneration will
be proposed at the 2012 AGM

~J
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Disclosure of information to audrtor
The Directors confirm that, so far as
they are aware, there 15 no relevant audit
nformation of which the Company’s
auditor 1s unaware and that each Director
has taken all the steps that they ought
o have taken as a Director n order to
make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that
the Company's auditor I1s aware of

that mformation

Risks

A summary of the Company’s nsk
management framework and an overview
of ts principal nsks are detaled on pages
37 to 38 and are incorporated by reference
mnto this report

Going concem

The Group's business actvities, together
with the factors Iikely to affect its future
development, performance and position
are set out in the Business Review The
financial position of the Group, its cash
flows, iquidity position and borrowing
faciities are descnbed in the Group Chief
Executive's review on pages 3 to 7 and
the Financial Review on pages 32to 37 In
addition, note 30 to the financial statements
includes the Group's objectives, policies
and processes for managing its capital,
its financial nsk management objectives,
detauls of its financial Instruments and
hedging actwvities, and ts exposure to
credit nsk and Iiquidity sk

The Group has a formalised process of
budgeting, reporting and review, which
provides information to the Directors
which 1s used to ensure the adequacy
of resources avallable for the Group

to meet its business objectives

The Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and the
Group have adequate resources o
continue N operational existence for a
penod of at least 12 months from the date
of signing the accounts Accordingly they
continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting In prepanng the annual
financial statements



Governance

72 Statutory information

For more information please go
{o nationalexpressgroup.com

% Statement of Comphance with

the UK Corporate Governance Code
In the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the provisions
of the UK Corporate Governance Code
Issued by the Financial Reporting

Councd in 2010 save In respect of the
following provisions

B 2 1 The Composition of the
Nomination Committee

Jorge Cosmen, who 1s a member of the
Nomination Committeg, 1s not considered
to be Independent However, as Deputy
Chairman and the representatve of one
of the Company’s largest shareholders,
the Board considers Mr Cosmen should be
a member of the Nomination Committee
in order to be nvolved in the recrutment
process for Board appontments

C.3 1 The Composition of the Audit
Committee and D 2 1 The Composition
of the Remuneration Committee
Foliowing the resigrnahion of Roger

Devin the Audit Commuittee and the
Remuneration Committee consisted of two
Non-Executive Directors for a short penod
unitl the appomntrment of Chins Muntwyler
to the Audit Committes and Lee Sander
o the Remuneration Committee in
November 2011

Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association, and the prnnciples
of the UK Corporate Govermnance Code
published by the Financial Reporting
Councilin 2010, Directors of the Company
will offer themselves for re-election at this
year's AGM Non-Executive Directors are
appointed for specific terms, subject to re-
election Non-Executive Directors will only
be put forward for re-election if, following
performance evaluation, the Board believes
the Director's performance continues to be
effective and demonstrates commitment
to the role

Remuneration and service contracts
of Directors

The Directors’ Remuneration Report,
including detalls of remuneration pohcy
and service contracts, I1s set out on
pages 58 to 68

7 Directors' conflicts of interest
The Beoard has a procedure in place to
deat with a situation where a Director
has a conflict of interest, as required by
the Companies Act 2006 As part of
this process, the members of the Board
prepare a list of other positions held
and all other conflict situations that may
need authonsing either inrelation to the
Director concerned or hissher connected
persons The Beard considers each
Director's situation and decides whether to
approve any conflict situations, taking into
consideration what is in the best interests
of the Company and whether the Director’s
abilty to act n accordance with his or her
wider duties I1s affected Each Director 1s
required to notrfy the Company Secretary
of any potential or actual conflict situations
that will need authonsing by the Board
Authorisations given by the Board are
reviewed annually

Accountability and audrt
Statements of the respective
responsibiites of the Directors and
auditors are set out on pages 74 and 75

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance

The Company purchases Directors’

and Officers’ Liabity Insurance for the
Company and its subsidiaries, which gves
approprate cover for any legal action
brought aganst its Directors

= Internal control statement
The Beard’s responsibitiies
The Board has overall responsibility for
the Group's system of intermal conitrol and
for reviewing its effectveness The Board
mantains full control and direchon over
appropnate strategic, financial, operatonal
and compliance 1ssues and has put in
place an organisationat structure with
formally defined ines of responstbility,
delegated authonties and clear operating
processes The systems that the Board
has established are designed to safeguard
both the shareholders’ mvestment and
the assets of the Group, and are
descnbed as follows




Key elements of the control framework
Financial reporting process —
management and specialists within the
Finance Department are responsible for
ensunng the approprate maintenance of
financial records and processes to ensure
that all information is relevant, reiable and
n accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations, and distributed both
internally and externally in a tmely manner
A review of the consolidation and financial
statements 1s completed by management
to ensure that the financiad postion and
results of the Group are appropriately
reflected All financial information published
by the Group 1s subject to the approval

of the Audit Commitiee

Performance management - the
performance of each division and
operating company against its plan 1s
closely montored by a formal monthly
reporting process and by the attendance
of the relevant Executive Directors at
monthly dmsional executive meetings

Annual fitness check process — internal
audt undertake an annual review at each
operating company to assess the integrty
of the balance sheet and o check the
effective operation of key financial reporting
and information systems controls The
results of the reviews are presented to

both dwvisional and Group finance with any
required actions agreed with the relevant
dwvisional Finance Director

Strategic and financial planmng -

an annual budgeting and strategic planning
process has been established whereby
each dwision and constituent operating
company assesses its competitive position
and goals, taking account of the strategic
nsks faced This strategy s translated into
a financial plan with clear milestones and
performance indicators

Capital Investment - a clear process
15 In place for the approval of capital
expendrture, which includes detarled
apprasal of the benefits of the proposed
nvestment and any associated key rnsks
Matenal capital expenditure requires
Board approval

Healtth and safety — health and safety
standards and benchmarks have

been established i all our businesses
and the performance of operating
companies in meeting these standards
15 closely monitored

Risk management reporting process = whistle blowing policy

- each dwvision and operating company
gvaluates its ntemnal controt environment
and key risks, and the results are reviewed
at management level and passed to

the Audit Commuttee before being
presented to the Board Thus process

1S reviewed on a regular basis to ensure
the validity and relevance of the key

nsks included in reports The review
caovers strategic, financial, comphance
and nsk management controls These
procedures are mandated and designed
o manage the nsk in order to ensure
that the operations achieve therr
business objectives

Internal audit — the internal control
system 1s Independently monitored and
supported by a Group internal audit
function The intemal audit funchon reports
to management and the Audit Committes
on the Group's financial and operational
controls, and monitors and reviews the
extent to which its recommendations have
been mplemented

Board-level reporting on internal
control - dunng the year the Audit
Committee reviews regular reperts from
the internal audit function, the external
auditors and executive management on
matters relating to intermal control, financial
reporting and nsk management The Audit
Committee provides the Board with an
independent assessment of the Group’s
financial position, accounting affars and
control systems In addition, the Board
receves regular reports on how specific
risks that are assessed as material to the
Group are being managed

Review of intemal control effectiveness
The system of ntemnal control and nsk
rmanagement, descnbed above, has been
i place for the year under review and

up to the date of approval of this Annual
Report and Accounts Such a system

15 designed to manage, rather than to
elimmnate, the nsks inherent in achieving
the Group's business objectives, and can
therefore provide only reasonable and

not absolute assurance aganst matenal
musstatement or loss The effectiveness
of this system has been regularty reviewed
by the Directors in line with the Guidance
on Audit Committees, published by the
Financial Reporting Council in December
2010 Where significant contro! falings

or weaknesses have been identrfied,
appropnate comectve action has

been taken

‘Whistle blowng' policies are in place In
each of the Group’s businesses and are
also avalable on the Group's website
www nationalexpressgroup com The
Board supports the highest standards of
corporate governance and ethical practices
wathin all its operations and continues to
review its policies on an ongoing basis
The Board has endorsed a set of pninciples
which establish the framework for how
its businesses cperate Key to these 1s
working in an open and honest manner
The Group 1s commitied to the highest
standards of quality, honesty, openness
and accountability Employees are
encouraged o raise genuine concems
under the policy either by contacting ther
Ine manager or telephoning a dedicated
extemal helpline Any concerns raised
are investigated carefully and thoroughly
to assess what action, if any, should

be taken and confidental records are
mamntaned The Company Secretary
reports any matters of significance to the
appropnate committes In 2011 no Issues
of significance were raised

Anti-bnbery policy

A Group Anti-Bribery policy has been
established and 1ssued to all Group
companies and 1s also available

on the Group's webstite at
nationalexpressgroup com The policy
prohibxits any nducement which results
In a personal gan or advantage to the
recipient or any person or hody associated
with them, and whuch 1s intended to
influence them to take action which may
not be solely n the interests of the Group
or of the person or body employing them
or which they represent The prevention,
detection and reporting of brbery 1s

the responsibilty of all employees
throughout the Group Employees

can report confidentally any suspicion

of bribery via an externally facilitated
whistieblower hotline

Share caprtal

Information about the share capital of the
Company 1s included in the Directors’
report on page 70
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Governance
Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the Directors are required

to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs) as adopted by the
European Urion and Article 4 of the I1AS Regulation and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under
company law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give a true and farr view of the state of
affars of the company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that penod

In prepanng the parent Company financial staterments, the Directors are required to
* select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
* make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

* state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explaned
in the financial statements, and

» prepare the financial statements on the going concemn basis unless it 1s inappropnate to presume that the Company will continue
I business

In prepanng the Group financial statements, intermational Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors
s properly select and apply accounting policies,

* present Information, including accounting policies, In a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information,

¢ prowde addiional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs 1s msufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial posttion and financial performance, and

* make an assessment of the Company’s abilty to continue as a going concem

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explan the Comparny's
transactons and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial nformation included on the Company's
website Legislabon in the United Kingdorm goveming the preparation and dissermnaton of financial statements may differ from
legistation in other jurisdichons

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge

+ the financial staternents, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, gve a true and farr view of the
assets, labies, financial posion and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as
awhole, and

+ the business review, which 1s incorporated into the Directors’ report, includes a far review of the development and performance
of the business and the position of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal nsks and uncertantes that they face

By order of the Boar

Dean Finch Jez Maiden
Chief Executive Officer Group Finance Drector
29 February 2012 29 February 2012




Financial statements
Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of National Express Group PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of National Express Group PLC for the year ended 31 December 2011 which comprise
the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group Balance Sheet, the Group Statement of
Changes in Equity, the Group Gash Flow Statement and the related notes 1 to 38 The financial reporting framework that has been
applied n ther preparation 1s applicable law and Intermnational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

This report 1Is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we rmight state to the Company’s members those matters we are requrred to state

to them n an auditor's report and for no other purpose  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for cur audit work, for this report, or for the opinions

we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Group
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far view Our responsibiity 1s to audit and express an opiruon
on the Group financial statements in accordance with apphcable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standaras for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from materal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This iIncludes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's crcumnstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the overall presentation
of the financial statements In addiion, we read all the financial and non-financial nforrmation in the annual report to dentfy materal
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements if we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or Inconsistencies
we consider the mplications for our report

Opmon on financtal statements
In our opirwon the Group financial statements

* gve a true and far view of the state of the Group's affars as at 31 December 2011 and of ts profit for the year then ended,
* have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and
» have been prepared n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation

Opinion on other matter prescnbed by the Comparnies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Oirectors’ Report for the financial year for which the Group financial statements are prepared
15 congistent wath the Group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion

* certan disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
* we have not recerved all the information and explanations we require for our audit
Under the Listing Rules we are required o review

* the Directors’ statement, set out on page 71, m relation to going concem,

» the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate
Govemnance Code specified for our review, and

= certan elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration

Other matters
We have reported separately on the parent Company financial statements of National Express Group PLC for the year ended
31 December 2011 and on the nformaton in Wors’ Remip/oﬂ that I1s descnbed as having been audited

Nige! Mercer (Senior statutory audrtor) ‘a'/‘
for and on behaff of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor

Birmingham, UK

29 February 2012
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Group Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Total before Total before
itangible Intangible ntangible Intangible
amortisabon  amortisation armorbisation amortisation
and and and and
exceptonal excephonal exceptional exceptional
nems tems Total tems tems Total
201 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations .
Revenue 4 2,238.0 - 2,238.0 2,1259 — 2,1259
Operating costs before mtangible
amortsation and exceptional
tems (2,012.8) - (2,012.8) {1,921 7) - (1,921 7)
Intangble amortisation 514 - (50.8) (50 8) - 57 1) B71
Exceptional tems 5 - - - - 612 612)
Total operating costs 6 {2,012.8) (50 8) (2,063 6) (1,921 7) (118 3) (2,040 G}
Group operating profit/{loss) 225.2 (50.8) 174.4 204 2 (118 3) 859
Share of post tax results from
associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the eguity
method 18 1.4 - 14 03 - 03
Finance income 49 6.7 - 6.7 48 - 48
Finance costs 9 {53.1) - {53.1} (48 8) (20 (50 8)
Profit/{oss) befors tax 1802 (50.8) 129.4 160 5 (120 3) 402 ;
Tax (charge)/credit 10 {41.5) 147 (26 B) (39 2) 617 225 .
Profit/loss) after tax for the year
from continuing operations 138.7 (36.1) 102.6 1213 (58 6) 627
Loss for the year from
discontnued operations 11 - - - - 0 4) ()]
Profit/foss) for the year 138.7 (36.1) 102.6 1213 59 0) 623
Profit/loss) attnbutable to
equity shareholders 1373 (36.1) 101.2 1204 (59 0} 614
Profit attnbutable to
non-controling interests 1.4 - 14 09 - 09
138.7 (36.1) 102.6 1213 (59 0} 623
Eamings per share
- basic eamings per share 13 19.9p 120p
= diluted samings per share 13 19.8p 120p
Normalised eamings per share
- basic eamings per share 13 27.0p 23 6p
- diuted eamings per share 13 26.9p 23 5p
Earmings per share from
continuing operations
- basic eamings per share 13 19.9p 121p
- diluted eamings per share 13 19.8p 121p




Group Statement of
Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Note £m £m

Profit for the year 102.6 623
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations (net of hedging) {26.4) (18)
Exchange differences on retranslation of non-controling interests (0.2) 02
Actuarial fosses)y/gans on defined benefit pension plans 34 (8.6) 343
Gain on cash flow hedges 242 211
Transfers to the ncome statement on cash flow hedges {25.3) 23
Tax on exchange differences 29 [(S]e)]
Deferred tax on actuanal (losses)/gans 0.4 98
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges (0.6) 6 6)
Other comprahensive (expenditure)income for the year net of tax (33.6) 333
Total comprehensive iIncome for the year 69.0 956
Total comprehensive income attnbutable to
Equity shareholders 67.9 949
Non-controling interests 11 07

69.0 956
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Group Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2011

2011 210
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangble assets 14 1,2125 1,284 2
Property, plant and equipment 15 754.5 7141
Avalable for sale investiments 17 76 78
Benvatve financial instruments 17 31.0 72
Investments accounted for using the equity method 18 6.6 66
Trade and other recevables 20 5.9 60
Deferred tax asset 27 - 28
Defined benefit pension asset 34 18.6 -
2,036.7 20287
Current assets
Inventones 21 188 176
Trade and other recevables 22 248 1 2268
Denvative financial instruments 17 211 183
Cument tax assets 0.9 34
Cash and cash equivalents 23 925 1288
3814 394 9
Total assets 24181 2,423 6
Non-current liabiliies
Bomrowngs 28 (7T18.9) 674 4)
Denvative financial instruments 28 {2.4) 5 1)
Deferred tax lability 27 (95.2) (86 9)
Other non-current abilites 25 {4.9) (252}
Non-current tax liabilibes {5.4) (12 3}
Defined benefit pension ability 34 (20.9) (10 4)
Prowvisions 26 (24 0) 357
8707) (8500)
Current labilities
Trade and other payables 24 {466.4) (4708)
Borrowings 28 (54.8) (94 8
Dervative financial instruments 28 0.2) (12 4)
Current tax abilites {19.7) (12 1)
Provisions 26 {40.9) 439
(582.0) 633 8)
Total labites (1,452.7) (1,483 8)
Net assets 965.4 9338
Shareholders' equrty
Called up share capital 32 25.6 256
Share premium account 532.7 5327
Captal redemption reserve 0.2 02
Own shares (14.0) (14 1)
Other reserves 33 99.9 1251
Retaned eamings 313.1 26837
Total shareholders' equity 957.5 g332
Non-controlling interest in equity IR 7.9 66
Total equity 2 N 965.4 9398
D Finch Group Chief Executive >

J K Maiden Group Finance Director
29 February 2012




Group Statement of Changes ir; Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Own Other Non-
shares reserves Retained controfling Total
{note 32) (note33) eamungs Total nerests equity
m £m £m £m fm £m
At 1 January 2011 (14.1} 1251 263.7 933.2 6.6 939.8
Shares purchased (2.7} - - @27 - 2.7)
Own shares released to satisfy
employee share schemes 28 - {2.8) - - -
Total comprehensive Income - (25.2) 93.1 67.9 1.1 680
Share-based payments - - 5.0 5.0 - 50
Tax on share-based payments - - 0.1) {01) - (0.1)
Dwidends - - (45.8) {45 8) - (458)
Dwclends paid to non-
controling interest - - - - {0.3) (0.3}
Purchase of non-controling
interests - - - - 05 05
At 31 December 2011 (14 0) 99.9 313.1 957.5 7.9 965.4
Own Other Non-
shares  reserves  Retaned controling Total
{note 32} (note 33}  earmings Total Interests equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 (146 116 1 1758 8363 60 8423
Costs of Rights Issus - - - - 05 - 05
Shares purchased 17 - - a7 - 17
Own shares released to sabsfy
employee share schemes 22 - 22 - - -
Total comprehensive INcome - 90 859 949 o7 956
Share-based payments - - 39 39 - 39
Tax on share-based payments - - 03 03 - 03
Dwidends pad to non-
controling interest - - - - 01 {01
At 31 Decemnber 2010 (14 1) 1251 2637 9332 66 939 8
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Group Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Note £m £m
Cash generated from operations 37 247.0 2221
Tax pad (8.4) (8 6}
Net cash from operating activities 238.6 2135
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments to acquire businesses, net of cash acquired 19(a) (0.4) 01
Deferred consideration for businesses acquired and disposed 19(@l(b) (5.7 24
Purchase of property, plant and squipment (104.5) 499
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 63 74
Payments to acquire iIntangble assets 14 (3.9) 20
Payments to acqurre avallable for sale investments - 03
Recepts in respect of discontnued operations 11 - 03
Dmclends recewved from associates 10 02
Interest receved 56 11
Net cash used in mvesting actvities {101.6) 455
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments incurred on the i1ssue of crdinary shares - 38
Purchase of treasury shares (2.7) (17)
Interest paid (50.2) 438
Finance lease pnncipal payments (24 9) (87
Net loans repard (35.6) (74 0)
Payments for the maturtty of foresgn currency contracts (12.8) 20
Dradends paid to non-controling nterests ©4) -
Payments for equity in non-controling interests (0.5) -
Ddends paid to shareholders of the Company (45.8) -
Net cash used in financing activities (172.9) (144 O}
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (35.9) 240
Opening cash and cash equivalents 128.8 1058
(Decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents (35.9} 240
Foreign exchange (0.4) (10

Closing cash and cash equivalents 23 92.5 1288




Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1 Corporate information

The consolidated accounts of Natonal Express Group PLC and s subsidianes (‘the Group') for the year ended 31 December
2011 were authorised for 1ssue n accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 29 February 2012 National Express
Group PLC 1s a public imited company incorporated in England and Wales whose shares are publicly traded on the Londeon
Stock Exchange

The principal activities of the Group are described in the Business Review that accompanies these accounts

2 Accounting policies

Statement of comphance

These accounts have been prepared In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations

of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union (EL), and with those
parts of the Companies Acts 2006 applicable to companies reporting under FRS

The Group has previously disclosed that its accounting poficy relating to the Railways Pension Scheme (RPS) represents a
departure from the requirements of 1AS 19 This was principally based on an assessment performed at the time of adoption

of IFRS in 2005 Durnng the current penod, the Directors have reviewed the accounting standards and current industry practice,
and have concluded that the Group's accounting policy complies with IAS 19

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis (see Directors’ report on page 71) under the historcal
cost convention, except for the recognitton of denvative financial Instruments and avalable for sale investments

The consohdated accounts are presented in pounds Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest one hundred thousand
Pounds {£0 1m} except where otherwise indicated

A summary of the Group’s accounting policies applied in preparng the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2011 15 set
out below

Significant accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of accounts in conformity with generally accepted accounting pranciples requrres the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and labilities at the date of the accounts and the reported amounts

of revenues and expenses durng the reporting pernod  Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge,
actual results may ulbmately differ from those estmates

The most significant jJudgements were

Tax provisions

Assessing the outcome of uncertain tax posttions requires jJudgements to be made regarding the result of negotiations with and
enquires from tax authorities in a number of jurisdictions The assessments made are based on advice from independent tax
advisors and the status of ongoing discussions with the relevant tax authonties

The key accounting estimates are

Goodwill and impairment

Determining whether goodwill is impasred requires an estimation of the vatue in use of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated The value in use calculation requires the entity to estmate the future cash fltows expected to anse
from the cash-generating unit and a sutable discount rate in order to calculate present value Details of the assumptions used
are set out In note 14 tc the accounts

Retirernent benefit obhigations

Determining the amount of the Group’s retirement benefit obhigations and the net costs of providing such benefits requires
assumptions to be made conceming long-term nterest rates, inflation, salary and pension increases, investment retums and
longewvity of current and future pensioners Changes in these assumptions could significantly impact the amount of the
obligations or the cost of providing such benefits The Group makes assumptions concerning these matters with the assistance
of advice from ndependent qualfied actuanes Detalls of the assumptions made are set out in note 34

Insurance

The estimation of the insurance prowvisions 1s based on an assessment of the expected settlement on known clams together with
an estimate of settlements that will be made m respect of incidents occurnng pror to the balance sheet date but for which clams
have not been reported to the Group

8

=9

T R R

SIUN022Y PIEPIOSUOS) SU) O} SIJON




82

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

2 Accounting policies continued

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated accounts compnse the accounts of National Express Group PLC and all its subsidiaries drawn up to

31 December each year Adjustments are made to bring any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist into ine with the
Group's accounting policies

On acquisition of a business, the purchase method of accounting 1s adopted, and the Group income statement includes the
results of subsidianes and businesses purchased during the year from the date control 1s assumed The purchase consideration
1s allocated to assets and liabilities on the basis of farr value at the date of acquisiion On the sale of a business, the Group
income statement includes the results of that business to the date of disposal

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised gans and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated

Non-contreling interests represent the portion of comprehensive income and equity In subsidianes that 15 not attrbutable to the
parent Company shareholders and I1s presented separately from parent shareholders’ equity In the consolidated balance sheet

Interests in joint ventures
The Group has a number of contractual arrangements with other parties to share control of other entities which represent
joint ventures

The Group recognises its interest in the entity’s assets and liabilities using the equity method of accounting The Group balance
sheet includes the appropriate share of these jont ventures’ net assets or habilities and the mncome statement includes the
appropnate share of therr results after tax

Accounts of jointly controlled entities are prepared for the same reporting pericd as the Group Adjustments are made in the
Group's accounts to elminate the Group’s share of unrealised gans and losses on transactions between the Group and its
jointly controlled entities The Group ceases to use the equity methed from the date it no longer has joint control over the entity

Interests in associates

Companies, other than subsidianes and joint ventures, n which the Group has an investment representing not less than 20%
of the voling nghts and over which it exerts significant nfluence are treated as associates The consolidated accounts include
the appropriate share of these associates’ results and net assets based on therr latest accounts under the equity method

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year and there have been no changes in
accounting standards during the year that have had a matenal effect on the Group

Income statement presentation

The income statement has been presented in a columnar format to enable users of the financial statements to view the
normalised results of the Group Normalised results are defined as the statutory results before the following, as appropriate
profit or loss on the sale of businesses, exceptional profit or loss on the sale of non-current assets and charges for goodwill
imparrment, amortisation of intangible assets, exceptional items and tax relief on gualifying excepttonal items and intangbles

Exceptional items

Exceptional tems are material items of income or expenditure which, in the opinion of the Directors, due to therr nature and
infrequency require separate identification on the face of the Income statement to allow a better understanding of the financial
performance in the year, in companson t¢ pnor years



2 Accounting policies continued

Revenue recognition

Rendenng of services

Revenue comprises iIncome from road passenger transport, train passenger services and related activties in the UK, North
Amenca and Europe Where approprate, amounts are shown net of rebates and sales tax

Revenue 1s recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the customer's travel or services provided under contractual
arrangements as a proportion of total services to be provided

UK Rail revenue includes amounts attributed to the train operating companies (TOCs), based principally on agreed models

of route usage by Railway Settlement Plan Limited (which admiristers the income allocation systermn within the UK rail industry),

In respect of passenger receipts In addibion, net franchise agreement receipts from the Department for Transport Rail Division
(OfT Rail) and tocal Passenger Transport Executives (PTES) are treated as revenue Net franchise agreement payments to DIT Rail
are recogmised in operating costs UK Coach revenue comprises amounts recevable generated from ticket sales UK Bus and
European Coach & Bus revenus comprises amounts receivable generated from ticket sales and revenue generated from

services provided on behalf of local transport authonties, which 1s recogrised as the services are provided For all the divisions
noted above, the relevant share of season ticket or travelcard income 1s deferred within iabilities and released to the income
statement over the life of the relevant season ticket or travelcard North Amencan Bus revenue from school boards and similar
contracts 1s recognised as the services are provided

Rental incorme
Rental income 1s accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term

Finance income
Revenue 15 recognised using the effective interest method

Government grants

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in iabilities as deferred income and are credited to
the Income staternent over the expected useful sconomic life of the assets concemed Other grants are credited to the income
statement as the refated expenditure 1S expensed

Segmental reporting

Each of the Group’s business and geographical segments provides services that are subject to nsks and returns that are
different from those of the other business segments Due to the nature of the Group’s operations the distinct business segments
align directly with geographical segments which are operating in separate economic environments

The Group's segments compnse UK Bus, UK Coach, UK Rail, North Amencan Bus, European Coach & Bus, and Central
functions These segments are descnbed in more detall n the Operating Review accompanying these accounts

Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the asset have passed

o the Group, are capitalised in the balance sheet as property, plant and equipment Finance leases are capitalised at the lower
of the farr value of the leased property and the present value of the mnimum lease payments The capital element of future
obligations under hire purchase contracts and finance leases 1s included as a lability in the balance sheet The interest elerment
of rental obligations 1s charged to the income statement over the penod of the lease and represents a constant proportion of the
balance of capital repayments outstanding Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over
the shorter of the useful Ife of the asset or the lease term

Leases of property, plant and equipment where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retaned by
the lessor are classified as operating leases Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a
straight-ine basis over the term of the lease Incentives received under operating leases and mital direct costs In negotiating
the lease are amortised to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease

All matenal arrangements and transactions entered into by the Group are reviewed to check whether they contain elements
that meet the accounting definition of a lease, although they may not follow the legal form of a lease
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

2 Accounting pelicies continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred except where they are directly attnbutable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset, in which case they are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset

Current tax and deferred tax

Current tax 1s provided on taxable profits eamed according to the local tax rates applicable where the profits are earned
Income taxes are recogmised in the mcome statement unless they relate to an item accounted for in other comprehensive
Income or equity, In which case the tax 1s recognised directly In other comprehensive iIncome or eguity The tax rates and
tax laws used to compute the current tax are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 1s provided in full n respect of all matenal temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposaes, apart from the following exceptions

» where the temporary difference anses from the initial recognitron of goodwill,

+ where an asset or liability 1s recognised in a transaction that 1s not a business combination and that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and

* Inrespect of nvestment in subsidianes, associates and joint ventures where the Group 1s able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it 1s probable that the ternporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax 13 measured on a non-discounted basis at tax rates that are expected to apply n the penods n which the temporary
differences reverse based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance shest date

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s considered more likely than not that future taxable profits will be
availlable aganst which the underlying temporary differences can be deducted Therr carrying amount 1s reviewed at each
balance sheet date on the same basis

Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty and when the
Group mtends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis

Intangible assets

intangible assets acquired separately that meet the recognition critena of IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’, are capitalised at cost

and when acquired in a business combination are capitalised at farr value at the date of acquisitton Following initial recognition,
finite ife assets are amorttsed on a straight-lne basis and indefinite life assets are not amortised The amortisation expense IS
taken to the ncome statement through operating expenses

The existing finite Iife ntangible assets have a residual value of nil and are amortised over ther estimated useful lives as follows

Customer contracts - over the Iife of the contract (between 1 and 33 years)
Right to operate TOC franchises — over the Iife of the franchise (between 1 and 7 years)

Intangble assets with iIndefinite ives are tested annually for imparrment and the useful Ives of firite life intangible assets are
examined on an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis Fintte Iife assets are reviewed
for mpairment where indicators of iImpairment exist

The Group's indefinite ife intangible assets nclude customer relationships and goodwill Customer relationship intangible assets
are recogrused only on contracts where historical expenence has shown that these contracts are consistently renewed |



2 Accounting policies continued

Software

Computer software that 1s not integral to an item of property, plant and equipment is recogrised separately as an intangible asset
and Is camed at cost less accumulated amartisation and accumulated imparrment losses Costs include software licences,
consulting costs attnbutable to the development, design and implsmentation of the computer software and internal costs drectty
attributable to the development, design and implernentation of the computer software Costs in respect of training are expensed
as incurred Amortisation 1s calculated using the straight-line method so as to charge the cost of the computer software to the
income staterment over its estmated useful life {(seven years)

The camying value of Intangibles 1s reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable

Goodwil!

Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group's
interest in the net far value of the identifiable assets, labiities and contingent liabilities  Following initial recognition, goedwill 1s
stated at histonc cost less any accumulated impairment If an acquisition gives nse te an excess of the acqurrer's interest in the
net fair value of the acquiree’s dentifiable assets, liabilites and contingent habiittes over cost (previously referred to as negative
goodwill, this 1s credited immediately to the income statement

In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill 1s not amortised  All goodwill 1s subject to an annual test of impairment and an impairment
charge recognised as required

Farr valug accounting adjustments are made in respect of acquisitions Farr value adjustments based on provistonal estimates are
amended within one year of the acquisition if required, with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill, in order to refine
adjustments to reflect further evidence gained post acquisition

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and all or part of that unit 1s disposed of, the associated goodwill 1s ncluded
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal of the operation

Propenrty, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment 1s stated at histonc cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated imparment losses
Under the transitional arrangements of IFRS 1, the Group elected to deem the far value of certain revalued assets to be
equivalent to cost

Land and buldings comprise mainly vehicle depots and garages, and offices Freshold land 1s not depreciated Cther property,
plant and agupment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estmated useful ives as follows

Freehold buldings - 30 to 50 years
Long leasehold property improvements - 15t0 40 years
Public service vehicles -8to 15 years
Plant and equipment, fixtures and fittings -3 10 15 years

Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjustmenits, where applcable, are made on a prospective basis
Repairs and mamtenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred

An item of property, plant and equipment 1s derecognised upen disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to anse from the continued use of the asset Any gain or loss ansing on the derecognition of the asset 1s Included in the Income
statement in the penod of derecognition
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

2 Accounting policies continued

Impairment of non-financial assets

All non-current assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in cr¢umstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, except for indefinite life intangible assets and goodwill which are reviewed annually An
imparment loss I1s recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount which
1s the higher of an asset’s far value less costs to sell and its value in use For the purposes of assessing imparment, assets are
grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows

fn assessing value In use, the estmated nisk adjusted future cash flows are discounted to ther present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects curent market assessments of the time value of money Impairment losses are recognised in the
ncome statement In expense categores consistent with the function of the impaired asset

Except for goodwill impairments, a review s made at each reporting date of any previous impairment losses to assess whether
they no longer exist or may have decreased i such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 1s estimated and any
previously recognised impairment loss 1s reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to assess the
recoverable amount since the last imparrment loss was recognised If that 1s the case the carrying amount of the asset 1s
ncreased, subject to a imit of the asset's net book value had no previous impairment loss been recogrised Such reversal 1s
recogrised in the Income statement Future depreciation or amortisation 1s then adjusted to allocate the asset’s revised carrying
amount over its remaining useful economic ife Impairments to goodwill cannot be reversed

Financial instruments

The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at mitial recognition The Group classifies its financial assets
in the following categories at far value through profit or loss, loans and recevables, and avallable-for-sale The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acguired

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at far value through profit or ioss are financial assets held for frading A financial asset 1s classified in this
category If acquired principally for the purpose of selling i the short term Denvatives are also categorised as held for trading
unless they are designated as hedges Assets in this category are classified as current assets

Financial assets carned at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed
in the income statement Gains or losses ansing from changes in the far value of the ‘financial assets at far value through profit
or loss’ category are presented in the income statement within finance costs in the penod in which they anse

Loans and receivables

Loans and recevables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determmable payrnents that are not quoted in an actve
market They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which
are classified as non-current assets The Group's loans and receivables compnse ‘trade and other recewvables’ and ‘cash
and cash eguivalents’ in the balance sheet

Available-for-sale financial assets

Avallable-for-sale financial assets are non-dernvatives that are ether designated in this category or not classified in any of the
other categenes They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within
12 months of the balance sheet date

The Group's Investments in entities that are not subsidianes, associates or jont ventures are classified as avalable-for-sale
financial assets After initial recognition these assets are measured at farr value with gains or losses being recognised as a
separate component of equity until the Investment 1s derecogrised or the investrnent 1s determined to be imparred, at which
time the previously reported cumulative gain or loss 1s included In the income statement Where there 18 no active market for
the Group's investments, farr value 1s determined using valuation techrnuques including recent commercial transactions and
discounted cash flow analyses In the absence of any other reliable external information, assets are carned at cost or amortised
cost as appropriate

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there 1s objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financal
assets 1s mpared In the case of equity securities ¢lassified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the secunty below its cost 1s considered as an indicator that the secunties are impared If any such evidence exists for
avallable-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
far valug, less any mparrrment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — 1s removed from equity and
recognised n the ncome statement Imparment losses recognised in the ncome statement on equity nstruments are not
reversed through the iIncome statement




2 Accounting policies continued

Denvative financial instruments

The Group uses denvalive financial nstruments such as foreign currency forward exchange contracts, fuel dervatives and
interest rate swaps to hedge its nsks associated with foreign currency, fuel pnice and interest rate fluctuations Such derivative
financial Instruments are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently remeasured to far value for the reported balance
sheet The far value of foreign currency forward exchange contracts, interest rate and fuel dervatives 1s calculated by reference
to market exchange rates, interest rates and fuel prices at the penod end

The Group's fuel derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that
18 determined to be an effective hedge 1s recogrised directly n equity, and the tneffective portion in the income statement The
gains or losses deferred in equity in this way are recycled through the income statement in the same penod in which the hedged
underlying transaction ar firm commitment 1s recognised in the income statement

The Group's interest rate swaps are designated as farr value hedges The gan or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised
immediately in the ncome statement The carrying amount of the hedged item 1s adjusted through the income statement for the
gain or loss on the hedged item attnbutable to the hedged rnisk, m this case movements in the sk free interest rate

Foreign currency dervatives are used to hedge the Group's net investment in foreign currency denominated operations and

to the extent they are designated and effective as net nvestment hedges are matched in equity against foreign exchange
exposure in the related assets and habilites Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the income statement when
the foreign operation 1s partially disposed of or sold Foreign currency forward contracts are also used to hedge transactional
exposures These contacts are not hedge accounted and all gains and losses are taken direct directly to the mcome staternent

For derwvatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, gans or losses are taken directly to the income statement in
the penod

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, 1s sold, terminated, exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting

Inventories
Inventores are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a FIFO basis, after making due allowance for obsolete

or slow moving items

Pre-contract costs

Pre-contract costs assoctated with securing new rail franchises are expensed as incurred up to the point when a franchise 1s
awarded From this pont in time, they are recognised as an asset and are expensed tc the ncorne statement over the Iife of the
franchise Costs associated with the commencement of all new contracts other than rail franchises are expensed as incurred

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables are recognised and carmed at onginal invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible
amounts Doubtful debts are provided for when collection of the full amount 1s no longer probable, whilst bad debts are written
off when identified

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as defined for the cash flow statement compnise cash in hand, cash held at bank with immediate
access, other short-term investments and bank deposits with maturities of three months or less from the date of mcephion
and bank overdrafts In the consclidated balance sheet, cash includes cash and cash eguivalents excluding bank overdrafts
Bank overdrafts that have no legal nght of set-off against cash and cash eguvalents are included within borrowings in
current habilities

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are recogrised intially at far value and subsequently measured at amortised cost ustng the effective
interest method

Interest-bearing borrowings

All loans and borrowings are intially recogrised at cost beng the net far value of the consideration received plus transaction
costs that are directly attnbutable to the issue of the financial asset or liabilty After initral recognition, interest-bearing loans
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

2 Accounting policies continued

insurance

The Group’s policy 1s to self-nsure high frequency clams within the businesses To provide protection above these types of
losses the Group purchases insurance cover from a selection of proven and financially strong insurers The insurance provision
15 based on estmated exposures at the year end principally for claims ansing in the UK and North Amenca prior to the year-end
date, subjact to the overall stop loss within the Group’s insurance arrangements The majonty of provisions will be utilised within
sIX years, and the provision has been discounted to take account of the expected timing of future cash settlements

Pensions and other post-employment benefits
The Group has a number of pension schemes, both of a defined benefit and defined contribution nature Fult detanls are provided
In note 34

The balance sheet position in respect of defined benefit schemes compnses the net value for each scheme of the present value
of the relevant defined beneht obligation at the balance sheet date less the farr value of plan assets The trustees complete a full
actuaral valuation tnennially, separately for each plan, but the obligation 1s updated annually for financial reporting purposes by
independent actuaries, using the projected unit credit method The present value of the obligation ts determined by the estmated
future cash outflows discounted using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds which have terms to maturity equivalent to
the terms of the related liability

The current service cost and gains and losses on settlements and curtallments are recogrised n staff pension costs within
operating costs in the Income statement Past service costs are included in operating costs where the benefits have vested,
otherwise they are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period The finance elements of the pension cost,
comprising the expected return on assets of funded defined benefit schemes and the interest on pension scheme liabilties,
are also Included in operating costs Actuanal gans and losses ansing from expenence adjustments and changes in actuaral
assumptions are charged or credited to other comprehensive iIncome in the period in which they anse

Our TOCs participate in the RPS, a defined benefit scheme which covers the whole of the UK rail ndustry This i1s partitioned
into sections and the Group 1s responsible for the funding of these sections whilst it operates the relevant franchise In contrast
to the pension schemes operated by most bustinesses, the RPS 15 a shared cost scheme, which means that costs are formally
shared 60% by the employer and 40% by the employee A hability 1s recognised in Iine with other defined benefit schemes in the
Group, although this 1s offset by a franchise adjustment so that the net liability represents the deficit that the Group expects to
fund dunng the franchise term

The charges in respect of defined contribution schemes are recognised when they are due The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contnbutions into a defined contnbution scheme 1f the fund has insufficlent assets to pay
all employees benefits relating to employee service In the current and prior penods

Share-based payment

The Group awards equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees, under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options} of the Group The farr value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options Is recogmised as an expense The total amount to be expensed Is determined by reference
to the far value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market service and performance vesting conditions

(for exampte, profitability, sales growth targets and remaning an employee of the entity over a specified time period) Non-market
vesting conditions are incliuded in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest The total amount
expensed 1s recognised over the vesting period, which 1s the penod over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting conditions It recogrises the impact of the revision to onginal estimates, | any, in the ncome
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive cbligation as a result of past events, it 1s
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be
made Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance
sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect 1s matenal using a pre-tax discount rate The amortisation

of the discount 1s recognised as a finance cost

Contingent habilities are obligations that anse from past events that are dependent on future events They are disclosed in the
notes to the accounts where the expected future outflow 1s not probable




2 Accounting policies continued

Share capital, share premium and dividends

Where either the Company or employee share trusts purchase the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid,
including any transaction costs, I1s deducted from total shareholders’ equity as Own shares until they are cancelled or reissued
Any consideration subsequently receved on sale or re-issue 1s iIncluded in shareholders’ equity

Dmdend distnbutions to the Company’s shareholders are recogrised as a hability in the Group's accounts on the date when
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders Intenm dwvdends are recogrised in the pernod they are paid

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount 1s to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale 1s considered highly probable They are stated at the lower of carrying amount
and far value less costs to sell if their carrying amount 1$ to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use

A discontinued operation I1s a component of the Group that has been disposed of, or 15 classified as held for sale and it either
represents a separate major Ine of business or geographical area, I1s part of a plan to dispose of a separate major ine of
business or geographical area, or was an acquired subsidiary ntended for resale The resulting profit or loss from discontinued
operations 1s reported separately In the ncome statement

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised

Foreign currencies

The trading results of foreign currency dencminated subsidianes, joint ventures and associates are translated nto Sterling,
the presentation currency of the Group and functional currency of the parent, using average rates of exchange for the year
as a reasonable approximation to actual exchange rates at the dates of transactions

The balance sheets of foreign currency denominated subsidianes, jont ventures and associates are translated into Sterling

at the rates of exchange ruling at the year end and exchange differences ansing are taken directly to the translation reserve in
equity On disposal of a foreign currency denominated subsichary, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in the translation
reserve (since 1 January 2004 under the transitional rules of IFRS 1) relating to that entity 1s recogrised in the income statement
All other translation differences are taken to the income statement, with the exception of differences on foreign currency
borrowings and forward foreign currency contracts which are used to provide a hedge aganst the Group net investments in
foreign enterprises These are taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net Investment, at which time they are recogrised
In the ncome statement

New standards and interpretations not appled

The IASB and IFRIC have 1ssued the following standards, nterpretations and amendments with an effective date after the
date of these financial statements, which the directors expect may have a matenal mpact on the accounts of the Group n
future penods

IFRS 10 Consclidated Financial Statements (effective for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) - the standard
establishes the principles for the presentation of consolidated accounts when an entity controls one or more other entities

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) — the standard dstermines the
type of jont arrangement by assessing the nghts and obligations, and accounts for those rights and obhigations in accordance
with that type of joint arrangement

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in Other entities (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) — the standard
sets out the requirements to disclose information that enables users of accounts to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated
with, its interests in other entities and the effects of these interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows

IFRS 13 Farr value measurement (effective for annual peniods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) — the standard defines far
value, and a framework for measuring farr value

IAS 19 Employee benefits revised) (effective for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) ~ the standard will mpact
the measurement of the various components representng movements in the defined benefit penston obligation and associated
disclosures, but not the Group's tota! obligation It 1s likely that following the replacement of expected returns on plan assets
with a net finance cost In the ncome statement, the profit for the period will be reduced and accordingly other comprehensive
Income increased

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015) — the standard deals with the
classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets and labilities, but has yet to be adopted by the EU
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

3 Exchange rates
The most significant exchange rates to UK Stering for the Group are as follows

2011 2011 2010 2010

Closingrate  Average rate Closing rate Average rate

US dollar 1.55 1.61 156 155
Canadian dollar 1.58 1.58 156 161
Euro 1.20 1.15 117 117

If the results for the year to 31 December 2010 had been retranslated at the average exchange rates for the year to

31 December 2011, North American Bus would have achieved normalised operating profit of £35 8m on revenue of £447 9m,
compared to normalised operating profit of £36 9m on revenue of £459 8m as reported, and Eurcpean Bus & Coach would have
achieved a normalised operating profit of £87 2m on revenue of £5631 4m, compared to normalised operating profit of £86 2m
on revenue of £525 6m as reported

4 Revenue
2011 2010
£m £m
Rendenng of services 2,231.3 2,1188
Rental ncome 6.7 71
Revenue 2,238.0 21259
Finance income 6.7 48
Total revenue from continuing operations 2,244.7 2,1307

5 Segmental analysis
The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the public transport services they
provide and the geographical market they operate n Commentary on the segments 1s included in the Business Review

Analysis by ciass and geography of business

Extenal Inter-segment Segment External  Inter-segment Segment

revenue sales revenue revenue sales revenue

2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010

£m £m £m £m £m £m

UK Bus 263.1 0.4 2635 2573 05 2578
UK Coach 254.5 4.6 259.1 2457 46 2503
UK Ralil 688.3 - 688.3 637 5 - 637 5
Inter-segment sales elmination - {5.0) {5.0) - 51 {51)
UK operations 1,205.9 - 1,205.9 1,1405 - 1,140 5
North Amencan Bus 481.0 - 481.0 4598 - 4598
European Coach & Bus 551.1 - 551.1 5256 - 5256
Total ravenua 2,238.0 - 2,238.0 21259 - 21259

Inter-segment sales represent rail replacement services provided to UK Raill by UK Bus and UK Coach Inter-segment trading
1s undertaken on standard arm’s length commercial terms Due to the nature of the Group’s businesses, the ongin and
destination of revenue 1s the same No single external customer amounts te 10% or more of the total revenue




5 Segmental analysis continued

Contmuing Discontinued Continuing Driscontinued
Intangible Intangible
amortisation amortisation
Normalised and Nomalised and
operatng exceptonal Segment Segment operatng  exceptional Segment Segment
profit tems resuit resutt profit tems resutt resuit
2011 201 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
UK Bus 2.7 - 327 283 67) 216
UK Ceach 34.9 - 349 320 (003} 319
UK Raul 43.4 (1.7) 41.7 338 (20 7) 131
UK operations 111.0 (1.7) 1093 941 (27 5) 66 6
North Amencan Bus 47.9 (3.3) 44.6 369 (34 3) 26
European Coach
& Bus 90.1 {45.8) 443 862 (47 8) 384
Central functions (14 6) - {14.6) (130) B87) 217)
Project costs {9.2) - {9.2) - - -
Result from
continuing operations 2052 (50.8) 1744 204 2 (118 3} 859
Result from
discontnued
operations - - _ ©5)
Total result 174.4 - 859 {0 5)
Loss on disposal of
non-curent assets - - - -
Profit/(loss) from
cperations 174.4 - 859 {C5)
Share of post tax
results from associates
and joint ventures 1.4 - 03 -
Net finance costs {46.4) - (46 0) -
Profit/(oss) before tax 1204 - 402 (05
Tax {charge)/credit {26.8) - 225 g1
Profit/(loss) for the year 102.6 - 627 (0 4)

Cne off project related costs of £9 2m have been charged within operating costs £5 2m relates to the settlement and associated

legal expenses of a working time claim in North Amenca, the remainder relates to external fees in response to the Competition

Commission enquiry inte the UK bus industry, costs associated with the acquisition of Petermann and professional fees relating

to the strategic and Board debate ahead of the 2011 Annual General Meeting

©
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

5 Segmental analysis continued

Intangible asset amortisation and operating exceptional tems can be analysed by ¢lass and location of business as follows

Intangible Operating

assel exceptonal
amortisation tems Total
2011 2011 2011
£m £m £m
UK Bus - - -
UK Coach - - -
UK Ral 17 - 1.7
North Amencan Bus 33 - 33
European Coach & Bus 458 - 458
Central functions - - -
Total continued operations 508 - 50.8
Discontinted operations (note 11) - - -
Total 508 - 50.8

Intangible Operating

asset  exceptonal
amortisation tems Total
2010 2010 2010
£m £m m
UK Bus - 67 67
UK Coach 02 {0 1) 01
UK Ral 24 183 207
North Amencan Bus 86 257 343
European Coach & Bus 458 19 47 8
Central functions - 87 87
Total continued operations 571 612 1183
Discontinued operations (note 11) - 05 05
Total 571 617 1188

There have been no exceptional costs incurred dunng 2011

In the year to 31 December 2010, exceptional costs of £18 3m were mcurred n UK Rall This comprnised additional costs

following & full and final settlement with the Department for Transport in relation to the National Express East Coast franchise

exit and costs assoctated with related contracts

Exceptional restructuring and redundancy costs of £25 7m were incurred in North Amencan Bus in delivering the Business

Recovery programme

Restructuring costs of £15 3m were incurred N the UK following changes in management in UK Coach and Gentral functions,

the relocation of the head office from London to Birmingham and other operational and corporate projects In addition,

rationalsation costs of £1 9m were incurred in European Coach & Bus




5 Segmental analysis continued

Assets, labiities and capital expendrture can be analysed by class and geegraphy of business as follows

DR L T e
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Ot which Of which

non-current Capital™ non-current Capital™
Assets assets® Lahities experxiiture Assets assets” Liabifhes  expendrture
2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 2010
£m £m £m m m £m £m £m
UK Bus 1377 117.3 {105.6) 240 1290 1093 850 88
UK Coach 721 53.1 {43.4} 128 574 455 (389 54
UK Rail 71.6 1.3 (186.4} 2.3 832 175 (202 6) 30
Intercompany slmination (0.9) - 09 - (13 - 13 -
UK cperations 280.5 1817 (334.5) 39.1 2683 1723 (325 2) 172
North Amencan Bus 720.1 656.9 (168.6} 63.1 7121 6428 (164 9) 958
European Coach & Bus 1,244.4 1,128.3 (150.4} 54.5 1,276 2 11831 (158 2 377
Cenfral functions 331 01 {67.7) 0.1 M7 01 82 1) 01
Unallocated 153.8 - (745.3) - 1691 - (767 2) -
Intercompany eimination (13.8) - 138 - (138) - 138 -
Total 2,418.1 19670 (1,452.7) 156.8 24236 1,998 3 (1,483 8} 1508

Non-current assets only nclude intangible assets, property, plant and equipment

*  Thenet capial expendture, after allowang for the movements in capital creditors, disposal of fixed assets and payments to acquire Intangibles,

was £145 8m (2010 £121 6m)

Capital expenditure comprises property, plant and equipment additions as disclosed above and in note 15 In 2011 software
intangble assets of £1 3m (2010 £2 O0m) were acquired n North America and disclosed in note 14

Unallocated assets and habilities comprise the following tems

Unallocated  Unallocated Unallocated Unallocated

assets liabdies assets habilies

2011 2011 2010 2010

£m £fm £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 92.5 - 1288 -
Cther debt recevables 0.7 - o8 -
Current tax 0.9 (19.7) 34 (121}
Non-current tax - (5.4) - (123
Available for sale nvestments 7.6 - 78 -
Denvative financial assets/(labilities) 52.1 (2.6) 255 (17 5)
Borrowings, excluding finance leases - (621.9) - {637 9)
Dmdend payable - (0.5) - 08
Deferred tax - (95.2) 28 (86 9)
Total 153.8 {745.3) 169 1 (767 2)




Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

6 Operating costs

201 2010

£m £m

Cost of nventones recognised in expense 66.0 758
Staff costs (including exceptional cost of £ril (2010 £12 8m)) 816.7 8018
Deprectation — Owned assets 928 84 4
— Leased assets 12.7 154
Amortisation of fixed asset grants {1.5) (17
Operating lease charges Rolling stock capital element 1012 874
Rolling stock non-capital element 45.6 373

Public service vehicles 4.3 44

Other 76 109

- Ptant and equipment 158.7 140 0

Fixed track access 573 570

Other 33.3 419

- Land and buldings 90.6 989

Foreign exchange differences (0.9) -
Other charges (including exceptional expense of £nil (2010 €48 4m)) 7777 7683
Operating costs before intangible asset amortisation 20128 19829
Intangble asset amortisation 508 571
Total operating costs 2,063.6 2,0400

The TOCs have fixed track access contracts with Network Rall Infrastructure Limited for access to the ralway nifrastructure
{tracks, stations and depots) The TOCs also have contracts under which rolling stock 1s leased The capital element of the

oling stock lease charge 1s based on the purchase price, capital funded refurtishments and modifications The non-capital
element of the lease charge includes heavy maintenance charges and charges based on mileage

An analysis of fees patd to the Group's auditors i1s provided below

2011 2010
m £m
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audtt of the consolidated and
parent Company accounts 0.3 05
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services
The audit of the Company’s subsidianes 0.6 07
Tax services - 10
Corporate finance services - 01
Other services - 06

0.9 29




7 Employee benefit costs
{2} Staff costs

2011 2010
m £m
Wages and salanes 704 4 6918
Social securty costs 95.6 a08
Pension costs (note 34) 11.7 153
Share-based payment (note 8) 5.0 39
816.7 8018
Included within staff costs are exceptional costs of £nil 2010 £12 8m)

The average number of employess, Including Executive Directors, during the year was as follows
201 2010
Managenal and administrative 3,318 3,341
Operational 35,603 34,063
38,921 37,404

Included in the above costs are the following costs related to the Group's key management personnel who comprise the
Directors of the parent Company

2011 2010

£m £m

Fees - 04
Basic salanes 1.0 12
Benefits 0.3 05
Performance-related boruses 1.2 13
Share-based payment 1.0 13
35 47

{b) Share schemes
Details of options or awards outstanding as at 31 December 2011 under the Group's share schemes are as follows

Number of Number of Future

share options  share options Exercise exercise

2011 2010 pnce penods

Executve Share Option Plan 57,042 149211  207p-448p 2012-2014
Long Term Incentive Plan 5,093,870 4,043,170 ml  2012-2014
Share Matching Plan 1,026,550 1,037,951 ml  2012-2014
Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan 1,075,762 1,027,658 ml  2012-2014
WMT Long Service Option Scheme - 7,530 ml n/a
WMT Long Service Option Scheme 296,361 308,330 129-604p 2012-2020
Sharesave Scheme 923,603 1,003,187 47%p 2012
Executive Deferred Benefit Plan 88,968 - il 2012

8,562,156 7,577,037
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

7 Employee benefit costs continued

{b) Share schemes continued

{1) Executive Share Option Plan

The Cornpany operates tax approved and unapproved executive share option schemes open to Group employees in senior
management posttions Options granted by this Plan have a maximum term of 10 years The options vest after three years
subject to the satisfaction of certain performance cnteria' based on the achievement of a target growth in earnings per share
If the performance crtena are not met when initally tested, 1N some nstances they may be reassessed dunng the term of the
option From 2005 executive share option grants have been replaced by awards made under the Long Term Incentive Plan,
as described in () There are no cash settlement alternatives

{n} Long Term incentive Pian (LTIP)

The LTIP was introcduced in 2005 on the recommendation of the Remuneraticn Committee to replace the annual award under
the Executive Share Option Plan to Executive Directors and to certain senior employees Under the LTIP, a Performance Award
to acquire a specified number of free shares may be made to the employee or Director In addition, a Matching Award may be
made, as descnbed In () Performance concitions are attached 1o the vesting of Performance and Matching Awards based on
both the achievement of target growth n earnings per share and the relative total shareholder return (TSR) of the Company
aganst a comparator group of companies If the performance conditions are met, Performance and Matching Awards vest on
the third anniversary of the grant date and reman exercisable for a penod of up to six months following the vesting date There
are no cash settlement attematives at present

In 2011 an HMRC approved share option plan was added as an appendix to the LTIP ('Approved Plan’) A partcipant can only
hold an option under the Approved Plan over shares with a market value of up to £30,000 at the grant date Options undler the
Approved Plan are granted in tandem with the usual options under the LTIP The options are structured such that on exercise,
the proportion of the gain in respect of the first £30,000 worth of shares (as measured at the date of grant) will be delivered
under the Approved Option and the LTIP option shall be scaled back to deliver the remaining gross gain that would have been
delivered had the option been granted alone The excess shares under the LTIP will be forfeited such that both awards will never
become fully vested

(in) Share Matching Plan (the 'Plan’}

The Share Matching Plan was introduced in 2005 as part of the new Long Term Incentive Plan arrangements descnbed in (i)
Under the Plan, a Matching Award to acquire a specified number of shares for free may be made if the employee pledges a
number of shares as investment shares which are then matched by the Company on up to a 2 1 basis with the number of shares
that could have been purchased with the pre-tax equivalent of the amount invested The Matching Awards vest on the third
anniversary of the grant date and remain exercisable for a penod of up to six months following the vesting date There are no
cash ssttlement alternatives at present

(iv} Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan

The Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan 1s a discretionary scheme which forms part of the bonus arrangements for certam senior
employees Under the scheme, part of any bonus may be receved in cash whilst the remander 1s used to make an award of ni
cost options which vest three years after the award date The options must be exercised within six months of vesting There are
no cash settiement alternatives at present

(v) West Midlands Travel Lid (\WMT) Long Service Option Scheme

The WMT Long Service Option Scheme utiises a fixed amount of shares set aside for this purpose following the acquisition of
WMT in 1995 and 1s open to all WMT employees who have been in service for more than 25 years The options are exercisable
between three and ten years following the grant date There are no cash settlement alternatives

(v) TWM Share Incentive Plan (the 'SIP’)

The TWM SIP exists for the benefit of WMT employees At the end of the year, 908 (2010 908) National Express Group PLC
shares were held for the benefit of the Trustee Dividends on shares held in the SIP forfeited shares account are waived There
are no cash settlement alternatives




7 Employee benefit costs continued

(b} Share schemes continued

(vin) Savings Related Share Optton Scheme (Sharesave Scheme)

The National Express Group approved Sharesave Scheme enabled eligible UK employeses, including Executive Directors, to
acquire shares In the Company through monthly savings over a three-year perod, at the end of which they also receved a tax
free bonus The savings and bonus could be used to purchase shares at a discounted option prnice set at the beginning of the
savings contract The options matured three years after the grant date and could be exercised for a penod of up to six months
after this date There are no cash settlement altematves

1 Performance cntena, for Executive Share Option Plan

(8} Options granted under the 2002 National Express Group Executive Share Option Plan Part 2 Unapproved

(o) For options granted n 2002 and 2003, the performance condition 1s as follows (g} for awards up to 50% of salary, EPS growth of RPI + 4% pa, (b)
for awards between 51% of satary and up to 100% of salary, EPS growth of RPI + 6% pa, {c) for awards between 101% of salary and up to 150% of
salary, EPS growth of RPI + 8% pa, (d) for awards between 151% of salary and up to 200% of salary, EPS growth of RPI + 10% pa Parts (a) and {b)
are intally tested over years 0-3 with a faciity 1o retest over years 0-4 and 0-5 Parts (c) and {d} are not sulyect to retesting Straight-iine vesting
occurs between EPS levels

{c} For options granted in 2004, the performance condition 1s as follows (a) for awards up to 50% of salary, EPS growth of RPI + 4% pa, {b) for awards
between 51% of salary and up to 100% of salary; EPS growth of RPl + 5% pa, (c) for awards between 101% of salary and up to 150% of salary; EPS
growth of RPI + 6% pa, (d) for awards between 151% of salary and up to 200% of salary, EPS growth of RPI + 10% pa Perfomance is tested over
years 0-3 Straght-line vesting occurs between EPS levels Retesting 1s not permitted

{vin} Executive Deferred Bonus Plan

As detalled in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, the Committee considered it appropriate for bonuses awarded In respect

of the calendar year to be deferred for a penod of one year and that these would vest, subject to the terms of the award and the
relevant Director's continuing employment The deferred forfeitable ordinary shares are awarded under the terms of The National
Express Group Executive Deferred Bonus Plan which was adopted by the Board of the Company on 10 March 2009

The pnncipal terms of awards under the Executive Deferred Bonus Plan are summarised below

e awards under the Plan may be cash awards, conditional awards or forfeitable shares awards,

« awards normally vest one year from the date of grant, subject to the relevant Director’s continued employment with
the Company,

« the Committee may decide that participants shall be entitled to receive a benefit determined by reference to the value of the
dividends that would have been paid on the vested shares in respect of dividend record dates occurring during the period
between the grant date and the date of vesting, and

+ the awards will normally lapse on cessation of employment save in certain compassionate 'good leaver’ crcumstances
(eg death or disabiity)

In the event of a vanation of the share capital of the Company, the Committee may make such adjustments to the awards

as it considers appropriate

9
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

8 Share-based payment
The charge in respect of share-based payment transactions ncluded in the Group’s income statement for the year 1s as follows

2011 2010
fm £m
Expense ansing from share and share option plans — continuing operations 5.0 39

There were no exceptional costs included within the charge during the year (2010 £0 9m)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group had eight share-based payment arrangements, which are described
In note 7{b)

For the following disclosure, share options with a nil exercise price have been disclosed separately to avod distorting the
weighted average exerctse prices The number of share options in existence during the year was as follows

2011 2010
Weghted Weighted
average average
Number exercise Number exercise
of share pnce of share pnce
optons p optons p
Options without a nil exercise pnce
At 1 January 1,460,728 42 1,900,806 449
Granted dunng the year 14,140 242 17,820 116
Forfeited dunng the year (133,551) 410 {424,406) 472
Exercised durng the year {2,735) 143 {2.330) 129
Expired dunng the year (61,576) 434 (31.162) 345
Outstanding at 31 December’ 1,277,006 445 1,460,728 442
Exercisable at 31 December 247,755 241 359,568 405
Options with a nil exercise pnce
At 1 January 6,116,309 nil 5,700,517 n
Granted dunng the year 4,143,972 nil 3,272,571 nd
Forfeited dunng the year (1,245,344) nil (1,083,685) nl
Exercised dunng the year (1,172,720) nil (1,299,223) il
Expired during the year {557,067) nil (473,871) nd
Outstanding at 31 December 7,285,150 nil 6,116,309 nl
Exercisable at 31 December 444,461 10,357
Total cutstanding at 31 December 8,562,156 7,577,037
Total exercisable at 31 December 692,216 369,925

! Included wathun this balance are options over 21,342 (2010 92,209} shares for which no expense has been recogrsed in accordance with the
transihonal provisions of IFRS 2 as the options were granted before 7 November 2002 Although there has been subsequent modification to the
options, no IFRS 2 charge has been recognised as the amounts are not matenal

The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had exercise prices that were between 129p and 604p (2010 between 117p
and 604p) excluding options with a nil exercise price The range of exercise prices for options was as follows

Exeraise pnce (p} 2011 2010
0-300 127,710 132,914
300-350 33,483 40,509
350-650 1,115,813 1,287,305

1,277,006 1,460,728

The options have a weighted average contractual hfe of one year (2010 one year) Options were exercised regularty throughout
the year and the weighted average share pnce at exercise was 241p (2010 229p)




8 Share-based payment continued

The weighted average far value of the share options granted dunng the year was calculated using a stochastic model, with the

following assumptions and inputs

Share options without nil exercise pnce

Share options with nil exercise pnee

2011 2010 2011 2010
Risk free interest rate 2.70% 18%-30%  130%-144% 18%-3 0%
Expecied volatiity 36.4% 376%  51.5%-51.6% 527%
Peer group volatity - -  551%-57.0% 49 6%-50 8%
Expected option Ife in years B years 8 years 3 years 3 years
Expected dwvidend vield 3.60% 0%  3.47%-3.64% 0%
Weghted average share price at grant date 242p 226p 242p 229
Weghted average exercise pnce at grant date 242p 225p nil il
Weighted average far value of options at grant date 56p 76p 153p 202p

Experience to date has shown that approximately 24% (2010 15%) of options are exercised early, principally due to leavers
This has been incorporated into the calculation of the expected option life for the share options without nil exercise pnce

Expected volatility in the table above was determined from histoncal volatility over the last eight years, adjusted for one-off events
that were not considered to be reflective of the volatiity of the share price going forward The expected dvidend yield represents
the dividends declared in the 12 months preceding the date of the grant divided by the average share price in the month

preceding the date of the grant

For share options granted dunng the year under the LTIP, the TSR targets have been reflected in the calculation of the far value

of the options above

9 Net finance costs

Normalised Exceptional Total Nomalsed Exceptional Total
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Bond and bank interest payable {46.2) - (46.2) 437 2 0} (45 7)
Finance lease interest payable (5 0} - (5.0) (3 8 - 38
Other interest payable (0.2} - (0.2) €2 - 02
Unwind of provision discounting (1.7) - (1.7) (11) - (11)
Finance costs {53.1} - {53.1} (48 8) (20 (50 8)
Cther financial ncome 6.7 - 6.7 48 - 48
Net finance costs (46 4) - (46.4) 44 Q) (20 (46 0)
Of which, from financial nstruments
Cash and cash equivalents {0.1) - ©1 [{O): 1] - 04
Financial labilties measured at amortised
cost (40.2) - (40.2) (38 8) - {38 8)
Financial labilities at far value through profit
or loss - - - ©2 - 02
Denvatives used for hedging 3.8 - 3.8 05 - 05
Loan fea amortisation (2.2) - {2.2) (2 5) (20) (4 5)

The 2010 exceptional charge of £2 0m relates to residual unamortised loan fees as a result of refinancing the Group's syndicated
credit facility On 12 July 2010, the Group’s £800m multi-currency syndicated credit facility {matunty June 2011), was replaced
with a new four year £500m facility The remaining unamortised fees relating to the £800m facility were taken to the income

statement as an exceptional cost

SJUNCO0Y PAJEPI|OSUOY) BU] O} SIION 8




100

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts *

continued
10 Taxation
(a) Analysis of taxation charge/(credit) in the year
2011 2010
£m £m
Current taxation
UK corporation tax 13.2 44
Qverseas taxation 7.9 36
Current Income tax charge 211 80
Adjustments with respect to pror years — UK and overseas {11) {36 2)
Total current income tax charge/(credit) 20.0 {28 2)
Deferred taxation (note 27)
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences ~ continuing operations 6.8 5 4)
Adjustments with respect to pnor years — UK and overseas - 110
Deferred tax charge 6.8 586
Total tax charge/({credit) 26.8 (22 6)
The tax charge/{credit) in the Income staternent is disclosed as follows
Income tax charge/{credt) on continuing operations 26.8 (22 5)
Income tax credit on discontinued operations - 1)
268 (22 6)
The tax charge/{credit) on continuing operations i1s disclosed as follows
Tax charge on profit before intangible asset amortisation and exceptional tems a411.5 382
Tax credit on ntangble asset amorhsation and exceptional tems {14.7) 617)
26.8 (22 5)
Tax credit on intangible asset amorhsation and excepticnal items 1S analysed as follows
UK tax settierment (note 10h) - 321}
Tax credit on intangble asset amortisation (14.7) (17 1)
Tax credit on exceptional item - (12 5)
(14.7) 617}
(b) Tax on items recognised In other comprehensive income or equity
2011 2010
£m £m
Current taxation
Credit/{debit} on exchange movemenis offset in reserves 7.0 {60)
7.0 6 0)
Deferred taxation
Deferred tax credit on share-based payment 0.1 03
Delerred tax credit/(debit) on actuanal {losses)/gans 0.4 (9 8)
Defemred tax charge on cash flow hedgas {0.6) {6 6)
Deferred tax charge on exchange (4.1} -
(4.2) {16 1)




10 Taxation continued
(c) Reconciliation of the total tax charge/(credit)

2011 2010
£m £m
Profit from continuing operations before Income tax 129.4 402
Loss from discontinued operations before ncome tax - {0 5)
Accounting profit before ncome tax 129.4 397
Notional charge at UK corporation tax rate of 26 5% (2010 28 0%) 343 111
Non-deductible goodwill impamment and intangible amortisation 0.5 01
UK tax settlement (note 10h) - (32 1)
Utihsation of unrecognised tax losses (1.2) 1)
Effect of reduction in UK tax rates (note 10g} {0.4) 01
Pricr year adjustments within current and deferred tax (1.1) 87
Spanish reinvestment rehef and other tax credits (0.9) 1)
Effect of overseas tax rates 5.7 17
Tax on Spanish goodwill and ntangibles (6.2} 60
Overseas financing deductions (5.8) 6 4)
Non-deductible expenditure 1.9 54
Total tax charge/{credit) reported in the income statement (note 10a) 26.8 (22 6)

{d) Temporary differences associated with Group investments

No deferred tax (2010 £n1) 1s recogrised on the unremitted sarmings of subsidianes, associates and jont ventures, as the Group
has determined that these undistributed profits will not be distributed In the near future As a result of changes to tax legislation
n 2009, overseas dividends received on or after 1 July 2009 are generally exempt from UK corporation tax, but may be subject
to withholding tax There are no temporary differences (2010 £nil) associated with investments in subsidianes, associates and
joint ventures, for which a deferred tax hability has not been recognised but for which a tax hability may arnse

(&) Unrecogrused tax losses

Deferred iIncome tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the refated tax benefit
against future taxable profits s probable UK and overseas deferred tax assets that the Group has not recognised in the
accounts amount to £40 3m (2010 £37 0m), which anse in tax junsdictions where the Group does not expect to generate
sufficient suitable future profits In addition, there are capital losses of £7 1m (2010 £7 5m) which have not been recognised,
recoverability of which 1s dependent on capital gans ansing

{f} Deferred tax included in the iIncome statement

2011 2010

m £m

Accelerated capital alowances 68 ©2
Other short-term termporary differences (3.6) (13 1)
Utihsation of losses 36 279
68 56

Details on the balance sheet position of deferred tax are included in note 27

(9) Factors that may affect future tax charges

In the June 2010 Budget Statement, it was announced that the man rate of UK corporation tax would reduce from 28% to 27%
on 1 Apnl 2011 The legislation was enacted in July 2010 On March 2011, the UK Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a
further 1% reduction in the UK corporation tax rate to 26% effective from 1 Apnl 2011, along with subsequent reductions of 1%
each year to a final rate of 23% from 1 Aprnl 2014

At the batance sheet date, a rate of 25% (2010 27%) was substantively enacted The change in rate from 27% to 25% has
resulted in a tax ¢credit of £0 4m to the income statement

The proposed changes to reduce the UK corporation tax rate from 25% to 23% on 1 April 2014 will have a similar effect
In future years
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

10 Taxation continued
{h) UK tax setttement
Dunng 2011, there have been no exceptional tax charges or credits

Dunng 2010, the Group entered nto discussions with HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC) to settle a number of UK corporation
taxissues Negotiations wera concluded and the Group agreed to a lability of £16 8m, including interest, to be pad in
instaiments This resulted in an exceptional tax release of £32 1m

11 Discontinued operations
In 2011 there were no matenal movements ansing from discontinued operations

The 2010 cash flows from discontinued operations include an outflow of ©1 8m in relation to North Amernca Public Transit |
{disposed 1n 2005), an outflow of £1 6m in relation to Dot2Dot (disposed in 2009) and an outflow of £0 1m n relation to
the Group's Austraban operations (ciscontinued in 2009)

In 2010 a £0 3m loss from discontinued operations was recognised in relation to Dot2Dot and a £0 1m loss in relation
to the Australlan operations ‘

12 Dividends paid and proposed

2011 2010
m £m
Declared and paid dunng the year
Ordinary final dvidend for 2010 paid of 6 00p per share 30.5 -
Ordinary intenm dvdend for 2011 of 3 00p per share 15.3 -
458 -
Propesed for approval (not recognised as a liability at 31 December)
Ordinary final dvidend for 2011 6 5p per share (2010 6 Op per share} 333 306
13 Eamings per share \
2011 2010 .
Basic eamuings per share — continuing operations 19.9p 12 1p i
Basic loss per share ~ discontinued operations - 0 1p)
Basic eamings per share — total 19 9p 120p
Normalised basic eamings per share 270p 23 6p
Diluted eamings per share — continuing operations 19.8p 121p
Diuted loss per share — discontinued operations - 0 p)
Diluted eamings per share - total 19.8p 12 Op
Normalised diuted earmings per share 26.9p 23 5p

Basic earmings per share 1s calculated by dividing the earmings attributable to equity shareholders of £101 2m (2010 £61 4m)
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding those held by employee share ownership
trusts and those held as treasury shares which are both treated as cancelled

For diluted earmings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year 1s adjusted to include
the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares

The reconciliation of basic and diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares (s as follows

2011 2010
Basic weighted average shares 509,388,824 509,398,911
Adjustment for dilutive potential ordinary shares 1,566,324 2,546,167
Diluted weighted average shares 510,945,148 511,945,078

The normalised basic and normahsed dituted earnings per share have been calculated in addition to the basic and diluted
earmings per share required by IAS 33 since, In the opinion of the Directors, they reflect the underlying performance of the
business' operations more appropriately




13 Earnings per share continued

The reconciliation of the earnings and earnings per share to therr normahsed equivalent 1s as follows

2011 2010
Basic EPS Diluted EPS Basic EPS Diluted EPS
£m p p £m P P
Profit attnbutable to equity shareholders 101.2 19.9 19.8 614 120 120
Loss from discontinued operations - - - 04 01 01
Profit from continuing operations
Attnbutable to equity shareholders 101.2 19.9 19.8 618 121 121
Intangible asset amortisation 508 100 10.0 571 112 111
Exceptional tems - - - 612 120 120
Exceptional finance costs - - - 20 04 04
Tax relief on goodwill and exceptional
items (including exceptional tax) (14.7) (2.9) (2.9) 617 {12 1) (12 1)
Normalised profit from continuing
operations and attnbutable to equity
shareholders 137.3 27.0 26.9 1204 236 235
14 Intangible assets
Customer Raul Finte  Contractual Indefirute
contracts franchise Software  Ufe assets relatonships Goodwll life assets Total
m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2011 426.3 99 290 458.2 57.8 1,104.4 1,162.2 1,6204
Additions 26 - 13 3.9 - 0.4 0.4 4.3
Foregn exchange (11.0) - 0.3) (11.3) {0.8) {21.9) (22.7} {34.0)
At 31 December
2011 417.9 99 23.0 450.8 570 1,082.9 1,139.9 1,590.7
Amortisation and
mparment
At 1 January 2011 2334 8.0 9.3 250.7 - 85.5 855 336 2
Charge for year 46.6 17 25 50.8 - - - 508
Foreign exchange 77 - - (7.7) - (1.1) {1.1) {8.8)
At 31 December
2011 2723 97 118 293.8 - 84.4 844 378.2
Net book value
At 31 December
2011 145.6 02 11.2 157.0 57.0 998.5 1,055.5 1,212.5
At 1 January 2011 192.9 19 12.7 207.5 57.8 1,018.9 1,076.7 1,284.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

14 Intangible assets continued

Custorner Finte  Contractual Indefinite
contracts Ral franchise Software Ife assets  relatonships Goodtwill Iife assets Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m m

Cost
At 1 January 2010 4340 99 1886 462 5 558 1,116 4 1,1722 1,634 7
Disposals 47 - - 47 - 09 09 56
Additions intemally
generated - - 20 20 - - - 20
Foreign exchange (12 4) - 14 (1190 20 (129) (109) 219
At 31 December 2010 426 3 99 220 458 2 578 1,104 4 1,162 2 1,620 4
Amortisation and
imparment
At 1 January 2010 1910 57 13 1980 - 868 868 2848
Charge for year 470 24 77 57 1 - - - 571
Foreign exchange (4 6} {01) 03 4 4) - (13 (13) B7
At 31 December 2010 2334 80 93 2507 - 855 855 3362
Net book value
At 31 December 2010 1929 19 127 207 5 578 1,0189 10767 1,284 2
At 1 January 2010 2430 42 173 2645 558 1,029 6 1,085 4 1,349 9

Indefinite Iife Intangible assets and goodwill have been allocated to individual cash-generating units for annual iImparment testing
on the basis of the Group's business operations The carrying value of mdefinite life intangible assets by cash-generating unit 1s
as follows

2011 2010
Contractual 2011 Contractual 2010

relatonships Goodwall Total relatonships Goodwill Total
m £m m £m £m £m
UK Coach - 13.2 132 - 132 132
Narth Amencan Bus 39.7 276.1 3158 400 2764 3164
European Coach & Bus 17.3 709.2 726.5 178 7293 747 1
57.0 998.5 1,0555 578 10189 1,076 7

The useful economic lives of contractual relationships in North American Bus and European Coach & Bus are deemed to be
indefinite where historical expenence has shown that these contracts are consistently renewed The custormer contract and rail
franchise intangible assets are amortised over the finite duration of the contract or franchise as appropriate All amortisation
charges in the year have been charged to operating costs

The recoverable amount of indefinite life intangible assets has been determined based on a value In use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financtal budgets and forecasts approved by sentor management covering a five year penod Key
assumptions, including growth rates and operating margins, are based on historical expenence, detaled budget plans as well
as management’s assessment of current market and ecenormnic conditions Growth has then been extrapolated forward from
the end of the forecasts



14 Intangible assets contnued
The assumptions used for the cash-generating units, are as follows

Growth rate used to

Pre tax discount extrapolate cash flows

rate applied to beyond five year penod of

cash flow projections management plan

2011 2010 2011 2010

UK Coach 9.8% 9 9% 2.0% 20%
North Amencan Bus 11.3% 11 1% 2.0% 20%
European Coach & Bus 9.0% 84% 2.0% 20%

The calculation of value in use for each cash-generating unit 1S most sensitive to the assumptions over operating profit margin,
discount rates and revenue growth rates

The value n use of the North Amencan Bus division exceeds its carrying amount by £31 5m (2010 £32 4m) Sensitivity analysis
has been completed on each key assumption inisolation, and this iIndicates that the value in use of the division will be equal to
its carrying amount foliowing a reduction In operating profit margin of 50 basis points (2010 50 basis points), an increase in the
discount rate of 30 basis points {2010 30 basis points) or a reduction in revenue growth rates of 100 basis points (2010 110
basis points) The continued non-impairment of North America i1s dependent upon continuing to deliver the margmn recovery in
future years

The value n use of the European Coach & Bus division exceeds 1ts carrying amount by £176 8m (2010 £252 3m) Sensitivity
analysis has been completed on each key assumption i isclation, and this indicates that the value in use of the dvision will be
equal to its carrying amount following a reduction in operating profit margin of 260 basis points {2010 380 basis points), an
increase in the discount rate of 90 basis points (2010 130 basis points) or a reduction in revenue growth rates of 410 basis
ponts (2010 620 basis points) The decrease In headroom and increased sensitivity refiects the Spanish macro-economic
nsks, which have been ncorporated into the future cash flow assumphions (see Principal nsk and uncertanties section for
further details regarding how Group management recognises, priortises and puts in place measures to mitigate these nsks)

It 15 beheved that any reasonably possible movement on assumptions will not lead to an impairment of goodwill allocated
to UK Coach

The Directors consider the assumptions used to be consistent with the historical performance of each cash-generating unit
and to be realistically achievable in ight of economuic and industry measures and forecasts

15 Property, plant and equipment

Plant and
Long leasehold equipment,
Freehold land property Public service fixtures
and buildings  tmprovements vehicles and fithngs Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2011 95.2 a7 906.8 165.7 1,171 4
Addtions 19 0.5 1397 147 156.8
Acquisitions of businesses - - 15 - 15
Disposals - - (15.2) (5.4) (20.6)
Foreign exchange (2.0} - {7.3) (1.4) (10.7)
At 31 December 2011 95.1 4.2 1,0255 173.6 1,2984
Depreciation
At 1 January 2011 12 1.6 327.9 1166 457 3
Charge for the year 1.9 0.5 86.7 16.4 1055
Disposals - - (10.7) 4.7 (15.4)
Foreign exchange {0.1) {0.1) (2.6) {0.7) (3.5
At 31 December 2011 13.0 2.0 401.3 127.6 5439
Net book value
At 31 December 2011 82.1 2.2 6242 46.0 754.5

At 1 January 2011 84.0 2.1 578.9 49.1 7141
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continued

15 Property, plant and equipment continued

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

Plant ana
Long leasehold equipment,
Freehold land property  Public service fixtures
and buldings  improvements vehicles and fittngs Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2010 955 44 8169 158 6 1,075 4
Additions 32 06 1318 152 1508
Acquisions of businesses - - 24 - 24
Disposals {14) {15 (56 4) 86 ®79)
Forexgn exchange (2 1) 02 121 05 107
At 31 December 2010 952 37 906 8 1657 1,1714
Depreciation
At 1 January 2010 110 25 286 6 1027 4028
Charge for the year 18 05 795 180 998
Disposals {16 {t5) (45 6) a2 52 9)
Foreign exchange - 01 74 01 76
At 31 December 2010 112 16 327 9 116 6 457 3
Net book value
At 31 December 2010 840 21 5789 491 7141
At 1 January 2010 845 19 5303 569 6726
Property, plant and equipment held under finance lease agreements are analysed as follows
2011 2010
£mn £m
Land and buldings - cost 14 15
— depreciation {01) {01)
Net land and buldings 1.3 14
Public service vehicles —cost 2456 2151
- depreciation (61.5) {54 0)
Net publc servce vehicles 184.1 161 1
Plant and equipment — cost 0.9 13
- depreciation 08 (12
Net plant and equipment 0.1 01
Total net beok value 1855 162 6

Finance leased assets and assets under hire purchase contracts are pledged as secunty for the related finance lease and hire

purchase liabilities




16 Subsidianes

The companies histed below include all those which principally affect the result and net assets of the Group A full ist of
subsidianies, joint ventures and associates will be annexed to the next Annual Return to Companies House The pringipal
country of operation in respect of the companies below 15 the country n which they are mcorporated

National Express Group PLC 1s the beneficial owner of all the equity share capital, either itself or through subsidianes, of the
companies The Group’s train passenger services in the UK are operated through franchises awarded by DfT Rall, as delegated

by the UK Government

Incorporated in England and Wales

National Express Limited Administrabon and marketing of express coach services n Great Britan
Eurolines (UK} Limited Admnistration and marketing of express coach services to Europe

Arinks Arport Services Limited

Nationa! Express Rail Replacement Limited
The Kings Ferry Limited

West Midlands Travel Limited

¢2c Ral Limited

London Eastem Railway Limited (trading
as National Express East Anglia)

Operation of coach serices
Operation of coach services
Operation of coach services
Operation of bus services

Operation of tran passenger services

Operation of tran passenger services (ceased operating on 4 February 2012}

Incorporated in Scotland

Tayside Public Transport Co Uimited (trading as Travel Dundee) Operation of bus services

Incorporated in the USA

Durharm School Services LP

Operation of school bus services

Incorporated in Canada

Stock Transpertation Limited

Operation of school bus services

Incorporated in Spain

NEX Continental Holdings SL*
Tury Express SA*
General Tecnica Industnal SLU*

Holding company for operating companies
Holding company for operating companies
Holding company for operating companies

*  The man holdng comparies of the ALSA Group

Q
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

17 Denvative financial assets and available for sale investments

2011 2010
£m £m
Avallakle for sale Investments — Unlisted ordinary shares 7.6 78
Denvative financial nstruments - Interest rate denvatives 23.7 -
Denvative financial nstruments — Fuel denvatives 7.3 72
Denvative financial instruments mcluded in non-current assets 31.0 72
Denvative financial nstruments - Interest rate denvatives - 38
Denvative financial mstruments - Fuel dervatives 13.1 141
Denvative financial nstruments — Foreign exchange denvatives 8.0 04
Denvative financial instruments included in current assets 211 183
Further Information on the Group's use of fuel, interest rate and foreign exchange dervatives 1s included in note 31
Available for sale investments
2011 2010
£m £m
Caost or valuation and net book value
At 1 January 7.8 77
Additions - 03
Foreign exchange {0.2) 02
At 31 December 7.6 78
The prncipal avalable for sale nvestments ars as follows
201 2010
Proportion Proportion
held held
Name Country of registration Class of share % %
Bosnjak Holdings Pty Ltd Australia Crdinary shares 86 86
Prepayment Cards Limrted (PCL) England and Wales Ordinary shares - 235
Metres Ligeros de Madnd, S A (MLM) Spain Crdinary shares 15 15
Vanous investments within ALSA and Contnental Auto Span Ordinary shares 1-16 1-16




18 lnvestments accounted for ysing the equity method
Investments accounted for using the eguity method are as follows

2011 2010

fm £m

Jont ventures 2.0 20
Associates 4.6 46
Total nvestments accounted for under the equity method 6.6 66

The Group’s share of post tax results from associates and joirit ventures accounted for using the equity method 15 as follows

2011 2010
£m £m
Share of joint venture's profit 0.1 01
Sharg of associates’ profit 1.3 02
Total share of results from associates and joint ventures 14 03
(a} Investments in joint ventures
The Group's interests in joint ventures are as follows
Proportion held
Narne Country of registration Actmty %
thero-Eurosur S L Span Holding company of Deutsche Tounng 20
The financtal Information of this Jaint venture 1s summarised below
lbero
2011 2010
Share of jont venture’s balance sheet and resuits £m £m
Non-current asseis 3.5 37
Current assets - 01
Share of gross assets 3.5 38
Non-current liabilitiss (12 (15
Current labilities {0.3) 03
Share of gross labilities (1.5 (18
Share of net assets 20 20
Revenue 0.1 g1
Share of profit 0.1 01

The carrying amount of the investment in jont ventures matches the Group’s share of the net assets

R
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Notes ;o the Consali_dated Accounts '
continued

18 Investments accounted for using the equity method continued
{(b) Investments in associates
The Group's Interests In assoctates are as follows

Proportion held
Name Country of registration %
Inter-Capital and Regional Rail Limited England and Wales 40
European Coach & Bus associates Spain 20-50

Inter-Capstal and Regicnal Rall Limited ({CRRL} was contracted to manage the operations of Eurostar UK untl 2010 In 2006 and
2009, onerous contract provisions were recognised in relation to the Group's obligation to fund the losses of ICRRL As a result,
the Group ceased to recognise the share of results of ICRRL

European Coach & Bus’s associates are generally involved in the operaticn of coach and bus services, management of bus
stations and similar operattons

The aggregate amounts related to associates are summansed below

2011 2010
Share of associates’ balance sheets and resuits £m om
Non-current assets 4.7 51
Current assets 5.9 61
Share of gross assets 10.6 112
Nen-current kabiliies 2.4) 2 4)
Current habilites (3.6) 42)
Share of gross labilhes (6.0} 66
Share of net assets 4.6 46
Total revenue 15.6 155

Share of profit 1.3 02




19 Business combinations
(a) Acquisitions
2011 Acquisifions

During the year the Group paid £0 4m to acquire a controling interest in Damnco S A | a company that operates coach services

in Spain Goodwill ansing on the acquisition was £0 4m Included n the acquired balance sheet was £1 Om of bank borrowings

2010 Acquisitions

On 31 December 2010, in the United States, the Group acquired the entire share capital of school bus operator Voge! (Vogsl

Bus Company Inc) Detalls of the acquisition are disclosed n the 2010 Annual Report and Accounts In 2011, £6 8m of deferred

consideration was paid in relation to the acquisition

(b) Disposals
There were no business disposals m the Group in 2011 or 2010

Dunng 2011, £0 9m of deferred consideration was received in relation to the Group's Portuguese transport business that was

disposed of in 2008
20 Non-current assets — other receivables

2011 2010
£m tm
Trade recevables 4.7 47
Prepayments and accrued income - 01
Other recevables 1.2 12
5.9 60
21 Invantones
2m1 2010
£ £m
Raw rmatenals and consumables 188 176
The movement on the provision for slow moving and obsolete inventory 15 immatenal
22 Current assets — trade and other receivables
2011 2010
£m £m
Trade recenvables 1558 1503
Less prowision for mpaiment of recevables (10.2) (14 3)
Tracle recenvables — net 1456 1360
Amounts due from associates and joint ventures (note 36) 1.0 08
Amounts owed by other related parties (note 36) 1.0 13
Other recavables 47.2 305
Prepayments and accrued income 53.3 582
248.1 2268
An analysis of the provision for mparment of receivables 1s provided below
2011 2010
£m £m
At 1 January (14.3) (12 1)
Utiised/(provided) in the year 4.1 22
At 31 December (10.2) (14 3)

LE L e T

SJUNOOOY P3IJEPIOSUOY) Y] O] SojoN ==h



112

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

23 Cash and cash equivalents

2011 2010

£m £m

Cash at bark and n hand 64.8 815
Overmnight deposits 25.0 368
Other short-tenm deposits 2.7 105
Cash and cash eguivalents 92.5 1288

Cash and cash equivalents include restricted balances of £14 Om (2010 £21 7m) held by the UK Ral subsidanes (TOCs) Under
the terms of the tran franchise agresments, cash can only be distnbuted by the TOCs erther up to the value of retained profits or

the amount determined by prescnbed iguidity ratios The restricted cash represents the balance that is either not availlable for

distrbution or the amount required to satisfy the iquidity ratio at the balance sheet date

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on dally bank deposit rates Short-term deposits are made for
varying penods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn
interest at the agreed short-term floating deposit rate The farr value of cash and cash equivalents 1s equal to the carrying value

24 Current hlabilities - trade and other payables

2011 2010

£m £m

Trade payables 168.6 1753
Amounts owed to associates and jont ventures (note 36) 1.0 11
Amounts owed to other related parties (note 36) 0.7 07
Other tax and social secunty payable 17.2 360
Accruals and deferred income 182.8 1711
Other payables 96,1 864
466.4 47086

Trade payables are non-interest bearnng and are normally settled on 30 day terms and other payables are non-interest bearing
and have an average term of two months Included within other payables are deferred fixed asset grants from government or

other public bodies of £2 6m (2010 £2 3m)

Accrued interest on bonds of £30 4m was presented in other payables n the 2010 financral accounts In 2011, this has been

included within bonds — accrued interest, shown in note 28




25 Other non-current liabilities

2011 2010
£m £m
Deferred fixed asset grants 37 37
Other habilities 1.2 215
49 252
26 Provisions
Eurostar
onerous
Insurance contract
clams’ provision? Other® Total
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 458 18.2 15.6 79.6
Charged/{released) to the income statement 206 0.2) 48 25.2
Utiised in the year (24.0) (90) 87 417
Amortisation of discount 1.7 - - 17
Exchange diference 0.1 - - 01
At 31 December 2011 44.2 90 1.7 649
Current 31 December 2011 214 9.0 105 409
Non-current 31 December 2011 228 - 12 240
442 9.0 11.7 649
Current 31 December 2010 261 90 88 439
Non-current 31 December 2010 197 92 68 357
458 182 156 796

' The nsurance clams provision anses from estmated exposures at the year end, the majonty of which will be utilsed in the next five years, and

compnses provisions for existing clams ansing N the UK and North Amenca

2 A provision was recognised in 2006 for the Group's onerous contract for Eurostar with ICRRL. £8 Om (2010 £8 7m) was pad to ICRRL dunng

the year The remander has been settled in 2012

3 Other includes amounts provided for onerous property contracts, iabilites for future franchise exits within the UK Rail dvsion, costs ansing from
restructunng actvities and £4 6m of expected labiities for a working tme claim in North Amenca These amounts are expected to be settled dunng

2012 Other non-current amounts are expected to be settled in 2013
When the effect 1s matenal, the provisions are discounted to their net present value
27 Deferred tax

2011 2010

fm £m

Net deferred tax labity at 1 January {84.1) 638
Debit to ncome staternent {6.8) (5 6}
Charge to other comprehensive Income or equity {4.2) (16 1)
Exchange differences 1.4 14
Transfers from Corporation Tax (1.5) -
Net defarred tax lability at 31 December (95.2) 84 1)

Based on current caprtal Investment plans, the Group expects to be able to clam capital allowances in excess of depreciation

in future years at a sirular level to the current year

Deferred tax assets and habilities within the same junsdiction have been offset

wak
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
114 continued

27 Deferred tax continued

2011 2010
Deferred tax assets £fm £m
Accelerated tax depreciation - 10
Losses camed forward - 12
Other short-termn temporary differences - 26
Total - 28

2011 2010
Deferred tax kabities £m £m
Accelerated tax depreciation (151 7) (94 4)
Losses camed forward 30.1 373
Other short-term temporary differences 264 (29 8)
Total (95.2) (86 9)
28 Borrowings and denvative financial habilities

2011 2010

£m £m

Nen-current
Bank loans 55 36
Bonds 5834 5656
Finance lease obligations 129.2 1038
Other debt payable 0.3 14
Nan-current borrowings 718.4 674 4
Fuel denvatives 2.4 -
Interest rate dervatives - 51
Non-current denvative financial Instruments 2.4 51
Non-current borrowing and denvative financial labilies 720.8 6795
Current
Bank loans 24 362
Bonds — accrued interest 29.9 304
Finance lease obligations 221 278
Other debt payable 0.4 04
Current borrowings 548 948
Fuel denvatves - 20
Foreign exchange dervatives 02 104
Current denvative financial nstruments 0.2 124
Current borrowings and denvative financial iabilities 85.0 107 2

An analysis of Interest-bearing loans and borrowings ts prowvided in note 29 Further nformation on dervative financial instruments
Is provided in note 31

Accrued interest of £30 4m was presented in other payables in the 2010 financial accounts In 2011, this has been included
within bonds — accrued interest




29 Interest-beanng borrowings
The effective interest rates on loans and borrowings at the balance sheet date were as follows

2011 Effective 2010 Effective
£m Matunty interest rate £m Maturty nterest rate

7 year Stering bond 3516  January 2017 6.54% 3450 January 2017 6 54%
10 year Sterling bond 231.8 June 2020 6.85% 2206 June 2020 6 85%
Bonds 583.4 5656
Bonds ~ accrued interest 299 304
Sterlng bank loans - August 2014! LIBOR + 1.25% 353 August 2014 LIBOR + 1 45%
European bank loans 63 2012-2016 4.95% 30 2011-2015 3 00%
European bank loans 16 2012-2016 4.74% 15 2011-2015 2 64%
Bank ioans 79 398
US dollar finance leases
at fixed rate 117.3 2012-2018 267% a09 2011-2017 370%
European finance leases
at fixed rate 8.1 2012-2017 6.00% 84 2011-2015 65%
European finance leases
at floating rate 58 2012-2017 EURIBOR + 1.07% 88 2011-2016 EURIBOR + 0 62%
Sterling finance leases
at fixed rate 20.1 2012-2018 4.76% 235 2011-2018 4 76%
Finance leases 151.3 1316
Euro loans 0.7 2012-2014 - 18 2011-2016 -
Cther debt payable 0.7 18
Total 773.2 7692

' This date 1s the ultmate matunty date of the syndicated credit faciity

Dunng 2010, two new Sterling bonds with norminal values of £350m and £225m were 1ssued under the £1bn EMTN Following

the issuance of the £350m bond in January 2010 the Group repaid its €270m Euro bank loan The Group used the proceeds of
the £225m bond to repay a portion of its £800m syndicated credit facility (matunty 5 June 2011} This facility was subseguently

refinanced on 21 July 2010 and replaced with a £500m syndicated credit faciity (maturity 31 August 2014)

Under the terms of the £1bn EMTN programme, there 1s a change in control put option such that, upon a change of control
event, any holder of any MTN may require the Company to redsem or purchase that MTN

Detalls of the Group's interest rate nsk management strategy and assoctated nterest rate dervatives are included in notes
30and 3

The Group 1s subject to a number of financial covenants in relation to its syndicated credit facilities which, if contravened,
could result in its borrewings under the facility becoming immediately repayable These covenants specify maximum net debt
to EBITDA and minimum EBITDA to net interest payable
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29 Interest-beanng borrowings continued
The following table sets out the carrying amount, by matunty of the Group's interest bearing borrowings

<1year 1-2years 2-3 years 34 years 4 5years »Syears Tota!
As at 31 December 2011 fm £m £m £fm fm £m fm
Fixed rate
Bank loans {1.5) (14) {1.5) (1.3) (06) - (6.3)
Bonds - - - - - (613.3) {613.3)
Finance leases (20.3) (218) (34.8) (14.9) (12.7) (41.0) (145.5)
Other debt payable {0.4) {0.2) {0.1) - - - (0.7)
Floating rate
Cash assets 92.5 - - - - - 92.5
Bank loans {0.9) {0.3) (0.3} {0.1) - - {1.6)
Finance leases {1.8) {1.2) (1.0) {1.1) {0 5) 02 {5.8)

<1vyear 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years >5vyears Total
As at 31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m m £m
Fixed rate
Bonds - - - - - {596 0) (596 0)
Finance isases (229 (138) (156} (23 8) (127) 340 (122 8)
Other debt payable 0 4) - (12 - - {02 {(18)
Floating rate
Cash assets 1288 - - - - - 1288
Bank loans (36 1) 08 (16) 07) 086) - (39 8)
Finance leases 49) (14 {08 07} 08 02) (8 8)

30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies

Financial nsk factors and management

The Group's multinationa!l operations and debt levels expose it to a vanety of financial nsks, of which the most matenal are
market nsks relating to fuel prices, foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and the avalabiity of funding at reasonable
margins The Group has in place a nsk management programme that seeks to manage the mpact of thase risks on the financial
performance of the Group by using financial iInstruments including borrowings, committed facilities and forward foreign
exchange, fuel and mterest rate derwatives

The Board of Directors has delegated the responsibility for implementing the financial nsk management policies laxd down by the
Board to the Group Finance Director and Group Treasurer The policies are implemented by the Group Treasury department with
regular reporting to the Group Finance Director on its activities




30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

Foreign currency

The Group has major foreign operations in the US, Canada and Spam and as a result i1s exposed to the movements in foreign
currency exchange rates on the translation of these foreign currency dencminated net assets and eamings These movements
can have a significant iImpact on the Group's reported results The Group seeks to manage this foreign currency exchange
movements nsk by aligning its foreign currency denominated hatviities with the EBIT generated in each currency, such that
some protection 1s afforded to the net debt EBITDA covenant within the Group's core borrowing facility This i1s achieved by

a combination of foreign currency borrowings and finance leases, and entenng into derivative financial Instruments such as
cross currency Interest rate swaps and foreign exchange swaps At the year end, the Group had outstanding fereign exchange
derivatives of €250 Om and US$195 Om, swaps of US$49 Om, €6 Om, CE7 Om and finance leases of US$182 3m and €16 6m

Derwative financial nstruments are designated as net investment hedges of foreign currency assets The effective portion
of the gain or loss on the hedge 1s recognised In the statement of comprehensive ncome and recycled to the income
statement at the same time as the underlying hedged net assets affect the income statement Any ineffectiveness is taken
to the income statement

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates, with all other vanables held constant This woutd affect the Group’s profit before tax and translation reserve
The effect on the translation reserve represents the movement in the translated value of the foreign currency denominated loans
and change in far value of cross-currency swap contracts These movermnents would be offset by an opposite movement in the
translated value of the Group's overseas net investments It 1s estmated that a 10% change in the corresponding exchange
rates would result in an exchange gam or loss in the translation reserve of £17 2m

2011 2010

Effect Effect on Effect Effect on

Strengthening/ on profit translaton on profit transtation

(weakening) before tax reserve before tax reserve

As at 31 December N currency m £m £m £m
US dollar 10% - 15 - (15 5)
Euro 10% - (19.6) - 217
Canadian dollar 10% - 09 - {0 1)
US dollar (10%}) - (1.5) - 1556
Euro (10%) - 19.6 - 217

Canadian dollar (10%) - (0.9) — 01

Interest rate nsk

The Group 1s exposed to movements In interest rates on both interest-beanng assets and liabiities It 1s the Group's policy

to maintain an appropnate balance between fixed and floating interest rates on borrowings in order to provide a level of certanty
to interest expense in the short term and to reduce the year on year impact of interest rate fluctuations over the medum term
To achieve the desired fixed/floating ratio, the Group has entered into a series of interest rate swaps that have the effect of
converting fixed rate debt to floating rate debt The net effect of these transactions was that as at 31 December 2011 the
proportion of Group net debt at floating rates was 16% (2010 19%)

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with all other vanables held constant, on the Group’s profit before tax and on the Group's hedging reserve

The sensitivity analysis covers all floating rate financial instruments, including the interest rate swaps If the interest rates
applicable to floating rate instruments dencrminated In Sterling were increased by 100bps, it 1s estimated that the Group's

profit before taxation would decrease by approximately £1 3m The Group does not hold significant floating rate instruments
denomnated in US$ or in Euro and it i1s therefore estimated that the Group's profit before tax would change by less than £0 1m
should the interest rates apphcable to floating rate instruments denominated in USS increase by 50bps, or should the interest
rates applicable to floating rate instruments denorminated m Euro increase by 75bps The analysis assumes that the amount
and mix of floating rate debt, including finance leases, remains unchanged from that in place at 31 December 2011
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30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

2011 2010

Increase/ Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on

{decreass) profit hedging profit hedging

in basis before tax reserve before tax reserve

As at 31 December points £m fm £m £m
Sterling 100 (1.3) - (18 -
US dollar 50 - - o1 -
Euro 75 - - 02 -
Sterling {(100) 1.3 - 18 -
US dollar {50) - - O -
Euro (75) - - 02 -

Commodity prices

The Group s exposed to movements in commodity prices as a result of its fuel usage It 15 the Group's policy to hedge this
exposure in order to provide a level of certainty as to its cost in the short term and to reduce the year on year impact of price
fluctuations over the medium term This 1s achieved by entering into fuel denvatives At 31 December 2011, the Group had
hedged approxmately 100% of its 2012 expected usage and 50% of its expected usage in 2013 (see the Financial review
for further details)

The table below demonstrates the effect of a reasonably possible vanation in fuel pnces, with all other varniables held constant,
on the far value of the Group's financial Instruments and accordingly on the Group's profit before tax and on the Group’s
hedging reserve

The sensitivity analysis includes all fuel dervatives The effect on the hedging reserve anses through movernents on the far value
of the Group's fuel denivatives For these dervative contracts the sensitvity of the net farr value to an immediate 20% increase or
decrease In all prices would have been £37 1m at 31 December 2011 The figure does not include any corresponding ecenomic
advantage or disadvantage that would anse from the natural business exposure which would be expected to ofiset the gain or
loss on the denvatives

2011 2010

Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on

Increase/ profit hedging profit hedging

{Jecrease)} before tax reserve before tax reserve

As at 31 December In pnce fm fm £m £m

Sterling denommnated ULSD 20% - 11.6 - 135

US dollar denominated heating ol/diesel 20% - 121 - 116

Euro denominated ULSD 20% - 13.4 - 122

Stering denominated ULSD (20%) - {11.6) - (135

US dollar denominated heating oil/diesel (20%) - {(12.1) - (116)

Euro denommated ULSD (20%) - {13.4) - (122)
Credit nsk

The maxaimurn credit nsk exposure of the Group 1s the gross carrying value of each of its financial assets This nsk s miigated
by a number of factors Many of the Group's pnncipal customers, suppliers and financial institutions with which it conducts
business are public {or quasi-public) bodies, both national (BT Rall and Network Raill in the UK) and local {schoo! boards in
North Amenca, municipal authonties in Spain and Morocco, Transport for London and Centro in the UK) The Group does

not consider these counterparties to pose a significant credit nsk Qutside of this the Group does not consider it has significant
concentrations of credit nsk The Group has implemented policies that require appropnate credit checks on potential customers
before sales commence

The only elements of the Group’s financial assets which are not impaired but are past due are certan trade recewvable items

An ageing of the assets which are past due 1s ncluded in the table below In terms of trade recevables that are nether impaired
nor past due, there are no indications as at the year-end reporting date that the debtors will not meet their payment obligations
(see Pnincipal nsks and uncertainties section for detalls of how management manages this process)




30 Financial risk management obyectives and palicies continued
Of which not imparred and past due in the following penods

Of which
netther Between Between
Camyng impared Less than 30 and 60 61 and 90
amount nor past due 30 days days days Over 90 days
£m m £m £m £m £m
Trade recevables at 31 December 2011 1503 90.8 265 10.2 48 180
Trade recewvables at 31 December 2010 1407 1047 128 44 40 148

bLiquidity nsk

The Group's quidity nsk '8 managed centrally by the Group Treasury department with operating units forecasting therr cash
requirements The Group actively maintains a mixture of long-term and medium-term committed facilities that are designed

to ensure the Group has sufficient avarlable funds to meet current and forecast funding requirements In managing the iquidity
nsk, the Group has access to a range of funding sources through the banking and capital markets

At 31 December 2011, the Group had committed bank borrowing and finance lease facilities of £620 5m (2010 £631 6m})
The Group has a £500m committed unsecured revolving bank facility, matuning mn August 2014, which was undrawn at
31 December 2011 (2010 £460m} Letters of credit issued to support insurance retentions were £30 8m (2010 £39 4m)

The table below summarnses the matunty profile of the Group's financial labiities at 31 December 2011 based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows including interest cash flows As such the amounts in this table will not agree to the carrying amounts
disclosed in the Balance Sheet or cther Notes The table includes cash flows associated with denvative hedging instruments
Therr amounts reflect the maturty profile of the far value lability where the instrument will be settled net, and the gross settlement
amount where the pay leg of a denvative will be settled separately to the receive leg

Lessthan 1

On demand year 1-5 years »5years Total

Year ended 31 December 2011 m £m £m £m £m
Bank loans - 24 5.5 - 7.9
Bonds - 36.8 1471 656.5 8404
Finance lease obligations - 31.2 929 45.0 169.1
Other debt payable - 0.4 01 0.2 0.7
Trade and other payables - 463.8 1.2 - 465.0
ICRRL onerous contract obligation - 9.0 - - 9.0
- 543.6 2468 701.7 1,492.1
Foreign exchange dervatives - (8.0) - - (8.0)
Interest rate denvatives - (4.0) (12.3) (8.5) {24.8)
Fuel denvatves - {16.5) (5.7) - (22.2)
- (28.5) {18.0) (8.5 {55.0)

Less than 1

On demand year 1-5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended 31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m
Bank loans - 16 a7 7 - 493
Bonds - 368 147 1 6933 8772
Finance lease obligations - 283 831 385 1499
Other debt payable - c4 12 02 18
Interest rate dervatives - - - 12 12
Fuel dervatives - 37 64 - 101
Foreign exchange dervatives - 104 - - 10 4
Trade and other payables - 3907 215 - 4122
ICRRL onerous contract obligation - 90 92 - 182

- 4809 316 2 7332 1,530 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
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30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

Capital sk management

The Group seeks to adopt sfficient financing structures that enable it to use its balance shest strength to achieve the Group's
objectives without putting shareholder value at nsk The Group’s capital structure comprises its equity {refer to the Group
Statement of Changes in Equity} and its net debt (refer to note 37)

The increase in the Group's net debt from £610 4m to £633 7m {excluding accrued interest) 1s explaned in the Financial review
Information about the financial covenants in relation to the Group’s borrowing facilities 1$ ncluded in note 29

31 Fnancial instruments (Including cash, trade receivables and payables)
Fair values
The table below illustrates the fair values of all financial assets and labiities held by the Group at 31 December 2011

Loans and recevables are non dervative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market They are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and the carrying value in all cases
approximates to the far value

Avallable for sale investments are non derivative assets that are ether designated as available for sale, or are not classified as
loans and recevables or held to matunty investments The Group’s available for sale investments have no active market, and in
the absence of any other reliable external information are carned at cost or amortised cost which approximates to the far value

The far value of denvatives 1s either determined by the third-party financial institution with which the Group holds the instrument,
In ine with the market value of smilar financial nstruments or by use of valuation technigues using market data Denvatives, other
than those designated as effective hedging instruments, are classified as far value through profit or loss and are carried on the
balance sheet at therr farr value with gains or losses recognised in the Income statement Dernvatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge are carmed on the balance sheet at their farr value For cash flow hedges and hedges of net
nvestments In foreign operations, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion 1s recognised in the ncome statement Amounts taken to other
comprehensive iIncome are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss or when the
foreign operation is sold or partially disposed For far value hedges, all gains or losses are recogrised in the ncome statement

Denvatives are the only instrument which the Group holds at far value The farr value measurement of these instruments s
categorised within the Level 2 (ie the far values are derived based on observable market inputs}), in accordance with IFRS 7

The Group's bonds are held at a hybnd amortised cost with a far value adjustment After initial recognition at far vatue, the
bonds are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method A portion of the bonds are designated as the
hedged tem in an effective farr value hedging relationship As such the carrying value of this portion 1s adjusted for changes In
farr value attributable to the nisk being hedged This net carry:ng value will differ to the far value depending on movements in the
Group’s credit nsk, movements in nterest rates on the un-hedged portion and unamortised fees

All other habilities including finance leases, banks {oans, trade and other payables and other debt payable are held at amortised
cost After imitial fair value recognition, these instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method
The carrying value of these liabilities approximates to the far value




31 Financial instruments (Inctuding cash, trade receivables and payables) continued

Liabsithes
Available- Denvatives measured at At fair value
Loans and for-sale used for amorhsed through
Classification of financial instruments recevables assets hedging cost profitorloss Total
As at 31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
investments - 7.6 - - - 76
Fuel denvatves - - 204 - - 204
Forexgn exchange denvatives - - 80 - - 8.0
Interest rate denvatives - - 23.7 - - 23.7
Cash and cash equivalents 92.5 - - - - 925
Trade and other recavables 200.7 - - - - 200.7
293.2 7.6 521 - - 352.9
Liabilties
Bank lcans - - - 79 - (7.9}
Bonds including accrued interest - - - (613 3) - (613.3)
Finance lease obligations - - - (151 3) - (151.3)
Other debt payable - - - (07) - (0.7)
Fuel denvatives - - (2.4} - - (2.4)
Foreign exchange denvatives - - {0.2} - - {0.2)
Trade and other payables - - - (465 0) - (465.0)
ICRRL onerous contract obligation - - - {9.0) - {9.0)
- - (2.6) {1,247.2) - (1,249.8)
Avalable- Denvatves Liabiibes Al far value
Loans and for-sale used for measured at through
Classification of financial instuments recewvables assets hedgng amortised cost profit or loss Total
As at 31 Decermber 2010 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Investments - 78 - - - 78
Fuel denvatives - - 213 - - 213
Foreign exchange dervatives - - 04 - - 04
Interest rate denvatives - - 38 - - 38
Cash and cash equivalents 1288 - - - - 1288
Trade and other receivables 2328 - - - - 2328
3616 78 255 - - 394 9
Liabilities
Bark loans - - - (32 8) - (39 8
Bonds ncluding accrued interest - - - (596 O) - (596 0)
Finance lease obfigations - - - (131 6) - (131 6)
Other debt payable - - - (18) - (18
Interest rate dervatives - - 51 - - 51
Fue! denvatives - - 20 - - (20
Foreign exchange dervatives - - (104) - - (10 4)
Trade and other payables - - - (526 2) - (526 2
ICRRL onerous contract obligation - - - (18 2) ~ (18 2)
- - (17 5} (1,313 6) - (1,331 1)

Other recevables and other payables are to be settled in cash in the currency they are held in

In accordance with 1AS 38, 'Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’, the Group has reviewed all contracts
for embedded dervatives that are required to be separately accounted for No embedded denvatives have been identified
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122 continued

31 Ainancial instruments (including cash, trade receivables and payables) continued

The Group assesses at each year-end reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets 1s impared In the
financial year 2011 there was no objective evidence that would have necessitated the impairment of lcans and receivables
or avallable-for-sale assets except the provision for impaiment of recevables (see note 22)

Hedging activities

The Group uses derivative financial instruments 10 manage exposures to market nisk, such as movements in foreign exchange
rates, fuel prices and interest rates Such dervative financial instruments are inibially recognised at fair value and are subsequently
re-measured at far value In ine with IAS 39 the Group classifies hedges as (a} far value hedges used to hedge exposure to
changes in the far value of a recogrused asset or liability, {b) cash flow hedges used to hedge exposure to vanability in cash flows
assoclated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and (¢) hedges of a net investment in a
foreign operation

In 2011 the Group applied cash flow hedge accounting for hedging floating fuel price nsks in highty probable forecast purchase
transactions and for hedging net Investments in US$ and Euro foreign operations The Group apphied far value hedge accounting
for the farr value interest rate nsk on £200m of the Group’s fixed rate bonds

The movement on dervative financial instruments 1s detailled below

Foreign
exchange
Interest rate forward
swaps contracts Fuel swaps Total
£m £m £m £m
Net (hability)/asset at 1 January 2011 {13 {10.0} 19.3 8.0
Transfers to the ncome statement on cash flow hedges - - (25.3) (25.3)
Cash settlements/accrual 75 128 - 20.3
Revaluaticn through income statement 17.5 - - 175
Revaluation through other comprehensive ncome - - 24.2 242
Exchange differences - 50 (0.2) 4.8
Net asset at 31 December 2011 237 78 18.0 495
Forexgn
exchange
Interest rate forward
swaps contracts Fuel swaps Total
£m £m £m £m
Net labilty at 1 January 2010 242 {7 4) {6 4) 380
Cash settlements 224 20 24 268
Revaluation through ncome statement 04 - 02 06
Revaluation through other comprehensive income - - 211 211
Exchange differences 01 {4 6) 20 (2 5)
Net hiability at 31 December 2010 13 (100) 193 80
The movement on the hedging reserve is detalled below
2011 2010
£m £m
At 1 January 176 08
Transferred to Income statement — operating costs (25.3} 23
Revaluation through over comprehensive income 24.2 211
Tax on revaluation (0 6) ®0)
Tax on transfers 0 income staterment - ©08)

At 31 December 159 176




31 Financial instruments (including cash, trade recevables and payables) continued

Hedge of net investments in foreign entities

The Group uses foreign currency borrowings and denvative financial instruments to hedge the net investment in material foreign
currency net assets of the Group and are used to reduce the exposure to foreign exchange rate movements At 31 December
2011 the Group had designated a total of €250 Om of synthetic debt in the form of foreign exchange derivatives as a net
investment hedge of €250 Om of the net assets of the Spanish subsidiary No ineffectiveness was recognised in relation to this
hedge The foreign exchange denvatives have a matunty date of 24 January 2012 and will be rolled forward as approprate to
maintar a desirable level of hedging Following the Groups’ announcement of its intention to acquire Petermann Partners Inc,
the Group has entered into a $200m foreign exchange forward as a cash flow hedge for this forecast transaction The portion
of the gain or loss on the hedging instruments that 1s determined to be an effective hedge I1s recognised directly in translation
reserves and, to this extent, offsets any gains or losses on translation of the net Investments in the substdianes

fuel dervatives

The Group has a number of fuel derivatives in place to hedge the different types of fuel used in each division Ultra low sulphur
diesel 1s used In the UK Bus, UK Coach and Eurcpean Coach & Bus dvisions and gasoll 1s used in the UK Rail dwision, both are
hedged by swaps In the same type of fue! Diesel used in the North American division i1s hedged using the heating oil and diesel
market The tming of the swap cash flows match underlying fuel purchases from 2012 through to 2013 There was no significant
element of hedge meffectiveness requirng recogniion in the INncome statement

Durnng the year £24 2m of far value gains {2010 £2t 1m) have been transferred to the hedging reserve due to movements in
market fuel prices Farr value movements of £25 3m (2010 £2 4m) have been transferred from the hedging reserve to the
Income statement following settiement of fuel trades, of which £14 6m was recognised in the hedging reserve at 1 January 2011
and the remainder was generated during the year due to the movement in market fuel prices

Fuel derivatives can be analysed as follows
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2011 2010 2011 2010
Farr value Farr value Volume Volume
£m £m mullion htres milon Itres

Hedge fue! denvatives
Sterling denominated — UK Bus, UK Coach and UK Rall 34 29 80.6 837
US dollar denominated — North Amencan Bus a2 13 745 64 9
Euro denominated - European Coach & Bus 6.5 79 90.0 80O
Fuel denvatives Included in current assets 13.1 121 2451 2286
Sterling denominated — UK Bus, UK Coach and UK Rall 28 26 36.0 636
US dollar denominated - North Amencan Bus {0.6) 13 39.7 208
Euro denominated - European Coach & Bus 2.7 33 450 750
Fuel denvatives included in non-curent assets/{iabiites) 4.9 72 120.7 1594

Total hedge fuel denvatives 18.0 193 365.8 3880
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31 Financial instruments (ncluding cash, trade receivables and payables) continued

Interest rate swaps at fair value through profit or loss

On 14 January 2010 the Group terminated all outstanding Euro interest rate swaps resulting in a net cash outflow of £20 9m
for therr far value and accrued interest cutstanding This followed the 1ssue of the Group's £350m ten year Sterling bond and
subsequent repayment of the Group's €270m loan on 15 January 2010

The Group continued to account for two US$100m denominated interest rate swaps at far value through profit or loss
until ther matunty in September 2010 The Group accounted for ther fair market value gain of £0 2m n 2010 through the
income statement

in July 2010 the Group entered into four £50m denominated interest rate swaps on a total of £200m of the Group's Sterling
bonds These interest rate swaps all pay floating nterest (LIBOR + a margin) semi-annually, receive fixed interest annually with
maturities matching the Group’s Sterling bonds {two swaps with total notional value £100m mature n January 2017, two swaps
with notional value £100m mature June 2020} and are designated as a far value hedge of the interest rate nsk on £200m of
these bonds These swaps are measured at far value through profit or loss, with any gains or losses being taken mmediately
to the income statement to offset any fair value gains or losses due to changes in the nisk free interest rate on the swapped
portion of the bonds As at 31 December 2011 a total far value gan of £17 5m was recognised in the income statement in
relation to these swaps This 1s offset by a farr value loss of £17 5m on the undertying hedged item, in this case changes in

faw value on the £200m of the Group’s bonds due to changes in the nsk free interest rate

32 Called-up share capital

2011 2010
fm £m
At 31 December
Authonsed
800,000,000 (2010 800,000,000} ordinary shares of 5p each 40.0 400
Issued called-up and fully pard
511,726,026 (2010 511,726,026) ordinary shares of 5p each 25.6 256

The total number of share options exercised in the year by employees of the Group was 1,175,455 (2010 1,301,553) of which
nil exercises were satisfied by newly issued shares (2010 ni) and 1,175,455 (2010 1,301,553) exercises were satisfied by
transfernng shares from the National Express Employee Benefit Trust

Own shares
Own shares comprse treasury shares and shares held in the Employee Benefit Trust

Treasury shares include 1,668,688 (2010 1,668,688) ordinary shares in the Company No additional shares have been added
dunng the year as treasury shares within equity for future 1ssue under the Group’s share schemes or cancellaton No shares
were cancelled durng the year (2010 nil) The market value of these shares at 31 December 2011 was £3 7m {2010 £4 2m)

Own shares include 380,430 (2010 477,914) ordinary shares in the Company that have been purchased by the Trustees

of the National Express Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”) During the year, the Trust purchased 991,615 (2010 714,597)
shares and 1,175,455 (2010 1,301,553} shares were used to satisfy options granted under a number of the Company's share
schemes The market value of these shares at 31 December 2011 was £0 9m (2010 £1 2m) The dmdends payable on these
shares have been waived




33 Other reserves

Merger Hedging Translation
reserve reserve reserve Total
fm £m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 154 17.6 921 125.1
Hedge movements, net of tax - (1.7 - 7
Exchange differences, net of tax - - (23.5) {23.5)
At 31 December 2011 154 15.9 68.6 999
Merger Hedging Translation
reserve reserve reserve Total
£m £m m £m
At 1 January 2010 154 Cc8 999 116 1
Hedge movements, nat of tax - 168 - 168
Exchange differences, net of tax - - (7 8) 7 8
At 31 December 2010 154 176 921 1251

The nature and purpose of the other reserves are as follows

» The merger reserve includes the premium on shares 1ssued to satisfy the purchase of Prism Rail PLC in 2000 The reserve
18 not distnbutable,

* The hedging reserve records the movements on designated hedging items, offset by any movements recognised directly
n eguity on underlying hedged items, and

» The translation reserve records exchange differences arsing from the translation of the accounts of foreign currency
dencminated subsidiaries offset by the movements on loans and denvatives used to hedge the net investment in
foreign subsidianes

34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits

{a) Summary of pension benefits and assumptions

The UK Bus and UK Coach divisions operate both funded defined benefit schemes and a defined contribution scheme The
majority of employees of the UK Rail companies are members of the appropnate shared-cost section of the Rallways Pension
Scheme (RPS), a funded defined benefit scheme The assets of all schemes are held separately from those of the Group
Contributions to the schemes are determined by independent professionally qualified actuares

Subsidianes in North Amenca contribute to a number of defined contnbution plans The Group also provides certan additional
unfunded post-employment benefits to employees in North America and Spamn, which are disclosed in section (¢) In the
‘Other’ category

The total pension cost for the year was £11 7m (2010 £15 3m), of which £3 5m (2010 £3 2m) relates to the defined
centribution schemes

The UK Coach plan 1s now closed to all future accrual A funding plan aimed at bringing the plan to self sufficiency over a six
year penod was agreed in 2010, Nahonal Express contnbutes £4 2m annually to this scheme In 2011 UK Bus agreed a £5 5m
annual deficit repayment plan with the trustees of the West Midlands Passenger Transport Authonty Pension Fund to fund a
£71m scheme funding deficit over 12 years The plan remans open to accrual for existing members only

The defined benefit pension {lability)/asset included in the balance sheet 15 as follows

2011 2010

£m £m

UK Bus (16.8) {53
UK Coach 18.6 -
UK Ral (2.2) 37
Other (1.4) {14

Total {1.8) {10 4)
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts
continued

34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

(a) Summary of pension benefits and assumptions continued

The valuations conducted for financial reporting purposes are based on the tnennial actuanial valuations A summary of the latest
tnenrial actuanal valuatons, and assumptions made, 1$ as follows

UK Bus UK Coach UK Ral

Travel West

Tayside Mdlands
31 March 31 March SApnl 31 December
Date of actuanal valuation 2008 2010 2010 2007
Actuanal method used Atlained age” Attaned age” Projected unit Projected unit
Rate of nvestment retums per annum 78% 50%-70% 41% 58%-76%
Increase In eamings per annum 52% 4 5% - 42%
Scheme assets taken at market value £405m £382 Om £54 8m £355 1m
Funding level 92% 84% 668% 103%-109%

* Amounts inciuded in the Income statement, other comprehensive Income and the balance sheet are calculated using the projected unit method

The range of funding levels and scheme assets for UK Rall reflects the range of funding levels and assets in the various
sechions of the RPS relating to the franchises which the Group operated at 31 December 2011 The plans do not provide
medical benefits

The most recent tnenmial valuations are then updated by independent professionally qualified actuanes for financial reporting
purposes, in accordance with IAS 19 The main actuarial assumptions underlying the 1AS 18 valuations are

2011 2010

UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail UK Bus UK Coach UK Rall
Rate of ncrease in salanes 30% 3.0% 3.0% 39% 39% 39%
Rate of ncrease of pensions 2.0% 3.0% 2.0% 29% 35% 29%
Discount rate 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 54% 54% 5 4%
Inflatton assumption (RPI) 3 0% 3.0% 3.0% 35% 35% 35%
Inflaton assumption (CPI) 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 29% 29% 29%
Expected rates of retum on scheme assets
Equities 7.7% 1.7% 71.7% 77% 7 7% 77%
Bonds 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 4 2% 4 2% 42%
Properties 57% 5.7% 5.7% 6 0% 6 0% 6 0%
Other 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 125% 125% 125%
Post-retirement mortalty in vears
Curent pensioners at 65 — male 209 245 194 219
Current pensioners at 65 — male, pension under
£8,500 pa or pensionable pay under £30,000 pa 205 198
Cumrenit pensioners at 65 — male — others 26 215
Cumrent pensioners at 65 — female 236 275 222 248
Current pensioners at 65 — female, pension under
£3,000 pa or pensionable pay under £30,000 pa 224 217
Current pensioners at 65 — female - others 248 227
Future pensicners at 65 — male 223 26.6 204 230
Future pensioners at 65 — male, pensicn under
£8,500 pa or pensionable pay under £30,000 pa 228 222
Future pensicners at 65 — male — others 249 237
Future pensioners at 65 — female 25.2 29,5 231 258
Future pensioners at 65 - female, pension under
£3,000 pa or pensionable pay under £30,000 pa 24.9 232

Future pensioners at 85 — female — others 27.1 24 2




34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

{(a) Summary of pension benefits and assumptions continued

The demographic assumptions reflect those adopted in the most recent tnennial actuanal valuation For the UK Ratl scheme,
mortalty assumptions have been set by reference to the recent expenence of the scherne Mortality 1s assumed to improve
N the future in ne with the ‘core projection’” model published by the actuanal profession’s Continuous Mortality investigation,
incorporating a long-term improvement rate of 1 5% pa

The Directors regard the assumption around the discount rate to be the key assumption in the 1AS 19 valuation, and the
following table provides an approximate sensitivity analysis of the impact of a 0 1% change in the discount rate assumption

UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail

£m m £m

Defined benefit pension (labiity)/asset at 31 December 2011 (16.8) 186 {2.2)
Effect of a 0 1% increase in the discount rate 6.6 1.1 0.1

Cumrent service cost for the year ended 31 December 2011 {4.1) (0.1) {10.3})
Effect of a 0 1% increase in the discount rate 0.1 - 0.2

Scheme assets are stated at ther market values at the respective balance sheet dates The expected rate of return on scheme
assets 1s determined based on market returns on each category of scheme assets

(b} Accounting for the Rallways Pension Scheme

The maonty of employees of the UK Rall companies are members of the appropriate section of the RPS, a funded defined
benefit scheme The RPS 15 a shared cost scheme, which means that costs are formally shared 60% employer and 40%
employee To date, the Group has experienced eleven changes of UK Rai franchise ownership where the current owner has
funded the scheme durng the franchise term and the pension deficit at franchise exit has transferred to the new owner, without
cash settlement By entenng into the franchise contract, the TOC becomes the designated employer for the term of the contract
and under the rules of the RPS must fund its share of the pension iability in accordance with the schedule of contributions
agreed with the Scheme trustess and actuanes

In determining the appropnate accounting policy for the RPS to ensure that the Group’s accounts present fairly its iinancial
position, financial performance and cash fiows, management has consulted with TOC industry peers and has concluded that
the Group's constructive obligations should be accounted for in accordance with I1AS 19 This accounting policy, which in all
other respects 1s consistent with that set out in this note for the Group's other defined benefit schemes, means that the Group's
accounts reflect that element of the deficits anticipated to be settled by the Group duning the franchuse term and will prevent
gains ansing on transfer of the existing RPS deficits to a new owner at franchise exit

In calculating the Group's constructive obligations in respect of the RPS, the Group has calculated the total pension deficits
in each of the RPS sections n accordance with 1AS 19 and the assumptions set out above These deficits are reduced

by a ‘franchise adjustment’ which 1s that portion of the deficit projected to exist at the end of the franchise and which the
Group will not be required to fund The franchise adjustment, which has been calculated by the Group’s actuaries, 1s offset
against the present value of the RPS llabilities so as to farly present the financial performance, position and cash flows of the
Group's obligations

The franchise adjustment decreased from £72 4m at 31 December 2010 to £59 6m at 31 December 2011 The decrease 1s
caused by interest on the franchise adjustment of £3 9m and net actuanal movements of £16 7m In the prior year, the franchise
adjustment decreased from £81 7m at 31 Decernber 2009 to £72 4m at 31 December 2010 The decrease was caused Dy
Interest on the franchise adjustment of £4 7m and net actuanal movements of £14 Om
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

continued

34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

(c) Financial results for pension benefits

The amounts charged to the Group income statement and Group statement of comprehensive income for the years ended

31 December 2011 and 2010 are set out in the following tables

UK Bus UK Goach UK Rail Total
2011 2011 2011 2011
Group Income statement £m £m £m £m
Amounts (charged)/credted to Group operating profit/loss)
Current service cost {4.1) 01 {103) (14.5)
Expected retum on pension scheme assets 25.1 3.5 144 43.0
Interest on pensicon iabiities {22.9) {2.9) {14.8) {40.6)
Interest on franchise adjustment - - 39 3.9
Total (charge)/credit to Income statement {1.9) 05 (6 8) (8.2)
Actual return on plan assets 17.8 13.2 1.0 320
UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Tota!
2011 2011 2011 2011
Group statement of comprehensive ncome £m m £m £m
Actual retum less expected retum on pension scheme assets {7.3) 9.7 (13.4) (11.0}
Other actuanal gains and losses (12.4) 25 123 24
Actuanal {losses)/gans (19.7) 12.2 {1.1) (8 6)
UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Total
2010 2010 2010 2010
Group ncome statement £m £m £m £m
Amounts (charged)/credited to Group operating profit/{loss)
Current service cost 44 0 8) (109) (16 1)
Curtaiment gain {included within exceptional items) - 23 - 23
Expected return on pension scheme assets 242 32 129 403
Interest on pension llabilites (251) 32 (150) (43 3)
Interest on franchise adjustment - - 47 47
Total (charge)/credit to mcome statement 53 15 83 (121)
Actual return on plan assets 455 55 190 700
UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Total
2010 2010 2010 2010
Group statement of comprehensive iIncome £m £m £m £m
Actual retum less expected retum on pension scheme assets 213 23 61 297
Other actuanal gans and losses 168 (2 3) 99 46
Actuanal gan/{osses) 381 - (3 8) 343




34 Pensicns and other post-employment benefits continued
{c} Financial results for pension benefits continued
The amounts recognisea in the balance sheet at 31 December are

UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Other Total

2011 2011 2011 2011 2011

As at 31 December 2011 £m fm £m £m £m
Equities 1917 - 303.7 - 4954
Bonds 234.2 63.6 15.1 - 3129
Property 3.6 - - - 3.6
Cther 24 43 2.2 - 8.9
Far value of scheme assets 431.9 67.9 321.0 - 820.8
Present value of scheme labilites (448 7) {49.3) (423.9) (1.4) {922.7)
Franchise adjustment - - 59.6 - 59.6
Defined benefit obligation 4487 {49.3) {363 7) (1.4} {863.1)
Members’ share of defict - - 40.5 40.5
Defined benefit pension (deficit)/surplus {16.8) 186 (2.2} (1.4) {(18)
UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Other Total

2010 2010 2010 2010 2010

As at 31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m
Equities 197 6 293 3037 - 5306
Bonds 147 5 287 138 - 1900
Property 792 - 02 - 794
Other 52 16 06 - 74
Farr value of scheme assets 4295 536 3183 - 807 4
Present value of scheme labilities (434 8) (59 6) (445 2) (14 (941 0)
Franchise adjustment - - 724 - 724
Defined benefit cbligation (434 8 (59 6) (372 8) (14} (868 6)
Members' share of deficit - - 508 - 508
Defined benefit pension deficit 53 - 37) {14) (10 4)

The movement In the present value of the defined benefit obligation in the year 1s as stated below For UK Rall, the RPS 1s
a shared cost scheme, which means that costs are formally shared 60% employer and 40% employee

The Group'’s defined benefit obligation compnses £861 7m (2010 £867 2m} (ncluding the members’ share of the deficit) ansing
from plans that are wholly or partly funded and £1 4m (2010 £1 4m) from unfunded plans

UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Other Total
m £m £m fm £m

Defined benefit obligation at 1 January 2011 {434.8) {59.6) {372.8) {1.4) (868 6)
Current serwce cost (4.1) (0.1) (10.3) - (14 5)
Benefits pad 26.8 15 14.5 - 428
Contnbutons by employees {1.3) - (6.1) - (7.4}
Finance charge (22.9) 2.9 (14.8) - (40.6}
Interest on franchise adjustrment - - 3.9 - 39
Settlement - 23 - - 9.3
Mermbers’ share of movement on labiltes - - 9.6 - 9.6
Actuanal {lossy/gan recognised in statement

of comprehensive Income (12.4) 25 12.3 - 24

Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2011 {448.7) 49 3) {363.7) {1.4) (863.1)
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

continued

34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
(c) Financial results for pension benefits continued

UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Other Total
£m £m m £m £m
Defined benefit oblgation at 1 January 2010 (446 3) (56 8) {342 0) (14) (846 5)
Current servce cost 44 (0 8) (10 9) - (16 1)
Benefits paid 256 15 145 - 4186
Contnbutions by employees (14} 03 6 5) - 82
Fnance charge (25 1} 32 (150 - (433
Curtaiment gan - 23 - - 23
Interest on franchise adjustment - - 47 - 47
Members’ share of movement on liabilities - - {77} - 77
Actuanal gan/(oss) recogrised in staterment
of comprehensive income 168 2 3) 99 - 46
Defined benefit obligaton at 31 December 2010 {434 8) {59 8) (372 8) (14) {868 6)
The movement in the farr value of scheme assets is as follows
UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Total
£m fm £m £m
Far value of scheme assets at 1 January 2011 429.5 59.6 3183 8074
Expected returm on plan assets 25.1 35 14.4 43.0
Cash contnbutions — employer 10.0 6.0 95 25.5
Cash contnbutions — employee 14 - 6.1 7.5
Bengfits paid (26.8) {1.5) (14.5) (42.8)
Members' share of retum on assets - - 0.6 0.6
Actuanal {loss)y/gan recognised in statement
of comprehensive Income (73 9.7 (13.4) (11 0)
Settlernent - (9.4) - (9.4)
Farr value of scheme assets at 31 December 2011 431.9 67.9 321.0 820.8
UK Bus UK Coach UK Rail Total
£m £m £m £m
Farr value of scheme assets at 1 January 2010 3999 516 284 4 7359
Expected return on plan assets 242 3z 129 03
Cash contrbutions — employer 83 37 102 222
Cash contributions — employee 14 03 65 82
Benefits pad (256) (15 (14 5) (41 6}
Members’ share of retum on assets - - 127 127
Actuaral gan recognised In statement of comprehensive Income 213 23 61 207
Far value of scheme assets at 31 December 2010 4295 59 6 3183 807 4




34 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

{c} Financial results for pension benefits continued
The Group expects to contribute £13 3m to its defined benefit pension plans n 2012

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
History of expenence gains and losses m £m £m £m £m
UK Bus
Far value of scheme assets 431.9 4295 3999 362 8 4120
Prasent value of defined benefit obligation (448.7) {434 8) (446 3) (357 4) 412 4)
Restnction on surplus - - ©0 47)
Defict n the scheme (16.8) 53 (46 4) (36) 51)
Expenence adjustments ansing on liabilities (23 3) on 02 (33) {4 6)
Expenence adustments ansing on assets {7.3) 213 313 (62 8) 52
UK Coach
Far value of scheme assets 679 506 516 421 437
Present value of defined benefit obligation (49.3) {59 6) (56 B} 43 3) (48 6)
Defict n the scheme 186 - 52 (12 49
Expenence adjustments ansng on labikties 01 27 - - (22)
Expenence adustments ansing on assets 897 23 38 (7 8) {0 6)
UK Rail
Far value of scheme assets 321.0 3183 284 4 4447 6203
Present value of defined benefit obhigation (363.7) 3728 (342 0) (526 7) (653 1)
Members' share of defict 40.5 508 557 433 140
Defict m the scheme (22 37 (19 (387} {18 8)
Expenence adjustments ansing on labittes (8.5) 122 11 169 53
Expenence adjustments ansing on assets 13.4 61 232 (121 4) 32
Other
Far value of scheme assets - - - - -
Present value of defined benefit obligation {1.4) (14) (14 (15 (10
Deficit n the scheme (1.9 (14) (14 (19 (10

Expenence adjustments ansing on liabilities

The cumulative amount of actuanal gans and losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive ncome since 1 January
20045 £19 2m loss (2010 £10 6m loss) The Directors are unable to determmne how much of the pension scheme deficit
recognised on transition to IFRSs and taken directly to equity of £51 9m s attributable to actuanal gans and losses since
inception of those pension schermes Consequently the Directors are unable to determine the amount of actuanal gans and
losses that would have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income befere 1 January 2004
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35 Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease commitments
The Group’s total operating lease commitments are as follows

2011 2010
£m £m

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases
Within one year Land and buldings 36.6 824
Plant and equipment 46.4 1580
83.0 2404
After one year but not more than five years Land and buldings 31.2 467
Plant and equipment 435 757
74.7 1224
More than five years Land and buldings 32.0 338
Plant and equipment 09 58
32.9 396
190.6 402 4

Operating lease commitments

The majonty of the Group's commitments anse In the UK Rail division UK Rail division companies have contracts with Network
Rail Infrastructure Limited for access to the ralway infrastructure (tracks, stations and depots) They also have contracts under
which rolling stock I1s leased The TOCs' obligations to fulfil these commitments exist only as part of their franchise agreement
The table below reflects the commitments up to the current franchise end dates unless an extension or new franchise agreement
has been signed The commitments are based on charges advised by the Rail Regulator for the penod starting on 1 April 2010
Commitments for future minimum rental payments under these contracts are shown below

Land and Plant and

huildings equipment

2011 2010 2011 2010

UK Rall dwvision commitments £m £m £m £m
Future mmimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases

Within one year Fixed track access 148 478 - -

Rolling stock - - 36.2 1451

Other 7.4 211 08 11

222 689 37.0 146 2

After one year but not more than five years Fixed track access 4.1 134 - -

Rolling stock - - 94 3186

Other 22 68 0.3 10

6.3 202 9.7 326

285 B9 1 467 1788

Fixed track access agreements have an average remaning life of 1 0 years (2010 1 1 years), other land and bulldings have
an average duration of 1 0 years (2010 1 2 years) Roling stock agreements have an average Iife of 0 8 years (2010 1 0 years)
and other plant and equipment 1 2 years (2010 1 9 years)




35 Commitments and contingencies continued

Cutside of the UK Rail dmvision the Group has entered into operating leases on certain properties, public service vehicles and
various iterns of plant and equipment Commitments for future minmum rental payments under cancellable operating leases
are shown below

Land and buldings Public service vehicles Cther

2011 2010 2014 2010 2011 2010

Other dmsions’ commitments £m £m £m £m £ £m
Within one year 14.4 135 9.2 109 0.2 09
After one year but not more than five years 249 265 335 415 0.3 16
More than five years 32.0 338 0.9 58 - -
7.3 738 43.6 582 0.5 25

The average remaining hfe of operating lease commitments in the other divisions 1s 4 0 years (2010 4 1 years) for land and
buldings, 3 5 years (2010 3 8 years) for public service vehicles and 2 4 years {2010 2 7 years) for other plant and equipment

Operating lease agreements where the Group I1s the lessor
The Group receives rent on properties as follows

2011 2010
£m £m

Future minimum rentals recevable under non-cancellable operating leases
Within one year 1.4 41
After one year but not more than five years 04 14
More than five years - -
18 55

The leases have an average unexpired duration of 1 3 years (2010 1 5 years})

Finance lease commitments
The Group has finance leases for public service vehicles and various tems of plant and eguipment These leases have terms of
renewal but no purchase options and escalation clauses Renewals are at the option of the specific entity that holds the lease

201 2010

Miumum  Present value Minimum  Present value

payments  of payments payments of payments

£m £m £m £m

Within one year 26 22,1 282 278

After one year but not more than five years 954 85.9 831 735

More than five years 514 43.3 385 303

Total rminmum lease payments 169.4 151.3 1498 1316

Less future financing charges {18.1) - (18 2) -

Present value of minimum lease payments 151.3 151.3 13186 1316
Capital commitments

2011 2010

£m €m

Contracted 43.7 311

The Group 15 committed to vehicle purchases and various land and bulldings improvements

Contingent lhiabilities

Bonds and letters of credit

In the ordinary course of business, the Group i1s required to 1ssue counter-ndemnities In support of its operations As at

31 December 2011 there were UK Rall performance bonds of £25 8m (2010 £25 8m) and UK Rail season ticket bonds of

£92 3m (2010 £85 0m) The Group has other performance bonds which include the £9 Om (2010 £17 9m) performance bond
in respect of Inter-Capital and Regional Ratl Limited, a performance bond with Birmmgham City Council relating to the building of

the new coach station of £0 2m (2010 £nil), performance bonds in respect of businesses in the US of £108 1m (2010 £100 2m)

and the rest of Europe of £23 3m (2010 £25 8m) Letters of credit have been issued to support insurance retentions of £30 8m
(2010 £39 4m)
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts *
continued

36 Related party transactions

Amounts due from
Amount of transactions related parties ~ Amaounts due to related parties
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m £m m £m

Associates
ICRRL 90 87 - - (9.0) (182
Spain assoclates 26 16 1.0 08 {1.0) 1)
Total associates 116 103 1.0 08 (10.0) (19 3)
Trade investments
Spain trade investments 43 42 0.6 09 (0.5) {03
Property transacticns
Stock Transportatien - 05 - - - -
Spain 5.0 50 0.4 04 (0.2} 04
Durham School Services - 01 - — - -
Total other related parties 9.3 g8 1.0 13 0.7 7
Total 20.9 201 2.0 21 (10.7) 200

Amounts due to ICRRL are included 1 provisions as disclosed in note 26

A prowsion of £0 2m (2010 £0 4m) has been booked aganst amounts due from European Coach & Bus associates, which
are presented net

Property transactions
There are no longer any related party transactions in North America ang all of the transactions in prior years related to senior
employees who left the business prior to 2011

A number of Spanish companies have leased properties from companies related to the Cosmen family Jorge Cosmen is a
Non-Executive Director of the Group and was appointed as Deputy Charman in Cctober 2008 These leases were in place
before the Group's acquisition of ALSA and are for appropnate market rates

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
2011 2010

Total compensation paid to key management perscnnel (note 7) 3.5 47




37 Cash flow statement
The net cash inflows from operating activities include outftows of £8 2m (2010 £52 6m) from contnuing operations which
are related to exceptional costs incurred in the pnor year

(a) Reconcilation of Group profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2011 2010
Total operations fm £m
Net cash nflow from operating activiies
Profit before tax from continuing operatons 129.4 402
Loss before tax from discontinued operations - ©5)
Net finance costs 46.4 460
Share of post tax resuits under the equity method {1.4) 03
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 105.5 99 8
Irtangible asset amortisation 50.8 571
Amortisation of fixed asset grants {1.5) 17
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1.1) 66
Share-based payments 50 39
Increase in INventones (1.4) (12)
Increase in receivables (18.8) 330}
(Decrease)increase in payables (28 9) 209
Decrease In provisions — continuing operations {370) (24
Decrease in provisions — discontinued operations - 33}
Cash generated from operations 2470 2221
(b) Analysis of changes in net debt
At At
1 January Acquistbons/ Exchange Other 31 December
2011 Cash fiow disposals dfferences movements 2011
£m £m £fm £m £m £m
Cash 81.5 {16.3) - (0.4) - 64.8
Ovemight depostts 36.8 {11 8) - - - 250
Other short-term deposits 10.5 (7.8) - - - 2.7
Cash and cash equivalents 128.8 {35.9) - (0.4) - 92.5
Other debt recevables 0.7 - - - - 0.7
Borrowings
Bank loans (39.8) 34.5 (1.0) 0.3 {1.9) {79
Bonds {565.6} - - - (17.8) (583.4)
Far value of bond hedging denvatves {1.1) - - - 175 164
Finance lease obligations (131 6) 249 - (0.9) 43.7) (151.3)
Other debt payable (1.8) 1.1 - - - {0.7)
Total borowings (739.9) 60.5 (10) (0.6) (45.9) (726.9)
Net debt * (610.4) 24.6 (10) (1.0) (45.9) (633.7)

*  Excludes accrued interest on bonds
Short-terrm deposits included within iguid resources relate to term deposits repayable within three months
Borrowings include non-current interest beanng borrowings of £718 4m (2010 £874 4m) as disclosed in note 28

Other non-cash movements in net debt represent finance lease addiions of £43 7m (2010 £77 1m}and £2 2m (2010 £4 4m)
amortisation of loan and bond arrangement fees
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

continued

37 Cash flow statement continued
(b} Analysis of changes in net debt continued

At At
1 January Acquisitions/ Exchange Other 31 December
2010 Cash flow dsposals differences movements 2010
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash 583 239 01 o8 - 815
Ovemight depostits 120 250 - 02 - 368
Other short-term deposits 355 (25 0) - - - 105
Cash and cash eguivalents 1058 239 01 o - 128 8
(Other debt recevables 08 {01) - - - 07
Borowings
Bank loans (687 7) 6426 - 89 36) 39 8)
Bonds - (565 9} - - 03 {565 6)
Farr value of bond hedging denvatives - - - - (11) (11)
Finance lease obligations (756) 187 - 24 77 1) (131 8)
Other debt payable (12 {0 6) - - - (18)
Total borrowings (764 5) 848 - 113 {815) (739 9)
Net debt * (657 9) 1186 01 103 {81 5) (610 4)
*  Excludes accrued interest on bonds
{c) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2011 2010
£m £m
{Decrease)/increase In cash and cash eguivalents in the year {359) 239
Cash inflow from movement in other debt recevables - 01
Cash cutfiow from movement in debt and finance leases 605 94 8
Change in net debt resutting from cash flows 246 1186
Change in net debt resutting from acquisihons and disposals (1.0 01
Change in net debt resulting from non-cash movements (46.9) 71 2)
Movement in net debt in the year (23.3) 475
QOpening net debt (610.4) {657 9)
Net debt (633.7) (610 4)

38 Post batance sheet events

On 5§ February 2012, the Group passed over the runring of the East Angha Rail Franchise to Abellio Greater Anglia Limited




Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of National
Express Group PLC

We have audited the parent Company financial statements of National Express Group PLC for the year ended 31 December
2011 which comprise the Parent Company Balance Sheet and the related notes 1 to 20 The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in ther preparation 1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are
reguired to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsiility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's mermbers as a body, for our audit
wark, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
parent Company financial staterments and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Qur responsibility 1S to audit
and exprass an opirion on the parent Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Intemational
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical
Standards for Auchtors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audtt mvolves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes

an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the parent Company’s circumstances and have been
consistently apphed and adequatsly disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors,
and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial nformatien n the
annual report to dentify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent
matenal misstatements or nconsistencies we consider the mplicatons for our report

Opinion on financial statements

In our opirion the parent Company financial statements

* gwe atrue and far view of the state of the Company's affars as at 31 Decernber 2011,

« have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opimon on other matters prescrnibed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion

+ the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, and

« the mformation given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared I1s
consistent with the parent Company financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If,
IN OUr opNICH

« adeqguate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or

» the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and retuns, or

+ certan disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

= we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of National Express Group PLC for the year ended
31 December 2011

Nigel Mercer (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Birmingham, UK

29 February 2012
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Company Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 4 0.1 -
Investments 5 1,185.6 7660
Denvatwve financial instruments 6 23.7 -
1,209.4 7660
Current assels
Debtors 7 973.8 1,448 8
Denvatve financial nstruments 6 8.0 42
Cash at bank and in hand 8 322 80
1,014.0 14610
Creditors  amounts fallng due within one year 9 {950.4) (@85 1}
Denvative financial instruments 6 (0.2) (103
Net current assets 634 4658
Total assets less current llabilhies 1,272.8 12316
Creditors amounts faling due after more than one year 10 {583.4} (565 6)
Denvative financial nstruments 6 - 1)
Prowvisions for habilites and charges ikl (14.5) (251)
Deferrsd tax habrity 12 - -
Net assets 674.9 6358
Shareholders’ equity
Called-up share capital 14 25.6 256
Share premum account 15 532.7 5327
Capital redemption reserve 15 0.2 02
Own shares 15 {14 0) (14 1}
Profit and loss account 15 130.4 914
Shareholders’ equrty 674.9 6358

D Finch Group Chigf Executive
J K Maiden Group Finance Director
29 February 2012

Company Number 2580560




Notes to the Company Accounts

1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The separate accounts of the parent Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 The accounts have been
prepared under the histonic cost convention, except for the recogmition of denvative financial instrurnents and avallable for sale
investments detated below, and in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom

In applying these policies management I1s required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
asseis and labilites and disclosure of contingent assets and llabilities at the date of the accounts and the reported amounts
of revenue and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates

No profit and loss account is presented by the Company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006
The retaned profit of the Company for the year 1s £84 7m (2010 £70 6m)

Leases

teases of tangible fixed assets where substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the asset have passed to the
Company are classified as finance leases and the assets are capitalised in the balance sheet as plant and equipment Finance
leases are capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments The capital element of future obligations under hire
purchase contracts and finance leases 18 Included as a liability in the balance sheet The interest element of rental obligations 1s
charged to the profit and loss account over the pencd of the lease and represents a constant proportion of the balance of capital
repayments outstanding Assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the sherter of the useful Iife of the asset
and the lease term

Leases of assets where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of cwnership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-lne basis over
the term of the lease Incentives received under operating leases and initial direct costs in negotiating the lease are amortised
to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, or to the first review If shorter

Tangble fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and any imparment Tangible fixed assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over ther estimated useful lives as follows

Plant and equpment - 3105 years

The carrying value of fixed assets 1s reviewed for mparment if events or changes In circumstances indicate that the current
carrying value may not be recoverable, and are written down immed ately to their recoverable amount Repars and mantenance
are charged to the profit and loss account dunng the financial penod in which they are incurred

Investments in subsidianes
Investments are held at historic cost less any provision for imparment

Available for sate investments

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as such, or that are not classified as

a loan or recevable, held to matunty or at far value through profit or loss After initial recognition these assets are measured at
far value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investrent s derecogrised or the
nvestment 1s determined to be impared, at which time the previcusly reported cumulative gain or loss 1s included in the Income
statement

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Loans and borrowings are nitially recognised at the farr value of the consideration received, net of issue costs After initial
recognition, nterest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method

Hedge accounting 1s adopted where denvatives such as fixed to floating interest rate swaps are held as far value hedges against
fixed interest rate borrowings Under fair value hedge accounting, fixed interest rate borrowings are revalued at each balance
sheet date by the change n farr valus attributable to the interest rate beng hedged
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Notes to the Company Accounts
continued

1 Accounting policies continued

Provisions

Prowvisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it s
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a relable estmate of the amount ¢can be made
Where the Company expects a provision 10 be rembursed the rembursement 1s recogrised as a separate asset but only when
rembursement 1s virtually certain

Pensions

The Company participates in both the National Express Group mult-ernployer funded defined benefit scheme and a defined
contribution scheme The Company 13 unable to dentify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the multi-employer
scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis, and therefore has accounted for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution
scheme under the requirements of FRS 17, ‘Retirement Benefits’

Share-based payment
In accordance with the transition provisions, FRS 20 has been applied to all grants after 7 November 2002 that were unvested
as of 1 January 2005

The Company awards equity-settled share-based payment to certain employees Equity-settled share-based payments are
measured at far value at the date of grant by an external valuer using a stochastic medel Non-market-based performance-
related vesting conditions are not taken into account when estimating the far value, instead those non-market conditions are
taken into account n calculating the current best estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest and at each balance
sheet date before vesting The cumutative expense 1s calculated based on that estimate Market-based performance conditions
are taken into account when determining the farr value and at each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense
1s calculated irrespective of whether or not the market conditions are satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions
are met

Deferred tax

Deferred tax I1s recogrised in respect of all matenal iming differences that have onginated, but not reversed, by the balance sheet
date Deferred tax 1s measured on a nen-discounted basis at tax rates that are expected to apply n the penods in which the
timing differences reverse based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred tax
assets are recognised where it 1s maore likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of
underlying timing differences can be deducted

Foreign currencies

Forewgn currency assets and liabilties are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the year end Foreign currency
transactions arising during the year are translated into Sterling at the rate cf exchange ruling on the date of the transaction Any
exchange differences so ansing are dealt with through the profit and loss account

Denvative financial instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its nsks
associated with foreign currency and intergst rate fluctuations Such denvative financial instruments are mitially recognised at fair
value and subsequently remeasured to far value for the reported balance sheet The fair value of forward exchange contracts
and interest rate swaps Is calculated by reference to market exchange rates and interest rates at the perod end

In relation to cash flow hedges which mest the conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gan or loss on the hedging
instrument that 1s determined to be an effective hedge 1s recognised directly in equity, and the ineffective portion in the profit
and loss account The gains or losses deferred in equity In this way are recycled through the profit and loss account in the
same penod m which the hedged underlying transaction or firn commitment 1s recogmised in the profit and loss account

For derivatives that do not qualfy for hedge accounting, including the foreign currency contracts, gains or losses are taken
directly to the profit and loss account in the penod

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, I1s sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualfies
for hedge accounting

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 29 for parent company accounts The disclosures are included
within the consohdated accounts




2 Exchange rates
The most significant exchange rates to the pound for the Company are as follows

2011 2010

Closingrate  Average rate Closingrate  Average rate

US dollar 1.55 161 156 155
Canadian dollar 1.58 158 156 161
Euro 1.20 115 117 117

3 Directors’ emoluments

Detaled nformation concerning Directors’ emoluments, shareholdings and options 1s shown in the Directors” Remuneration

Report
4 Tangible fixed assets
Plant and
equpment
£m
Cost
At 1 January 2011 20
Additions 01
At 31 Decermnber 2011 2.1
Depreciation
At 1 January 2011 and at 31 December 2011 2.0
Net book value
At 31 December 2011 0.1
At 31 December 2010 —
Tangble fixed assets held under finance lease agreements are analysed as follows
2011 2010
£m £m
Plant and equipment
—cost 02 02
— depreciation {0.2) 02

Leased assets and assets under hire purchase contracts are pledged as secunty for the related finance lease and hire
purchase lhabilities
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Notes to the Company Accounts

continued

5 Financial assets investments

Investments n
subsidianes
£m
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2011 1,271.9
Addtions 566.9
Disposails {(1471.3)
At 31 December 2011 1,691.5
Prowvisions
At 1 January 2011 {505.9)
Release =
At 31 December 2011 (505.9)
Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2011 1,1856
At 31 December 2010 766 0

FThe information provided below i1s given for the Company’s principal subsicharies A full ist of subsidianes and investments will
be annexed to the next Annual Return to Companies House The principal country of operation in respect of the companies
below Is the country In which they are incorporated

The Group's tran passenger services in the UK are operated through franchises awarded by DfT Rail, as delegated by the
UK Government

The following holdings are 100% held directly by the Company
Incorporated in England and Wales

National Express Intermediate Holdings Limited Holding company for all Group operating companies except UK Rall

National Express Trans Limited Holding company for UK Rall operating companies

Incorporated in Guemsey

National Express Guemsey Limited Insurance captve

Other investments include

Proporbon held
Name Country of registration Class of sharg %
Inter-Capital and Regronal Ral Limited (ICRRL) England and Wales Crdinary shares 400

The £147 3m digposal of Investments in subsidianes in 2011 relates to previously owned hoiding companies that were sold to
National Express Intermediate Holdings Limited in exchange for shares in that company The £566 9m of additions represents
the acguisition of shares in National Express Intermediate Holdings Limited during the year, including shares that were received
in exchange for amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings




6 Denvative financial instruments

2011 2010

£m £m

Interest rate denvatives 23.7 -
Denvative financial assets due over one year 23.7 -
Interest rate dervatives - 38
Foreign exchange forward contracts 8.0 04
Derwvatve financial assets due under one year 8.0 42
Interest rate dervatives - B
Dervative financial habilities due over one year - ()]
Foreign exchange forward contracts 0.2) (103)
Denvative financiaf llabilities due under one year 0.2} (103)

Full details of the Group’s financial nsk management cbjectives and policies ¢an be found in note 30 of the consolidated
accounts As the holding company for the Group, the Company faces similar nisks over foreign currency and interest
rate movements

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 29 for parent company accounts The disclosures are included
within the consolidated accounts

7 Debtors

201 2010
£m £m
Trade debtors - 02
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 940.5 1,4151
Corporation tax recoverable 271 310
Deferred tax asset (see note 12) 1.3 i6
Other debtors 01 03
Prepayments and accrued income 48 06
973.8 1,448 8

8 Cash at bank and tin hand
2011 2010
£m £m
Short-tenm deposits 250 60
Cash at bank 7.2 20
322 80

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates Short-tern deposits are made
for varying penods of between one day and three months depending on the mmediate cash requirements of the Company,
and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates The far value of cash equals the carrying value

9 Creditors amounts falling due within one year

2011 2010

£m £m

Bank overdraft 125.6 152 4
Bank loans - 353
Trade creditors 07 68
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 7745 7531
Accruals and deferred income 19.7 71
Bonds - accrued interest 299 304
950.4 985 1

Trade creditors are non-nterest bearnng and are normally settled on 30 day terms and other creditors are non-interest bearing
and have an average term of six months

Accrued interest on bonds of £30 4m was presented in other payables in the 2010 financral accounts In 2011, this has been
included within bonds — accrued interest

10 Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year
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Notes to the Company Accounts
continued

2011 2010
£m £m
Bonds 583.4 565 6
11 Provisions for llabilities and charges
Eurostar
Insurance onerous
claims! contract? Other Total
m £fm £m £m
At 1 January 2011 5.0 18.2 19 251
Charged/{released) to profit and loss account 0.2 0.2) - -
Utilsed in the year (0.2) {9.0) {1.4) {10 6)
At 31 December 2011 5.0 9.0 0.5 145

1 The nsurance clams provision anses from estmated exposures at the year end, the majonty of which will be utlised in the next five years
and comprise provisions for existing clams ansing i the UK and North Amenca

? A provision was recognised In 2006 for the Company's cnercus contract for Eurcstar with ICRRBL. £8 Om (2010 £8 7m) was paid to ICRRL
dunng the year The remander has been settled in 2012

12 Deferred tax
The major components of the provision for deferred taxation are as follows

2011 2010

£m £m

Accelerated capital allowances 0.2 03

Other trming differences 0.4 05

Losses camed forward 0.7 08

Net deferred tax asset 1.3 16
The reconcihation of deferred tax balances is as follows

£m

Deferred tax asset at 1 January 2011 1.6

Credited to profit and loss {03)

Deferred tax asset at 31 December 2011 13

Timing differences associated with Group investments

No deferred tax (2010 £nil) 1s recognised on the unremitted earmings of subsidiaries and associates, as ne dividends have
been accrued as recevable, and no binding agresment to distribute the past earnings N future has been entered into by
the subsiciarnes

Unrecogrused tax losses

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
aganst future taxable profits 1s probable Deferred tax assets that the Company has not recognised in the accounts amount to
£92m (2010 £4 7m), which anse where the Company does not expect to generate sufficient suitable future profits




13 Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows

2011 2010
m Matunty Effective interest rate £m Matunty Effectve interest rate

Curront
Bank overdraft 125.6 On demand LIBOR +1% 152 4 On Demand LIBOR +1%
Sterling bank lcans - - - 353 2014 LIBOR +1 45%
Bonds - accrued
interest 29.9 304
Total current 1555 2181
Non-cusrent
7 year Sterling Bond 351.6 January 2017 6.54% 3450 January 2017 6 54%
10 Year Sterling Bond 2318 June 2020 6.85% 2206 June 2020 6 85%
Bonds 583.4 5656
Total non-current 583.4 5656

Details of the Company's interest rate management strategy and interest rate swaps are included in note 30 and note 31 of the

consolidated accounts

14 Called-up share capital

2011 2010
fm £m
At 31 December
Authonsed
800,000,000 (2010 800,000,000) ordinary shares of 5p each 400 400
Issued called-up and fully paid
511,726,026 (2010 511,726,026) ordinary shares of 5p each 25.6 256

The total number of share opticns exercised in the year by employees of the Group was 1,175,455 (2010 1,301,553) of which
nil exercises were satisfied by newly 1ssued shares (2010 ruly and 1,175,455 {2010 1,301,553) exercises were satisfied by
transferrng shares from the National Express Employee Benefit Trust
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Notes to the Company Accounts
continued

15 Shareholders’ funds and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Capital
Share Share redemption Own Profit and
capital premium reserve shares loss account Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 256 532.7 0.2 {14 1) 914 6358
Shares purchased - - - 27 - (2.7)
Shares utiised - - - 28 {2.8) -
Share-based payments - - - - 29 29
Profit for the year - - - - 84.7 84.7
Dvdends - - - - {45.8) (45.8)
At 31 December 2011 256 532.7 0.2 (14 0) 130.4 674.9

Own shares compnse treasury shares and shares held in the Employee Benefit Trust

Treasury shares include 1,668,688 (2010 1,668,688) ordinary shares in the Company No additional shares have been added
as treasury shares within equity for future issue under the Group's share schemes or cancellation No shares were cancelled
during the year (2010 nif) The market value of these shares at 31 December 2011 was £3 7m (2010 £4 2m)

Own shares nclude 380,430 (2010 477,914) ordinary shares in the Company that have been purchased by the Trustees

of the National Express Employee Benefit Trust (the "Trust’) During the year, the Trust purchased 991,615 (2010 714,597}
shares and 1,175,455 (2010 1,301,553) shares were used to satisfy options granted under a number of the Company's share
schemes The market value of these shares at 31 December 2011 was £0 9m (2010 £1 2m} The dividends payable on these
shares were waived in 2011

Capttal

Share Share rademption Own Profit and

caprtal premium reserve shares loss accourt Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2010 256 5332 02 (14 6) 191 5635
Costs of Rights Issue - 0 5) - - - (0 5)
Shares purchased - - - 17 - {17)
Shares utiised - - - 22 22 -
Share-based payments - - - - 39 39
Prafit for the year - - - - 706 706
At 31 December 2010 256 5327 g2 (14 1) 914 6358

16 Retirement benefits

The Company participates in both the National Express Group Staff Pension Fund (a multi-employer funded defined benefit
scheme) and the WM Pension Scheme (a defined contribution scheme) The Company i1s unable to identify its share of the
underlying assets and liabilities of the multi-employer scheme on a conststent and reasonable basis, and therefore has
accounted for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme under the requirermnents of FRS 17, 'Retrement Benefits’
Contributions to this scheme are determined by independent professionally qualified actuanes The detalls of the latest actuanal
valuation are detalled in note 34 to the consclidated accounts

The total pension charge for the year, including contributions to the defined benefit scheme above the normal charge, amounted
to £5 9m (2010 £3 5m)




17 Share-based payment

Dunng the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company had the following share-based payment arrangements, which are

described in note 7(b) to the consolidated accounts

For the following disclosure, share options with a nil exercise price have been disclosed separately to avord distorting the
weighted average exercise prices The number of share options in existence during the year was as follows

2011 2010
Weighted Wexghted
Number average Nurmber average
of share exercise pnce ofshare  exercise pnce
ophions ) options )
Options without a nil exercise pnce
At 1 January 26,724 386 30,759 376
Forferted dunng the year (16,544) 339 {1,800) 479
Group transfers dunng the year 12,511 474 - -
Exercised dunng the year - - {2,435) 210
Expired during the ysar (7,656) 448 - -
Quistanding at 31 December! 15,035 479 26,724 386
Exercisable at 31 December - - 20,045 357
Options with a nil exercise prce
At 1 January 3,115,965 nil 1,897,258 nil
Granted dunng the year 2,103,653 nil 1,651,323 nil
Forferted dunng the year {595,456) nil (20,936) nil
Group transfers dunng the year 220,151 nil - Ol
Exercised dunng the year {597,633) nil (327,295) il
Exprred dunng the year (427,203) nil (84,385) il
Qutstanding at 31 December 3,819,477 nil 3,115,965 nil
Exercisable at 31 December 444,461 -
Total outstanding at 31 December 3,834,512 3,142,689
Total exercisable at 31 December 444,461 20,045

' Included within this balance are options over ni 2010 5,774} shares for which no expense has been recognised in accordance with the transitional
provisions of FRS 20, as the options were granted before 7 Novermber 2002 Although there has been subseguent modification to the options, no

FRS 20 charge has been recognised as the amounts are not matenal

There were no ophons outstanding at 31 December 2011 {options in 2010 had exercise prices that were between 207p and
568p) excluding options with a nil exercise price The range of exercise prices for options was as follows

Exercise pnce (p) 2011 2010
0-300 - 6,142
300-600 15,035 20,582

15,035 26,724

The options have a weighted average contractual life of one year (2010 one year) Options were exercised throughout the year
and the weighted average share price at exercise was 244p (2010 232p)
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Notes to the Company Accounts
continued

17 Share-based payment continued
The weighted average fair value of the remaining share options granted during the year was calculated using a stochastic model,
with the following assumptions and inputs

Share options with nil exercise price

2011 2010
Risk free interest rate 1.30%-1.44% 18%-3 0%
Expected volatiity 51.5%-51.6% 52 7%
Peer group volatility 55.1%-57.0% 49 6%-50 8%
Expected option Iife In years 3 years 3 years
Expected dividend yeld 3.47%-3.64% 0%
Waeaghted average share pnce at grant date 244p 229
Weghted average exercise price at grant date nil nil
Weighted average farr value of options at grant date 144p 202p

Experence to date has shown that approximately 24% (2010 15%) of options are exercised early, principally due to leavers
This has been incorporated into the calculation of the expected option life for the share options without nil exercise price

Expected volatiity in the table above was determined from histonc volatiity over the last nine years, adjusted for one-off
events that were not considered to be reflective of the volatility of the share prnice going forward The expected dvidend
yield represents the dividends declared in the 12 months preceding the date of the grant divided by the average share price
In the month preceding the date of the grant

For share options granted during the year under the LTIP, the TSR targets have been reflected in the calculation of the farr
value of the options above




18 Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease commitmentis
The Company has entered into operating leases on certain properties Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating

leases are as follows
Land and buldings

2011 2010
£m £m

Operating leases which expire
Within one year 01 C1
Within two to five years 03 03

Contingent habilities
(a) Guarantees
The Company has guaranteed credit faciities totaling £156m (2010 £129m) of certain subsidianes

(b) Bands and letters of credit

In the ordinary course of business, the Group 1s required to 1ssue counter-indemnities in support of its operations As at

31 December 2011, there were UK Rail perfarmance bonds of £25 8m (2010 £25 8m) and UK Rall season ticket bonds of

£92 3m (2010 £85 O0m) The Group has other performance bends which include the £9 Om (2010 £17 9m} performance bond
In respect of Inter-Capital and Regional Rail Limited, a performance bond with Birmingham City Counall relating to the bullding of
the new coach station of £0 2m (2010 £nil), performance bonds n respect of businesses in the US of £108 1m (2010 £100 2m)
and the rest of Europe of £23 3m (2010 £25 6m) Letters of credit have been 1ssued to support insurance retentions of £30 8m
(2010 £39 4m)

19 Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in paragraph 3¢ of FRS 8, ‘Related party disclosures’ from disclosing
transactions with wholly owned subsidianes

20 Post balance sheet events
There were no post balance sheet events
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Shareholder information

Shareholder electronic communications
By registering for electronic communications you ¢an help us to reduce print, paper and postage costs Log on to www shareview ¢o uk
if you would like to

* register your e-mail so that you are able to access future shareholder information, including the Annual Report and Accounts
glectrorucally

* check the balance of your shareholding

+ set up a dwvidend mandate cnline

* change your registered postal address or your dividend mandate details
* submit your vote onling prior to a general meeting

To sign up for the first time you should click on ‘Register” and follow the simple instructions ~ you will need your shareholder reference
number from your share certficate or dvidend voucher or any other correspondence sent to you by Equin Limited

Dividends paid direct to your bank account
Having dmdends paid direct to your bank account has the following advantages

» avolds the nsk of cheques being lost and incurring a replacement fee
* saves you time in presenting the cheque for payment
* the dividend 1s credited to your account on the payment date

The tax voucher 1s sent to your registered address at the same time as the dividend 15 credited to your account To set up a new dwvidend
mandate please log on to www shareview co uk or contact the Registrar, Equinil Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West
Sussex BNS9 6DA  Shareholder helpline number 0871 384 2152* or +44 121 415 7047 from overseas

* Calls to thus number cost Bp per minute from a BT landiine, other prowviders’ costs may vary Lines open 8 30am to 5 30pm, Menday to Fnday

Share dealing service

A telephone and internet share dealing service, which provides a smple way to buy and sell shares, 1s avallable through our
Registrar, Equinitt For further mformation log on to www shareview co uk/dealing or telephone 4845 603 7037~ or +44 121 415 7560
from overseas

* Calls to this number are charged by BT at the local rate

Company websrte

The Company website at www nationalexpressgroup com has information about the Group, including press releases, share price data
and copies of the half year results and annual report and accounts as well as corporate responsibility reporting The Company no longer
publishes the half year results in hard copy These will now only be avallable via the website

ShareGift

ShareGrft 1s an ndependent charity share donaticn scheme administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation (registered charity number
1052686) Those shareholders who hold only a small number of shares, the value of which makes it uneconamic to sell them, can
donate the shares to ShareGift who will sell them and donate the proceeds to a wide range of charties  Further information about
ShareGift can be obtained from s website at www sharegift org and a ShareGrft transfer form can be downloaded from www
natonalexpressgroup com

Unclaimed assets register

The Company participates in the Unclamed Assets Register (“UAR”) which provides a search facilty for shareholdings and
other financial assets that may have been forgotten For further information contact UAR, PO Box 9501, Nettingham NG80 1WD
Tel 0870 241 1713 or vist www uar co uk
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Final dwvdend ex dvdend date 25 Apnl 2012 '
Final dmdend record date 27 Apnl 2012 '
Annual General Meeting 10 May 2012
Final dmdend payment date 18 May 2012
Half year results announced 26 July 2012
Intenm dmdend ex dmvidend date 5 September 2012
Intenm dmdend record date 7 September 2012

Intenm dividend payment date 21 September 2012
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Corporate information

Secretary and registered office Pnncipal banker
Michael Hampson HSBC Bank plc
National Express Group PLC 8 Canada Square
Birmingham Coach Station London
Milt Lane E14 5HQ
Birmingham Corporate solicrtors
B5 60D Ashurst LLP
Tel +44 (08450 130130
Fax +44 (0)121 656 6498 Broadwalk House
5 Appold Street
www nationalexpressgroup com London
EC2A 2HA

Registered number

2590560 Financial advisors
" Memill Lynch Intemationat
Auditor 2 King Ecward Street
Deloitte LLP
Four Brndley Pl London
our Brindley Place ECIA THOQ
Birmingham
B1 2HZ Stockbrokers
Memil Lynch Intemationa)
Regrstrar 2 King Edward Street
Equinii Limrted Lond
Aspect House onaon
pe EC1A 1HQ
Spencer Road
Lancing Morgan Stanley
West Sussex 25 Cabot Square
BN99 8DA Canary Wharf
. London
Shareholder helpline 0871 384 2152 £14 40A

or +44 121 415 7047 from overseas

* Calls to thus number cost 8p per minute from a BT landline other telephone
providers' costs may vary Lines open 8 30am to 5 30pm, Monday to Frday




Glossary

BPS

BSOG

Code

CPI

CSOG

The Company
DIT

EBT

EBIT

EBITDA

EFQM
EPS

ETR
EV
EURIBOR

Geanng ratic

The Group
HMRC

1AS

IFRIC
IFRS

KPi

LCR
LIBOR
Lmpe

NAPF

Net caprtal expenditure

Basis ponts

Bus Service Operators Grant

The UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council in June 2010
Consumer Pnce Index

Coach Service Operators Grant

Natonal Express Group PLC

Department for Transport

Employee Benefit Trust

Eamings Before Interest and Tax

15 ‘Earmungs Before Interest and Tax plus Depreciation and Amortisation’ It 1s calculated by taking
normalised operating profit and adding depreciation, fixed asset grant amortisation, normalised profit
on disposal of non-current assets and share-based payments

European Foundation for Quality Management

Eamings Per Share — the profit for the year atinbutable to shareholders, divided by the weighted average
number of shares n issue, excluding those held by the Employee Benefit Trust and shares held in
treasury which are treated as cancelled

Effective tax rate
European Union
Euro Interbank Offered Rate

For debt financing purposes 15 calculated as net debt, adjusted to reflect any cash which 1s resincted
n use, dvided by EBITDA

The Cormpany and its subsidianes

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs

International Accounting Standards

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Commuttee
International Financial Reporting Standards

Key Performance Indicator

London and Continental Raiway Ltd

London Interbank Cffered Rate

Long Term Incentive Plan

National Association of Pension Funds

Is the Increase in net debt ansing on the purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
less proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment It excludes capital expenditure anising
from UK rail franchise entry and exits and discontinued operations, which are Included in these headings
Growth capital expenditure 1s calculated as investment in fleet for new contracts and concessions,

after deducting fleet released from contracts and concessions lost and fleet re-used in new contracts
and concessions

Kiessopn
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Glossary continued

Net debt

Net interest expense
NXEA

Normahsed diluted
earnings per share

Normalised operating
profit

Normalised profit margin

Normalised results

Operating cash flow

RCF

Retum on caprtal
employed (ROCE)

Return on equity

Return on tangible assets
RPS

RREV

SPAD

TiL

Underlying revenue

TOC
TSR

UK GAAP
ULSD

15 defined as cash and cash equivalents (cash overnight deposits, other short-term deposits), and other
debt recevables, offset by bomowings Joan notes, bank loans and finance lease obligations) and other
debt payable

1s finance costs less finance iIncome
National Express East Angla

Eamings per share, excluding the profit or loss on sale of businesses, exceptional profit or loss
on the disposal of non current assets, INtangible asset amortisation, exceptonal tems and tax
relief on qualfying exceptional tems

are the statutory results excluding profit or loss on the sale of businesses, exceptional profit or loss on
sale of non-current assets, intangible asset amortisation, exceptional items and tax relief thereon, for
continuing operations  The Beard believes that the normalised operating profit gives a better ndication
of the undertying performance of the Group

1s normalised profit dwided by revenue, expressed as a percentage

are defined as the statutory results before the following, as appropnate profit or loss on the sale
of businesses, exceptional profit or loss on the disposal of nen-current assets, intangible asset
amortisation, exceptional iterms and tax relief on quakfying exceptional tems

Is Intended to be the cash flow equivalent to normalised operating profit Operating cash flow 1s
normahsed operating profit plus depreciation, movements In working capital and proceeds from
disposals of property, plant and equipment, less finance lease additions, purchase of property, plant
and equipment and purchase of ntangble assets

Revotving Credit Facility
Is nomalised operating profit divided by the sum of net assets and net debt

1s normalised profit after tax less the post-tax amortsation of ntangible assets dwvided by
shareholders’ equity

1s nomalised operating profit dvidend by the sum of net assets (excluding Intangible assets) and net debt.
Ralway Pension Scheme

Research Recommendation and Electronic Vioting — a corporate governance advisory service

Signal Passed at Danger

Transport for London

compares the current year with the prior year on a consistent basis, after adjusting for the mpact
of currency, acquisiions, disposals and rail franchises no longer operated

Tran Cperating Company

Total Shareholder Retum — the growth in value of a shareholding over a specified pencd assuming
that dvidends are renvested to purchase addmional shares

UK Generally Accepted Accounting Pnnciples

tltra fow sufphur diesel
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Cautionary statement

This Business Review I1s intended to focus on matters which are
relevant to the interests of shareholders of the Company The
purpose of this review 15 to assist shareholders in assessing the
strategies adopted and performance delivered by the Company
and the potential for those strategies to succeed It should not
be relied on by any other party or for any other purpose

Forward looking statements are made in good faith, based

on a number of assumptions conceming future events and
nformation avalable to Directors at the tme of therr approval

of this report These forward looking statements should be treated
with caution due to the Inherent uncertanties undertying any
such forward looking information The user of these accounts
should not rely unduly on these forward looking statements,
which are not a guarantee of performance and which are subject
to a number of uncertanties and other facts, many of which are
cutside the Company's control and could cause actual events

to differ matenaly from those in these statements No guarantee
can be given of future results, levels of actvity, performance

or achievements

This Annual Report and Accounts 1s printed on Revive Pure White Silk and
Uncoated 100% recycled papers with FSC certification The composttion of the
paper 1s 85% de-inked post-consumer waste and 15% unprinted pre-consurmer
wasta All pulps used are Bemental Chiorine Free (ECF) and the manufactuning mil
18 accredired with the IS0 140071 standard for emvircnmental management I you
have finished reading this report and no longer wish to retain it, please pass it on
to other interested readers or dispose of i N your recycled paper waste

Thank you

Designed by luminous co uk
Photography by John Wildgoose
Print managed by Urban Life Support
Printed by Park Communications




Five year summary
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 ¢

Year ended 31 December £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 2,238.0 21259 2,711 1 2,767 0 26123

Narmalised* operating profit 225.2 204 2 1598 2539 2104

Group operating profit/{loss) 174.4 859 06 167 8 1617

Profit/(loss) before tax 1294 402 (83 5) 109 9 149 3

Statistics

Basic eamings/{loss) per share! 19.9p 12 0p (17 6p) 40 4p 35 9p

Normalised” diuted eamings per share' 26.9p 235p 30 4p 48 6p 43 6p

Dwidends per share - declared 9.50p 6 00p - 2272p 37 96p

Net (debt)/funds

Cash at bank and in hand 92.5 1288 1068 1059 157 2

Cther debt recevable 0.7 07 a8 09 -

Loan notes - - - 08 08

Bonds (583 4} (565 B) - - -

Bank and other loans {79 (39 8) (687 7) (1,150 8) (947 4)

Far value of bond hedging denvatives 16.4 (11) - - -

Finance lease obligations {151.3) (131 6) (75 B) (1339) (119 8)

Other debt payable {0.7) {18) (12} a1 -

Net debt (633.7) 6104) 657 9) (1,179 8) (910 8)

Net assets 965.4 939 8 8423 5854 4370

Capital employed 1,599.1 1,550 2 1,500 2 1,765 2 1,347 8

Retum on caprtal (pre-tax)™ 14.1% 13 2% 107% 14 4% 15 6%

Retum on equity

Nermalised* profit for the year 138.7 1213 832 1446 1289

Intangible amortisation (post tax) {36.1) {40 0) {40 6) (395 (22 1)

Post-tax retum (before exceptional tems and

discontinued operations) 102.6 813 52 6 1051 1068

Total equity 965 4 89398 842 3 5854 437 0

Return on equity (before exceptional tems and

discontnued operations, post-tax) 10.6% 87% 6 2% 18 0% 24 4%

*  Nomalised resufts are defined as the statutory results before the fllowing as appropnate profit or loss on sale of businesses, exceptional profit or
loss on sale of non-current assets, intangible amorbisation, property, plant and eguipment iImpairments, exceptional tems and tax refief on qualifying

exceptional tems
*  Nommailised operating profitcapial employed

' Pror year earnings per share figures have been restated for the effect of the 2009 Rights Issue




National Express Group PLC
National Express House

Mill Lane

Digbeth

Birmingham BS 6DD

Tel +44 (0) 8450 130130
www.nationalexpressgroup.com
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